Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses

Graduate School

2000

Removal of Manganese in Reservoir Tailwaters as a Function of Reservoir Operations and River Substrate.

Steven Lane Ashby Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_disstheses

Recommended Citation

Ashby, Steven Lane, "Removal of Manganese in Reservoir Tailwaters as a Function of Reservoir Operations and River Substrate." (2000). *LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses*. 7335. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_disstheses/7335

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

REMOVAL OF MANGANESE IN RESERVOIR TAILWATERS AS A FUNCTION OF RESERVOIR OPERATIONS AND RIVER SUBSTRATE

.

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Oceanography and Coastal Sciences

by Steven Ashby B.S., University of Southern Mississippi, 1979 M.S., Clemson University, 1987, December 2000

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

UMI Number: 9998654



UMI Microform 9998654

Copyright 2001 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

"There is something fascinating about science. One gets such wholesome returns of conjecture out of such a trifling investment of fact." Mark Twain (1896).

I would like to thank Dr. Robert Gambrell for serving as my major professor for this research but more importantly for his guidance, support, and friendship. His willingness to work within the constraints of my schedule and his patience as I spent time with my family and at work instead of writing this dissertation are very much appreciated. He also provided me with a technical and logic soundboard that greatly assisted in the conduct of this research. I would also like thank the other members of my committee for their contributions. Dr. Stephen Faulkner helped me from the beginning to focus on relevant issues that I could address and provided many discussions which helped me address some of the technical aspects of the research. Dr. Gene Turner provided much needed insights into interpretation and application of study results and was readily willing to give me time during my impromptu visits. Dr. James Geaghan also provided much needed guidance in the statistical evaluation of the data for the various studies and was also willing to give me time on short notice. His discussion of regression techniques and exponential decay functions greatly helped me in data interpretation and application of results for describing observations in relation to processes. Dr. James Brannon of the Environmental Laboratory of the Engineer Research and Development Center (ERDC)

ü

provided guidance and support that helped me focus on completing this effort. I would also like to thank Dr. Dubravko Justic for his support, encouragement, enthusiasm, and assistance in some of the nonlinear regressions evaluated in this study. He also provided useful insights and guidance as I considered study results. Dick Kasul (ERDC) also provided guidance in the statistical evaluation of the data and spent time explaining various approaches to me. I would also like to thank Dr. Jim Schindler of Clemson University for the support and encouragement he provided as my major professor for my master of science degree and the confidence to pursue a doctorate.

Several individuals helped with field and laboratory work and I would like to thank them for their support. Support from personnel at ERDC was provided by Sue Fox who conducted the chemical analysis of the tailwater substrate, Sam Wong and Chuck Weiss who conducted the SEM analysis of the cobble surfaces, and Dave Ringelberg and Margaret Richmond who conducted the lipid analysis on the microbial communities in the microcosms and raceway studies and Dave Ringelberg provided data interpretation and selected graphics.

Dr. Robert Gambrell, Dr. Stephen Faulkner, Brenda Smith, and Paul Hintze conducted sampling and chemical analysis in the 1995 tailwater study at Nimrod Lake and Dr. Gambrell and Brenda Smith assisted with the raceway studies by providing routine maintenance on the raceways. Brenda Smith conducted routine monitoring of water quality in the raceways and conducted chemical analysis on samples collected from the raceway and microcosm studies. Her help and friendship during this research is very much appreciated. Pam Bloom and Jeanne Johnson in the DOCS office were most helpful, especially with my long distance participation and I appreciate their help very much. I also want to acknowledge the fine faculty I encountered during my course work at LSU. I greatly benefitted from the Coastal Ecology class taught by Dr. John Day and Dr. Chuck Wilson, the Ecosystem Modeling Course taught by Dr. Dubravko Justic, Dr. Harry Roberts' Deltaic Geology, and the statistic courses taught by Dr. James Geaghan and Dr. Brian Marks.

This research would not have been possible without the support of Mr. Don Robey (retired), Dr. Richard Price, Dr. John Keeley, and Dr. Robert Kennedy of the ERDC. The US Army Corps of Engineers Long Term Training Program provided support for classes and attendance at Louisiana State University and the Water Quality Research Program provided financial support for the research conducted.

I would like to thank my wife Cheryl, and my daughters Amy and Beth for their support, patience, and encouragement. I cannot replace the time spent away but you share a part in this effort. Thank you.

This dissertation is dedicated to my father, Virgil Ashby, and my mother, Marilyn Ashby, who are no longer with us but I am confident are aware of the outcome of what they supported when I started this adventure.

iv

Acknowledgments	ü
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
Abstract	xii
Chapter 1. Introduction and Problem Statement	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Problem Statement	6
1.3 Research Objectives	6
1.4 Working Hypotheses	8
1.5 Research Approach	8
Chapter 2. Literature Review	10
2.1 Introduction	10
2.2 Overview of Manganese Chemistry	10
2.3 Overview of Biological Effects on Manganese Cycling	20
2.4 Biological Oxidation Rates	32
2.5 Biological Interactions with Substrates	37
2.6 Modeling Studies of Manganese Oxidation	43
2.7 Summary	44
Chapter 3. Manganese Removal in the Tailwater	46
3.1 Introduction	46
3.2 Field Site Description	47
3.3 Methods	53
3 3 1 Substrate Analyses	53
3.3.2 Reservoir Release Water Ouality Studies	55
3 3 3 Raceway Studies	60
3 4 Results and Discussion	66
3 4 1 Substrate Analyses	66
3 4 2 Release Studies at the Nimrod Lake Tailwater	76
3 4 3 Raceway Studies of Manganese Removal	91
3.5 Summary and Conclusions	103
Chapter 4. Effects of Substrate Size and Microbial Processes on Manganese Removal.	109
4 1 Introduction	109
4 2 Methods	110
4.2.1 Microcosm Studies	110

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4.2.2 Analysis of Microbial Community Structure	111
4.2.3 Data Analysis	
4.3 Results and Discussion	
4.3.1 Microcosm Studies	
4.3.2 Microbial Community Analysis	
4.4 Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 5. Summary and Conclusions	142
References	
Appendix A: Concentrations of Manganese on Substrates in the Tailwater of Nimrod Lake.	171
Appendix B: Total and Dissolved Manganese Concentrations from the Raceways Studies	173
Appendix C: Data for the Microcosm Study	176
Vita	

-

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Partial list of Fe- and Mn-depositing organisms	21
Table 3.1. Estimated travel times at various discharges in the tailwater of Nimrod Dam	57
Table 3.2. Mean values, standard deviations, and normality values from cobble scrapings for lateral sites	68
Table 3.3. GLM test results for lateral variability on cobble scrapings from Station A	69
Table 3.4. Tukey pairwise comparison test results for cobble scrapings from Station A	69
Table 3.5. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on cobble scrapings from stations A, B1, and B3	7 1
Table 3.6. Mean values, standard deviations, and normality values at each station for each size fraction	72
Table 3.7. GLM results for longitudinal variability on the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fractions	73
Table 3.8. Tukey pairwise comparison test results for the 2.00 to 0.50 mmsize fractions from stations B1, B3, C, and E	74
Table 3.9. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on the 0.50 to0.063 mm size fractions from stations B1, B3, C, and E	75
Table 3.10. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on the less than0.063 mm size fractions from stations B1 and B3	75
Table 3.11. General water quality concentrations in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake, AR during the release studies in August of 1995	83
Table 3.12. Summary of selected water quality constituents in the raceways during the acclimation period	.92
Table 3.13. Concentrations in blanks and standards for raceway studies	94
Table 3.14. Concentration ranges for selected water quality constituents during each raceway study	100
Table 3.15. Results of the PLFA analysis conducted on substrate from the raceway	102

Table 4.1. Summary of univariate and regression analyses of manganese removal in unpoisoned and poisoned microcosms	116
Table 4.2. Summary of linear contrasts for within treatment regressions for each substrate size	117
Table 4.3. Summary of linear contrasts between treatments for each size fraction	118
Table 4.4. Summary of mixed regression analysis between treatments for each size fraction.	118
Table 4.5. Summary of linear contrasts between size fractions for poisoned microcosms	119
Table 4.6. Summary of mixed model comparisons between size fractions for poisoned microcosms	120
Table 4.7. Summary of linear contrasts between size fractions for unpoisoned microcosms	120
Table 4.8. Summary of mixed model comparisons between size fractions for unpoisoned microcosms	121
Table 4.9. Removal rates of manganese for microcosms	131
Table 4.10. Comparison of exponential decay model and hyperbolic decay model for each microcosm	134

•

•

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Eh-pH diagram showing stability relations among some manganese oxides at 25°C (after Bricker 1965)	12
Figure 3.1. Vicinity map of Nimrod Dam and Lake and station locations in the tailwater	48
Figure 3.2. Discharge from the Howell-Bunger valves	49
Figure 3.3. Aerial view of the release from Nimrod Dam and Lake depicting the mechanism of aeration	50
Figure 3.4. Cross sections at major stations in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake	52
Figure 3.5. Schematic of the raceways	61
Figure 3.6. Longitudinal and lateral distribution of manganese concentrations on cobble scrapings	67
Figure 3.7. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations on cobble scrapings	70
Figure 3.8. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the 2.0 to 0.50 mm size fractions	73
Figure 3.9. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions	74
Figure 3.10. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the less than 0.063 mm size fractions	75
Figure 3.11. Relative elemental composition of cobble surfaces from Station A (A), Station E (B), and the subsurface of the cobble from Station A (C)	77
Figure 3.12. Relative percent composition of manganese on cobble surfaces as indicated by SEM analysis	78
Figure 3.13. Scanning electron micrographs of various substrate surfaces from stations in the tailwater of Nimrod Dam	79
Figure 3.14. Water quality in the forebay of Nimrod Lake during the 1995 field study	80

Figure 3.15. Release hydrograph for 1995 at Nimrod Dam	82
Figure 3.16. Temperature, pH, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen during the release studies	85
Figure 3.17. Total and dissolved iron concentrations in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B) 1995	86
Figure 3.18. Concentrations of ferrous iron in the tailwater during the high flow release	87
Figure 3.19. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B) 1995 study	88
Figure 3.20. Dissolved manganese concentrations in the tailwater of Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B) 1995 study	89
Figure 3.21. Removal rates of dissolved manganese in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B) 1995 study	90
Figure 3.22. Absorbance during the dye study in the raceways	91
Figure 3.23. Concentrations of phosphorus, iron, and manganese in the raceways during the acclimation period	93
Figure 3.24. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the April raceway study	95
Figure 3.25. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the early (A) and late (B) July raceway studies	97
Figure 3.26. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the August raceway study	98
Figure 3.27. Removal rates of total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the April (A) and August (B) raceway studies	99
Figure 3.28. Hierarchical cluster analyses of PLFA profiles from the raceway samples	.102
Figure 4.1. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with cobble substrate	.122
Figure 4.2. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) cobble subtrates	.122

Figure 4.3. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with the 2.00 - 0.50 mm size fraction substrate	124
Figure 4.4. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) 2.00 - 0.50 mm size fraction substrate	124
Figure 4.5. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with the 0.50 - 0.063 mm size fraction substrate	126
Figure 4.6. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) 0.50 - 0.063 mm size fraction substrate	126
Figure 4.7. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with the < 0.063 mm size fraction substrate	128
Figure 4.8. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) < 0.063 mm size fraction substrate	128
Figure 4.9. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with only amended water from the Nimrod Lake tailwater	130
Figure 4.10. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and uppoisoned (solid line) amended water from the Nimrod I are tailwater	130
Figure 4.11. Examples of hyperbolic decay model (Equation 4.1) fit to data	130
Figure 4.12. Hierarchical cluster analyses for the different size fractions used	
Figure 4.13. Microbial community composition associated with selected	135
size fractions in the microcosm study Figure 4.14. Viable biomass estimates after completion of the microcosm study	136
Figure 5.1. Hyperbolic decay model fit of manganese removal to the 1995 tailwater study at Nimrod Lake	148
Figure 5.2. Observed manganese concentrations and predicted values using the hyperbolic decay model and coefficients derived from the raceway studies	149

ABSTRACT

Removal of reduced manganese in aqueous systems has been described as a twostep process that incorporates a chemical or abiotic step followed by or continued with microbially mediated processes. Field and laboratory studies were conducted to describe the removal of manganese from reservoir tailwaters and partition the abiotic and microbial removal processes. Manganese removal was measured in controlled raceways and in microcosms with four sizes of substrate (cobble, 2.00 to 0.50 mm, 0.50 mm to 0.063 mm, and less than 0.063 mm). Sodium azide was used to inhibit biological uptake. An exponential decay model and a hyperbolic decay model were used to describe removal rates.

Field studies verified spatial variability in manganese adsorption to substrate exists downstream from reservoirs and adsorption occurs on a wide range of substrate sizes. Removal rates varied with discharge with a rate near 1 day⁻¹ observed for low flow conditions (0.5 m³ sec⁻¹), while the removal rate at a higher discharge (1.7 m³ sec⁻¹) was considerably lower (0.2 day⁻¹). Higher removal rates were obtained in the raceway experiments (1.4 and 1.7 day⁻¹).

Removal rates were comparable for cobble and larger size fractions (1.9 to 0.8 day⁻¹) and were similar to raceway rates. Smaller substrate sizes displayed significantly lower removal rates (near 0.3 day⁻¹). Abiotic removal rates (sodium azide inhibition) were significantly lower than rates for uninhibited microcosms.

An exponential decay model accounted for more than 90% of the variability for most of the studies (uninhibited) but did not model abiotic alone removal very well (r² between 0.5 and 0.7). A hyperbolic decay model was fit to the data and resulted in an r^2 from the nonlinear regression greater than 0.95 for nearly all of the microcosms and the field data as well. Initial concentrations and removal rates developed from field and laboratory studies were used as inputs to develop a predictive model that incorporates biological processes which impact manganese removal. This model can be used as a Michaelis-Menton equation which may be more appropriate in describing the two-step manganese removal process than the exponential decay model.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND PROBLEM STATEMENT

1.1 Introduction

Manganese is widespread as a constituent of more than 100 minerals, occurring in oxidation states ranging from -3 to +7, and is readily cycled in aquatic systems as a function of pH, oxidation-reduction potential, and biological (microbial) processes. Understanding oxidation and reduction (redox) of manganese, thermodynamics and kinetics of redox reactions, interactions with other elements, and relationships to biological processes is necessary for describing dynamics in aquatic systems. The Mn⁺² state is considered to be the reduced form of the oxidized, Mn⁺⁴ state and these two forms are generally considered to be the most important in natural waters. Manganese is introduced to the sea primarily by runoff from continents and islands in the form of dissolved, i.e., reduced Mn⁺², and suspended forms of oxidized manganese such as oxides and complex mineral particles (Goldberg and Arrhenius 1958; Morgenstein and Felsher 1971). Freshwater systems such as lakes and reservoirs also receive manganese in these forms from mineral weathering and runoff.

Manganese contributes to taste and odor problems in potable water supplies, staining of household plumbing fixtures, can be toxic to aquatic life in the reduced form, and its oxide forms act as a catalyst in the removal of certain heavy metals such as copper, zinc, and lead in aqueous systems. A concentration of 0.05 mg L⁻¹ has been established as a secondary standard for manganese in drinking water, and Stiles (1979) estimated that approximately 40% of the utilities in the United States have difficulty in achieving this

value. Toxicity to aquatic life can occur with concentrations of reduced manganese as low as 0.3 mg L^{-1} .

Removal of manganese is a routine procedure in the water treatment industry using adsorption processes, autocatalytic reactions, and biological processes. Techniques such as adsorption to oxide coatings (Knocke et al. 1988 and 1991) and oxidation for precipitation with oxidants such as free chlorine (Knocke et al. 1988; Coffey et al. 1993) and potassium permanganate (after ozonation) (Wilczak et al. 1993) are used extensively. The presence of dissolved organic matter can interfere with oxidation processes, however, acceptable rates of Mn⁺² oxidation can be obtained provided oxidant dosages are selected appropriately to satisfy the oxidant demand of water. "Seasoning" or "aging", which is actually the establishment of oxide coatings and bacterial populations, of filter media for Mn²⁺ removal (Griffin 1960; Weng et al. 1986) is also necessary for efficient removal. Weng et al. (1986) observed that dual-media and sand filters used for manganese removal are not always capable of reducing the concentrations below 0.05 mg L⁻¹. Removal was improved with "aged" media coated with manganese oxide and concentrations were reduced to 0.05 mg L⁻¹ or less with dual-media, all sand, and activated carbon filters and to 0.08 mg L⁻¹ or less for all anthracite filters. Mouchet (1992) reported that substantial improvement in iron and manganese removal was obtained with incorporation of biological processes. In addition to substrate types and extent of seasoning, surface MnO₂(s) concentration, oxidation state, and pH also affect removal efficiency. Removal of zinc and manganese from mine drainages with cyanobacteria mats, (Bender et al. 1994), suggests removal mechanisms may be applicable to other manganese related problems.

The role of trace metal sequestering during manganese oxidation is also an important process that is receiving renewed attention for applications such as remediation of acid mine drainage (Harvey and Fuller 1998; Robbins 1998) and removal of lead in aquatic systems (Nelson et al. 1999). Early research followed an electrochemical theory for the formation of manganese nodules (Goldberg 1954), which suggested that the concentration of minor elements incorporated by marine biota is explained either by the direct uptake of the element or by the uptake of iron and manganese oxides with the accompanying scavenged element. Goldberg (1954) proposed as a general rule, that the longer the solid phase is in contact with the solution containing the ions to be adsorbed, the more efficient is the uptake, presuming no re-formation of the precipitate occurs. Since the hydrated oxides of manganese are negative sols (Rankama and Sahama 1950), deposits in marine waters would be expected to collect positively charged ions. Krauskopf (1956) suggested that manganese dioxide is one of the most important solid phases controlling certain trace metal concentrations in natural water environments. In

fact, the oxides of Mn^{4+} have a strong adsorption or ion exchange capacity and exhibit a high affinity for cations, especially for the transition metals (Crerar and Barnes 1974; Ehrlich et al. 1973; Loganathan and Burau 1973; Varentsov and Pronina 1973). The surface chemistry of δMnO_2 in seawater, as described by Balistrieri and Murray (1982), indicates that Na, K, Mg, Ca, but not chloride and sulphate, are readily adsorbed on δMnO_2 in the pH range of natural waters. Amorphous manganese oxides and hydroxides would be effective sites for adsorption or scavenging of elements due to their large surface areas (Vuceta and Morgan 1978; Balistrieri and Murray 1982). Lion et al. (1982) found

that cadmium and lead adsorption behavior in San Francisco Bay reflected control by iron and manganese hydroxides and organic coatings on particulate matter. A general reaction describing the process was provided by Ehrlich (1975):

(1.1)
$$H_2MnO_3 + X^{2+} \rightarrow XMnO_3 + 2H^+$$

where X represents the trace metal.

Manganese dynamics have been described for a variety of aquatic systems such as lakes (Mortimer 1941 and 1942; Morgan 1992; Delfino and Lee 1968 and 1971; Stauffer 1986; among others), estuaries (Graham et al. 1976; Wollast et al. 1979; Duinker et al. 1979), and fjords (Tebo and Emerson 1985). Manganese dynamics have also been described with numerous laboratory studies and have been summarized in detail in water chemistry textbooks (Stumm and Morgan 1981; among others). The fate of manganese, mobilized during depletion of dissolved oxygen in a reservoir hypolimnion has been evaluated for conceptual model construction (Gunnison and Brannon 1981; Chen et al. 1983) and described for several reservoirs (e.g., Ashby et al. 1994; Johnson et al. 1995; Herschel and Clasen 1998; and Zaw and Chiswell 1999). Information describing the fate of manganese in the release and tailwater of reservoirs is limited to a few studies (Gordon et al. 1984; Gordon 1989; Nix et al. 1991; and Dortch et al. 1992) which do not address biological processes as removal mechanisms. Development and application of one-dimensional, steady-state models to predict manganese removal in reservoir tailwaters has also been limited to a few studies (Hess et al. 1989; Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995).

Manganese oxidation is both a chemical process and a microbially mediated process. Chemical oxidation in laboratory studies at pH values greater than 9.0 is well documented (Stumm and Morgan 1981; Wilson 1980). Oxidation studies at pH values more common in surface waters (7 to 9 standard units) have also been conducted (Hem 1981). Considerably faster "oxidation" rates (e.g., hours) observed at near-neutral pH values (Hem 1981; Hess et al. 1989; and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995; and others) than autocatalytic kinetics (Stumm and Morgan 1981) or chemical equilibrium (Diem and Stumm 1984) would predict (e.g. years) imply other mechanisms such as biological processes are involved. Temperature dependence for oxidation rates in lakes (Tipping 1984) also suggested biological processes contribute to oxidation. Biologically mediated manganese oxidation and reduction has been well studied for marine (Ehrlich 1975), estuarine/fjord (Emerson et al. 1982; Rosson et al. 1984; Tebo et al. 1984; Tebo and Emerson 1985), lacustrine (LaRock 1969; Chapnick et al. 1982; Dean and Ghosh 1978; Richardson et al. 1988; Gregory and Staley 1982) and wetland environments (Ghiorse 1984a). These processes have been summarized in Ehrlich 1981; Ghiorse 1984b; Nealson et al. 1989; and Tebo et al. 1997.

Several techniques to differentiate between biotic and abiotic mechanisms of manganese removal are available. For example, manganese oxidation attributed to microbial processes is measurable using poisoned and non-poisoned experimental units (Rosson et al. 1984; Emerson et al. 1982) or with the use of radioisotopes and acidification (LaRock 1969). Oxides of manganese formed abiotically can also be determined using CuCl₂, (Chapnick et al. 1982). Methods for determining manganese in soils (Gambrell 1996) may also be applicable to aquatic systems, particularly streambed substrates. Determination of oxidation rates (Duinker et al. 1979; Emerson et al. 1979)

and distinguishing microbial from chemical oxidation (Wollast et al. 1979; Emerson et al. 1982; Rosson et al. 1984) may be useful in partitioning chemical and biological oxidation.

1.2 Problem Statement

Although a wealth of information exists describing chemical and biological oxidation mechanisms, techniques for differentiating these mechanisms and, processes in a variety of aquatic systems, only a limited number of studies have been conducted in reservoir tailwaters. These studies, while providing useful information, have been mostly limited to a single approach to describe manganese dynamics. Studies conducted in the tailwater region of several reservoirs have indicated that manganese removal is a first order process but removal rates vary between sites (Gordon et al. 1984; Nix et al. 1991; Gordon 1989; Hess et al. 1989; and Dortch et al. 1992). The fate of manganese (oxidation of reduced manganese and removal from the water column) in reservoir tailwaters is currently modeled with oxidation kinetics from the literature, rate constants derived from field studies, and computation of a removal rate coefficient based on transfer efficiency to the streambed and one of two substrate types (cobble or fine-grained sediment, Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). Biological processes and effects of substrate size classes from cobbles to smaller sizes on the removal of manganese are currently not addressed by the model, but are likely important mechanisms in the process.

1.3 Research Objectives

The objectives of this research were to address the basic question: What is the fate of dissolved (i.e. reduced) manganese in reservoir releases? Potential factors that can impact manganese removal in reservoir releases include discharge concentrations of

manganese, flows or velocities (i.e., exposure time), concentrations of other water quality constituents, substrate availability, chemical removal processes, and biological removal processes. Effects of substrate size and biological processes on manganese removal were emphasized in this research. The tailwater region of Nimrod Lake in central Arkansas was selected as the study location since site information and observations of manganese removal at various discharges (Nix et al. 1991) provide a background for further studies. Initial studies were conducted to characterize substrate in the tailwater region and evaluate manganese removal as a function of reservoir discharge. Additional studies then focused on chemical and microbial processes of manganese removal associated with substrate from the tailwater. Laboratory studies were conducted using substrate from a site in the reservoir tailwater that is a pool downstream from the dam and stilling basin (an area of energy dissipation and aeration via the outlet works).

Major objectives were to: 1) describe patterns in substrate characteristics and manganese removal in the tailwater (presented in Chapter 3), 2) assess the relative contribution of tailwater media (e.g., water, suspended materiial, substrate size fractions) on manganese removal rates (presented in Chapter 4), and 3) evaluate chemical versus microbial effects on manganese removal with assessment of the microbial community structure and determination of the contribution of microbial processes on manganese removal (presented in Chapter 4). Study results will increase the understanding of manganese removal in a flowing, freshwater system and provide a more complete description of processes that may be incorporated into predictive models such as those developed by Hess et al. 1989 and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillmam 1995.

1.4 Working Hypotheses

Model development to predict manganese removal (Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995) included a dependence of removal rates on substrate type or size (i.e. cobble or fine-grain sediments). However, observations of manganese concentrations that were decreasing with distance at much greater rates than kinetics would predict suggested that a different or additional mechanism (probably biological) was contributing to manganese removal. Greater changes in manganese concentrations with distance during low flow discharges than during a higher flow discharge at the same field site (Nix et al. 1991) suggested that manganese removal varied with flow or residence time (i.e., contact or exposure time with the substrate and associated biological community). Additionally, observations of oxide coatings on various sediment size fractions in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake suggested adsorption mechanisms were not limited by substrate size. These observations led to the development of two working hypotheses:

Ho1: Manganese removal rates do not vary with substrate size, and,

Ho2: Microbial processes are not a major mechanism of manganese removal.

1.5 Research Approach

Characterization of the site and manganese removal processes (Objective 1) was conducted with field and laboratory studies. Results from previously conducted field studies (Nix et al. 1991) were used to characterize hydrologic, morphometric, and physicochemical characteristics of the tailwater region of Nimrod Lake. An additional field study to measure concentration changes with time for different discharges was

conducted for comparison to earlier studies. A detailed field study was also conducted to assess the spatial distribution of manganese on selected substrates (cobble and sediment fractions). Substrate collected from the tailwater region was used in laboratory studies employing recirculating flumes, or raceways, to evaluate manganese removal.

Manganese removal associated with substrate size fractions was described using microcosms with substrate from the tailwater of Nimrod Lake (Objective 2). Removal rates were developed from the microcosm studies and regression analysis was used to compare removal rates by size fraction. The microcosms were also used to evaluate the effects of microbial versus chemical processes on manganese removal (Objective 3) by utilizing a poison that inhibits the biological oxidation of manganese. Microbial community structure associated with selected substrate size fractions was described using a lipid analysis technique developed by Vestal and White (1989). This technique allows for determination of the total phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) composition which can provide an estimate of microbial community biomass, and, with analysis of patterns of PLFA content, provide a measure of microbial community structure.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Much of the dynamics of manganese oxidation can be described with a review of manganese chemistry and the effects of biological processes on manganese cycling. Specific results from laboratory studies and studies in selected aquatic systems are presented to support concepts used in the development of working hypotheses of this research. A review of various modeling studies is also provided to facilitate discussions of potential application of the study results. Finally, relevance to manganese dynamics in reservoir releases during summer stratification is summarized to provide an increased understanding of manganese dynamics in an aquatic system that has been previously studied in detail by only a limited number of investigators, i.e. the tailwaters of reservoirs. The overall objective of the research is to provide new and unique information that can be applied for the improvement of descriptions and predictions of manganese dynamics in reservoir tailwaters.

2.2 Overview of Manganese Chemistry

Manganese occurs in oxidation states ranging from -3 to +7 with the +2 and +4 states generally considered to be the most important in natural waters. The +2 state is considered to be the reduced form of the oxidized, +4 state. Generally, the reduced +2 form is soluble and the oxidized +4 form is associated with insoluble compounds. Major mineral forms include manganese oxides (Mn_xO_x), manganese hydroxides ($Mn(OH)_2$), and, particularly in marine and hardwater environments, manganese carbonates ($MnCO_3$).

Manganese oxidation states fluctuate as a function of Eh, pH, dissolved oxygen concentrations, manganese concentrations, and concentrations of other anions and cations.

Effects of the oxidation/reduction (redox) potential and pH on manganese transformations have been described for waterlogged soils (Gotoh and Patrick 1972) and observations provide a general paradigm for manganese behavior that may be applicable in other systems such as anoxic zones of aquatic systems where Mn²⁺ is favored thermodynamically. The potential at which manganese oxide reduction occurs is roughly the same as that of nitrate reduction, so soluble Mn²⁺ appears in sediment and water column profiles soon after depletion of nitrate. Mn^{2+} then diffuses into the oxic zone (sediment or water depending on dissolved oxygen concentration in the water overlying the sediment) where oxidation can occur. This oxidation is accompanied by a reduction in pH and dissolved oxygen and, at sufficiently high total manganese levels, the formation of a precipitate (Pankow and Morgan 1981a). In freshwater systems, some form of oxidized manganese will be in equilibrium with Mn^{2+} at high Eh and pH values (oxidizing conditions) and some form may be in equilibrium with MnCO₃ at low Eh and pH (reducing conditions) Delfino and Lee (1968). Approximately ¹/₂ moles of O₂ are required in the oxidation of MnCO₃ based on the following equations by Bricker (1965):

Reaction	Oxygen Required (/mole MnCO ₃)
(2.1) $MnCO_3 + \frac{1}{2}O_2 = MnO_2 + CO_2$	¹ / ₂ mole O ₂
(2.2) 8 MnCO ₃ + $\frac{1}{2}$ K ₂ CO ₃ +15/4O ₂ = KMn ₈ O ₁₆	$_{1} + 17/2 \text{ CO}_{2}$ 15/32 mole O ₂
(2.3) $MnCO_3 + \frac{1}{2}(1-x)O_2 + H_2O$	$\frac{1}{2}(1-x)$ mole O ₂
$= Mn_{1,2}Mn_{2,2}(OH)_{2,2}+CO_{2}+xH_{2}$	

Utilizing the application of x-ray diffraction techniques for the identification of selected manganese minerals Bricker, (1965) was able to develop Eh-pH diagrams that provide a general relationship for oxidized and reduced forms of manganese (e.g., Figure 2.1). It is apparent that Mn_{xq}^{2+} is the predominant form of manganese for most of the Eh-pH conditions observed in surface waters. These relationships and thermodynamic calculations by Hem (1963) also indicate that above Eh + 400 mV or 0.4 V and at pH 7.8, the stability field favors insoluble manganese oxides and the concentration of Mn^{2+} should be low.



Figure 2.1. Eh-pH diagram showing stability relations among some manganese oxides at 25° C (after Bricker 1965).

The oxidation of Mn^{2+} can be considered as a two-step process as described by Morgan (1964) where first step is the sorption of soluble manganese directly onto $MnO_2(s)$ followed by a second step of slow oxidation of the sorbed Mn^{2+} . The Mn^{2+} removal rate increases with the formation of $MnO_2(s)$ and the reaction was termed autocatalytic. Specifically, once oxidation begins, the freshly formed MnO_x (x = 1.4-1.6) adsorbs Mn^{2+} and greatly increases the rate of the reaction (Morgan 1964). Anything that leads to changes in Eh, pH, or binding of Mn^{2+} could affect the rate of oxidation. Consequently, to predict rates of oxidation, pH, Eh, counterions, and manganese oxides present must be known. This oxidation is usually slow (not measurable on a time scale of several days below pH 8.5, Stumm and Morgan 1981) because of the high activation energy. Complexation by organic chelators, such as amino acids (Graham 1959) and anions, particularly in seawater, e.g., Cl⁻ (Goldberg and Arrhenius 1958) and HCO₃⁻ and SO₄²⁻ (Hem 1963) may contribute to the slow oxidation rate often observed.

Crerar and Barnes (1974) described the formation of deep-sea nodules as a function of pH and Eh and suggested that the solubility of Mn²⁺ decreases exponentially with increasing pH or Eh and the solubility of any manganese oxide increases exponentially with decreasing Eh and pH. Manganese precipitation occurs on the surfaces of the nodules by catalysis and also by adsorption of ionic manganese species.

Using alkalimetrtic titration curves of hydrous manganese dioxide suspensions, Morgan and Stumm (1964) and Stumm et al. (1970) were able to describe the mechanism for the drop in pH. The proposed mechanism involves the interaction of Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} with the hydrous manganese dioxide surface and includes the separation of a proton from

the covalent bond at the surface and the association of a solute cation with this site. The resultant reaction is:

(2.4)
$$Mn-OH^0 + Ca^{2+} = MnO-Ca^+ + H^4$$

and the increase in H^+ lowers the pH.

Crerar and Barnes (1974) estimated the oxidation rate of manganese increases about 10^8 times and the activation energies for manganese oxidation decrease by approximately 11.5 kcal mole⁻¹. Crerar and Barnes (1974) concluded that catalyzing surfaces dramatically lower the activation energy (E_{sct}) of the oxidation reactions by providing favorable adsorption and reaction sites, and the lowering of E_{sct} enormously accelerates the rate of manganese oxidation. Crerar and Barnes (1974) describe the "growth" process for nodules with the following reactions.

(2.5)
$$e^{-} + H^{+} + MnO_2(c) = MnOOH(c)$$

Which provides a mechanism for the high Eh within a manganese oxide deposit, and

(2.6)
$$2Mn^{2+} + O_2 + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2MnO_2 + 4H^+$$

which indicates that the net precipitation reaction is favored by both locally oxidizing Eh and catalytic adsorption of manganese (Crerar and Barnes 1974). Deposition would continue if there is a sufficient supply of O_2 , H_2O , and Mn^{2+} flow toward the deposit, and H^+ flows away from it.

While Crerar and Barnes (1974) attributed accretion to autooxidation, they also acknowledged that Mn-fixing bacteria may also significantly accelerate accretion rates on these surfaces. Rate constants for oxidation reactions involving calcite $(1.5 \times 10^{-7} \text{ sec}^{-1} \text{ g}^{-1})$, Fe(OH)₃ (7.5 x 10⁻⁷ sec⁻¹ g⁻¹), and MnO₂ (2.0 x 10⁻⁶ sec⁻¹ g⁻¹) are consistent with nodule accretion rates of 10 mm per 10^6 yr (Michard 1969). Factors that contribute to oxidation rates that are faster than expected for thermodynamic reactions are discussed in detail in this chapter.

Although Mn²⁺ complexes are rare, Mn²⁺ does form a few weak complexes, however, Mn²⁺ is not significantly complexed by either humic or fulvic acids (Stiles 1979). Pankow and Morgan (1981a) observed autocatalytic oxidation of Mn²⁺ in the presence and absence of a ligand and the ligand decreased oxidation rate by decreasing free Mn²⁺ concentrations. Pankow and Morgan (1981b) also pointed out that the surfaces of metal oxides exhibited adsorptive properties towards trace metals (e.g. mineral-rich manganese nodules in marine and freshwater systems). Murray (1975) suggested that the affinity of selected metals for the surface of manganese dioxides followed the order:

$Mg < Ca < Sr < Ba < Ni < Zn < Mn \le Co.$

Interaction can be characterized by its pH dependence. For example, adsorption of alkaline earth metal ions, cobalt, manganese, copper, zinc, and nickel on hydrous manganese dioxide increases as a function of pH between 2.3 and 8 standard units (Murray 1975).

Chemical modeling of trace metals (including manganese) in freshwater systems, conducted by Vuceta and Morgan (1978), focused primarily on equilibrium distribution and interactions with environmental conditions. Environmental conditions such as the type and concentration of the trace metal, types of adsorbents and the available surface area, pH, and types and concentrations of both organic and inorganic ligands were evaluated for selected trace metals. General conclusions for manganese suggested

 $(MnO_2(s))$ was the primary form of the precipitate and adsorption of significant amounts of trace metals was possible.

The dynamics of manganese associated with chemical oxidation processes can be described from numerous studies conducted on manganese mobilization and accumulation as concretions or nodules in association with iron and other metals. Many of these early studies were conducted in marine environments. Manganese encrustations or nodules display markedly different chemical composition which is related to the supply of reduced manganese and the chemical environment of deposition (Glasby et al. 1971; Cronan and Tooms 1969).

Early arguments for manganese dissolution from sediments to overlying waters for nodule formation were provided by Presely et al. (1967). The authors suggested that manganese appeared to be in solution either as Mn²⁺ or as a complex and study results appeared to support the concept of manganese nodule formation in deep-sea sediments through a diffusion of manganese from depth to the surface. However, Bender (1971) concluded upward diffusion does not supply a large portion of the 'excess' manganese in most manganese-rich pelagic sediments since the rate of diffusion is slow. Cronan (1972) concluded that ferromanganese oxide deposits in Lake Ontario were probably formed via both upward diffusion of iron and manganese from the sediments and in-lake circulation or movement of water enriched with iron and manganese. Both diffusion and advective transport of reduced iron and manganese (which are soluble in reduced form) are likely transport mechanisms. Stauffer (1986) suggests that the recurring patterns of Mn²⁺ in the hypolimnion of Lake Mendota, Wisconsin are best explained by microstratigraphy and

redox shifts in the upper sediments, coupled with seasonally dependent dispersion into the overlying water column. During each summer Mn²⁺ accumulation in and below the thermocline in Lake Mendota is equivalent to 2.5 years' supply from external sources. Nishri and Nissenbaum (1993) suggested that Mn-enriched carbonates were the source of manganese found in manganese oxyhydroxides on the Dead Sea coast. Concretions have also been described for freshwater systems by Harriss and Troup (1970) and the composition related to watershed chemical characteristics. In general, the manganese-rich material is poorly crystallized oxides (Bromfield 1958, via X-ray diffraction; Cronan and Tooms 1969) and oxyhydroxides (Tessier et al. 1996 via X-ray diffraction and electron microscopic analyses).

Early studies also supported the theory that adsorption processes catalyze manganese oxidation, although accumulation rates did not always agree with timelines established by Stumm and Morgan (1981), suggesting processes other than inorganic oxidation may be contributing. Hem (1963 and 1964) observed rapid precipitation of Mn²⁺ under oxidizing conditions at a pH of 8.0 on a fine sand of quartz, orthoclase, and plagioclase yet very low precipitation in the absence of the sand. Likewise, Collins and Buol (1970) observed rapid precipitation of both iron and manganese along Eh-pH gradients in quartz-sand columns and comparatively slower precipitation without catalysis. Obviously, the rate of precipitation was facilitated by the presence of a substrate. Hem (1964) observed autocatalytic deposition of manganese onto aged and aerated manganiferous sands. Gordon and Burr (1989), using columns packed with stones from the Duck River downstream from Normandy Dam, demonstrated the ability to oxidize and

remove dissolved manganese from a seep emanating from a reclaimed strip mine area. Using chert, glass marbles, and native Alabama sandstone, Gordon and Burr (1989) estimated that about 8 weeks was required for the "aging" process. Gordon and Burr (1989) attributed the "aging" to the development of a slime, implying biological effects, on manganese oxidation. Numerous other authors have demonstrated biological effects in greater detail and the topic is discussed later in this chapter.

Other surfaces or substrate types such as ferric oxyhydroxides, calcite, silica, freshly precipitated MnO_2 , and manganese nodules themselves have also been implicated in precipitation of Mn^{2+} (Morgan 1967 and 1992; Morgan and Stumm 1964; Michard 1969; Jenkins 1973). Nodules also form around nuclei of pumice, altered basaltic rock or glass, clays, tuffaceous material, silica (diatom frustules or radiolarian tests), carbonate (foraminiferal, coccolith, or pteropod remains) or phosphorite (Burns and Burns 1975; Crerar and Barnes 1974), shark teeth, and whale bones, none of which contain Mn^{4+} but which can adsorb Mn^{2+} . $MnO_{x(s)}$ adsorbs Mn^{2+} and also catalyzes its oxidation, thus increasing overall removal.

In describing the rate of crystal growth of Mn_3O_4 and $\beta MnOOH$ in aerated aqueous manganous perchlorate system, Hem (1981) suggests that the process is autocatalytic, but becomes pseudo-first order in dissolved Mn^{2+} activity when the amount of precipitate surface is large compared to the amount of unreacted manganese. Valence ranged from 2.67 to 3 indicating an "intermediate" oxidation.

The manganese oxidation rate may be expressed with the following equation (the Mn²⁺ terms represent thermodynamic activity of dissolved unreactive manganese and

 $A_{(Mappe)}$ represents the availability of reaction sites on the surface of the precipitated manganese dioxide).

(2.7)
$$\frac{-d[Mn^{2^*}]}{dt} = k_1[Mn^{2^*}] + k_2 A_{(Mnppt)}[Mn^{2^*}]$$

The two rate constants k_1 and k_2 represent, respectively, the relatively slow precipitation reaction of dissolved manganese that is not specifically interacting with any surface, and the autocatalytic influence of an increasing availability of reaction sites as the reaction increases the area of oxide surface. When [Mnppt] becomes large and [Mn²⁺] is small, the former quantity will remain relatively constant over considerable periods of time even though $[Mn^{2+}]$ continues to decrease at a constant rate. This implies that the oxidation reaction should become pseudo-first order with respect to dissolved manganese, if other factors do not change (Hem 1981). Where the available reactive surface area is in large excess, the precipitation half-time could be as short as a few days for systems at a neutral pH and a temperature between 10 to 15 °C (Hem 1981). Using rate constants determined by Lewis (1976) from the Susquehanna River, Hem (1981) calculated half-times of about 1 day at 20 °C and about 7 days at 5 °C, at pH's near or a little below 7.0. Hem (1981) concluded that "in systems where water movement is rapid and the kinetics of precipitation are pseudo-first order, the flux rate may support accumulation of precipitate over an extensive surface area and the zone of reaction in the system may be elongated in the main direction of water flow. In a surface stream, for example, there may be manganese oxide coatings on bed material for long distances downstream from points
where Mn²⁺ is introduced." Studies by Kessick and Morgan (1975) indicated that MnOOH was the primary product of autooxidation. Many early studies indicated that these precipitates may be of biological origin (Ehrlich 1978; Mustoe 1981; Krumbein and Jens 1981; Palmer et al. 1986; Tyler and Marshall 1967; and Nealson 1977). The role of bacteria in manganese removal is discussed in the following section.

2.3 Overview of Biological Effects on Manganese Cycling

Numerous organisms have the ability to remove, oxidize, and deposit free manganous ions (Table 2.1). Microorganisms have been associated with iron and manganese minerals in fresh- and saltwater ferromanganese concretions (Burnett and Nealson 1981; Ghiorse 1980; Ghiorse and Hirsch 1982), bog ore and iron spring deposits (Caldwell and Caldwell 1980; Crerar et al. 1979; Mustoe 1981), rock varnish (Dorn and Oberlander 1981; Krumbein and Jens 1981; Taylor-George et al. 1983; Palmer et al. 1986), detrital particles in lakes and ponds (Gregory and Staley 1982; Heldal and Tumyr 1983; Jaquet et al. 1982; Klaveness 1977; Schmidt et al.1982), water-distribution systems (Marshall 1980; Ridgway et al. 1981; Ridgway and Olson 1981; and others), fjords (Emerson et al. 1982), and surface films of swamps and shallow ponds (Ghiorse and Chapnick 1983; Ghiorse and Hirsch 1982).

Early biological studies focused on bacteria associated with marine concretions. Identification and distribution of manganese oxidizing bacteria Nealson (1977), Schutt and Ottow (1977), budding bacteria Ghiorse and Hirsch (1977), and environmental conditions and time scales Thiel (1977) associated with the ferromanganese nodules were initially described for the deep sea.

Arthrobacter	Ehrlich 1968; van Veen 1973; Bromfield and David 1976
Bacillus sp.strain SG-1	DeVrind et al. 1986; Nealson and Ford 1980
Sphaerotilus discophorus	Johnson and Stokes 1966; Ali and Stokes 1971; van Veen 1972
Leptothrix	Adams and Ghiorse 1988; Nelson et al. 1999
Citrobacter freundii (E4)	Douka 1977
Crenothrix, Gallionella, Clonothrix	e.g., Ghiorse 1984a
Metallogenium	Jaquet et al. 1982; Miyajima 1992a and 1992b
Siderocapsaceae	e.g., Ghiorse 1984a
Pedomicrobium	Zavarzin 1968; Ghiorse and Hirsch 1979
Hyphomicrobium	Tyler 1970
Thiobacillus ferroxidans	Ehrlich 1981
Pseudomonas	Okazaki et al. 1997 (P. fluorescens GB-1); Douka 1977; Jung and Schweisfurth 1979; Greene and Madgwick 1991; and others
Fungi	Thiel 1925; Ehrlich 1981
Algae	Dean and Gosh 1978; Dean and Greeson 1979; Schoemann et al. 1998
Chlamydomonas sp.	Greene and Madgwick 1991

Table 2.1. Partial list of Fe- and Mn-depositing organisms.

Bacterial participation in manganese deposition around marine sediment particles has also been described as a two-step process (Ehrlich 1977; Emerson et al. 1982) yet several scenarios have been proposed (e.g., Ehrlich 1975; Tebo and Emerson 1985; Hastings and Emerson 1986; Mandernack et al. 1995a). Bacteria detected on ferromanganese nodules in deep sea sediments have the ability to oxidize Mn^{2+} after it is first bound to a Mn^{4+} oxide (Ehrlich 1963 and 1968; Ehrlich et al. 1972; Rosson and Nealson 1982). The bacteria appeared unable to oxidize free Mn^{2+} ion. In one of the earlier scenarios proposed by Ehrlich (1975), the removal of Mn^{2+} from solution by sediment involves mainly adsorption and is assumed to follow the reaction sequence of reactions 2.8 and 2.9.

(2.8) 1) $H_2MnO_3 + Mn^{2+} \rightarrow MnMnO_3 + 2H^+$ (fast)

(2.9) 2) MnMnO₃ + 2H₂O + $\frac{1}{2}$ O₂ \rightarrow 2H₂MnO₃ (rate controlling for manganese accretion, accelerated by certain bacteria, Ehrlich 1963; Ehrlich et al. 1972) Autooxidation of Mn²⁺ under conditions of the experiment was negligible. The role of bacteria in Mn²⁺ removal by sediment is to promote oxidation of adsorbed Mn²⁺ to Mn⁴⁺ oxide, which can then scavenge additional Mn²⁺ which, in turn, can be oxidized by bacteria. This process increases the amount of adsorption sites, i.e. Mn⁴⁺ oxides (i.e., A_{Mnppt} in Equation 2.7). Nelson et al. (1999) have found surface areas of biogenic manganese oxides (224 m² g⁻¹) to be much larger than for fresh manganese oxide precipitates (58 m² g⁻¹), and commercial manganese oxide minerals (<5 m² g⁻¹).

In a later scenario, Tebo and Emerson (1985) demonstrated that the biologically mediated, oxidation rate of Mn^{2+} is limited by both oxygen and the concentration of microbial binding sites. Tebo and Emerson (1985) described the process as a two-step mechanism in which dissolved/reduced manganese is first adsorbed by an exchange site, E, and then oxidized with the following reactions:

(2.10) $Mn^{2+} + E \stackrel{l}{=} Mn^{2+} - E$

(2.11)
$$\operatorname{Mn}^{2+}-E \stackrel{4}{\Rightarrow} \operatorname{Mn}_{\operatorname{oxidized}} + E$$

Equation 2.10 accounts for the binding and exchange of $Mn(2^+)$ between the dissolved and solid $Mn(2^+)$ pools in the absence of oxygen. The solid pool is the $Mn(2^+)$ which is adsorbed onto the surfaces of bacteria or other inorganic particulates. Equation 2.11 describes $Mn(2^+)$ oxidation. A two-step process has also been suggested by Hastings and Emerson (1986) for marine sediments with the following reactions (as reported in Mandernack et al 1995b):

(2.12)
$$3 \operatorname{Mn}^{2+} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{O}_2 + 3\operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O} \rightarrow 3 \operatorname{Mn}_3 \operatorname{O}_4$$
 (hausmannite) + 6H⁺

which subsequently disproportionates to Mn⁴⁺ as MnO₂:

$$(2.13) Mn_3O_4 + 4H^+ \rightarrow MnO_2 + 2Mn^{2+} + 2H_2O$$

The sum of these two reactions is:

(2.14)
$$Mn^{2+} + \frac{1}{2}O_2 + H_2O \rightarrow MnO_2 + 2H^{+}$$

In a third scenario, Hastings and Emerson (1986) noted that the two reactions were possible from a variety of lower valence state intermediates and were consistent with earlier findings of Hem and Lind (1983) and Hem et al. (1982). In contrast, Mandernack et al. (1995a) suggested that microbes may catalyze the direct oxidation of $Mn(2^+)$ to $Mn(4^+)$ (the combined reaction, Equation 2.14) without the formation of a discernable intermediate even when Mn^{2+} concentrations were too high to favor Mn_3O_4 disproportionation (Greene and Madgwick 1991; Takematsu et al. 1988; Mandernack and Tebo 1993). The direct mechanisms have been described by Nealson (1983) as enzymatic catalysis of specific binding by cell-associated materials. These scenarios, while different, suggest that dissolved oxygen concentrations, substrate, and microbial activity are important in one step (e.g., Mandernack et al. 1995a) or both steps e.g., Ehrlich (1975) or Tebo and Emerson (1985).

Manganese is one of several substances that, in a reduced state, can be used as an energy source for chemolithotrophic and mixotrophic bacteria (Ehrlich 1978; Kepkay et al. 1984). Two major groups of bacteria able to catalyze manganese oxidation have been suggested by Ehrlich (1980): 1) those that act on free Mn^{2+} (some of which derive free energy) and 2) those that act only on Mn^{2+} bound to Mn^{4+} oxides (which also get free energy). The reaction for the oxidation of free ion (Mn^{2+}) would be:

$$(2.15) Mn2+ + 0.5 O2 + H2O = MnO2 + 2H4$$

with a standard free energy at pH 7.0 of -68.24 kJ which would be biologically useful (Ehrlich 1978). Note that this is the same equation proposed by Hastings and Emerson (1986) as the sum of a two-step processes (see equation 2.14). The reactions for the oxidation in presence of Mn^{4+} oxide would be equations 2.8 and 2.9 above.

Ottow (1977) suggested that the accumulation of Mn⁴⁺ oxides may be interpreted by one of two mechanisms:

1. Accretion by enzymatic oxidation of adsorbed Mn^{2+} ions (introduced by Krauskopf (1957) and developed by Ehrlich (1963, 1966, 1975). Manganese accretion is composed of two steps, a nonbiological adsorption of Mn^{2+} by preexisting, negatively charged Mn^{2+} oxides (H₂MnO₃) and a subsequent enzymatic oxidation through Mn^{2+} oxidizing bacteria (see equations 2.8 and 2.9). In this way new adsorption sites for further adsorption reactions are produced (with affinities for Fe, Cu, Ni, Co). Such an oxidizing, catalytic activity has been found in cell-free preparations (Ehrlich 1968) and is related to a mechanism of ATP-generation (Ehrlich 1976), or

2. Accretion by unspecific heterotrophic manganese precipitation and/or oxidation.

These bacteria (e.g., Pseudomonas) grow only in the presence of organic compounds.

While, bacterial oxidation is inhibited by excess organic matter (Ehrlich 1975), Li et al. (1969) and Crerar et al. (1972) have proposed that bacteria catalyze organic decay reactions of the type:

(2.16)
$$2H_2O + CH_2O = HCO_3^+ + 5H^+ + 4e^-$$

where the carbohydrate, CH_2O , is taken as representative of typical organic matter of marine sediments. This process facilitates manganese oxide dissolution via coupled reduction reactions such as:

(2.17)
$$MnO_2 + 4H^+ + 2e^- = Mn^{2+} + 2H_2O_2$$

As indicated in studies of chemical oxidation of Mn^{2+} , controlling factors include conditions of Eh, pH, amount of organic matter, and dissolved oxygen and manganese concentrations, consequently, associations of these factors with biological processes have been the subject of numerous studies. For example, Bromfield and David (1976) demonstrated that cells of *Arthrobacter sp.* rapidly adsorbed manganous ions (Mn^{2+}) from aqueous solutions from pH 5.7 - 7.5 with maximum rates at pH 6.5. However, no adsorption occurred at pH 5.4 or 7.9. Adsorption did occur between concentrations of 0.5 mM (27 mg/l) and 6 mM (329 mg L⁻¹), but was inhibited above 40 mM (2196 mg L⁻¹). Schweisfurth et al. (1977) suggested that below pH 8 and above an Eh value of +200 mV,

manganese is oxidized only by microorganisms, Mn^{2+} is oxidized only at concentrations below 3x10⁻⁵ M (1.65 mg L⁻¹), and an intracellular manganese-oxidizing protein may participate in the reaction. Unlike observations of Bromfield and David (1976) in which adsorption of manganese attributed to Arthrobacter sp. was not inhibited until very high concentrations were reached (e.g., $> 2000 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$), concentrations of Mn²⁺ over 5-10 mg L⁻¹ were determined to inhibit manganese oxidation by Pseudomonas manganoxidans (Schweisfurth et al. 1977). Chapnick et al. (1982) suggested that manganese oxidation in Oneida Lake, New York was inhibited at concentrations greater than 65 μ M (3.57 mg L^{-1}). Since microbial oxidation of manganese can occur under conditions that range from aerobic (Bromfield 1956; Douka 1977; Ehrlich 1968) to microaerophilic (Klaveness 1977; Uren and Leeper 1978) to anaerobic (Jung and Schweisfurth 1979) it seems likely that inhibition due to concentrations may vary by species as indicated by the varied results described above. Additionally, Rosson et al. (1984) point out that bacteria can regulate their metabolism in response to environmental conditions and the presence of a large population of a specific bacteria does not necessarily prove that microbial removal of manganese is occurring.

A variety of biological mechanisms for manganese removal, oxidation, and deposition have been proposed. Marshall (1979) proposed that mechanisms for the microbial oxidation of Mn^{2+} to higher valency forms include microbially-induced alteration to the pH and /or Eh of microhabitats, sorption of preformed oxides to cell surfaces, microbial degradation of organic-manganese complexes, the formation of insoluble protein-manganese complexes, and enzymatic oxidation of Mn^{2+} . Adams and Ghiorse

(1988) demonstrated that the oxidation state of Mn increased with age of the oxide from 3.32 in samples 11 hours old to 3.62 in samples formed over a period of 30 days with Leptothrix discophora as the bacteria. The involvement of cytochromes in the enzymic oxidation of Mn²⁺ and the interaction of soluble cellular constituents with the cell membrane required for Mn²⁺ oxidation and cytochrome reduction to occur have been suggested by Arcuri and Ehrlich (1980). A direct correlation found between the presence of plasmid DNA and the ability of bacteria cultured from freshwater isolates to oxidize manganese may be another possible mechanism (Gregory and Staley 1982). Okazaki et al. (1997) suggested that the manganese oxidation in P. fluorescens GB-1 is probably catalyzed by a protein which is part of the outer membrane or cell cover of the bacterium. The Mn²⁺ oxidizing activity of the cells first appeared in the early stationary growth phase (i.e. was dependent upon growth stage and results in a lag), the oxidation follows Michaelis-Menton kinetics (Michaelis and Menton 1913) and oxidation is inhibited by sodium azide (NaN₂). Applying the Michaelis-Menton equation to describe this process yields a generic equation:

(2.18)
$$\mathbf{R} = \frac{V_{\text{max}}}{1 + C/K_m} \qquad \text{where}$$

R = the rate of Mn^{2+} removal,

 $V_{\rm max}$ = the maximum rate of removal of Mn²⁺,

C = the initial concentration of Mn²⁺, and

 K_{m} = the concentration of Mn²⁺ at which the removal rate is half of the maximum.

Emerson et al. (1982) and Chapnick et al. (1982) refer to Mn^{2+} removal as "binding" rather than "oxidation" since oxidation implies a specific process. Mn^{2+} binding is in part the result of bacterial catalysis. Michaelis-Menton enzyme kinetics have been used by Sunda and Huntsman (1987) where $V_{max} = 1.2 * 10^{-4}$ mol liter⁻¹ h⁻¹ and $K_m = 1.9 * 10^{-7}$ M, Tebo and Emerson (1985 and 1986), and Tebo et al. (1997) where the latter were able to model both the Mn^{2+} binding rates in the absence of oxygen and the in situ oxidation rates as a function of Mn^{2+} concentration. Tebo and Emerson (1986) concluded that: 1) Mn^{2+} oxidation rather than binding was the rate-limiting step, and 2) the rate of Mn^{2+} oxidation was limited by the number of Mn^{2+} binding sites (or the number of Mn^{2+} -binding and -oxidizing bacteria, see Equation 2.7). Crerar and Barnes (1974) likened the net effects of microbial activity to those of adsorption: oxidation reactions are catalyzed, activation energies decreased, and local Eh elevated above that of typical seawater and suggested that a model parallel to that used to treat adsorption may be applied to biogenic catalysis.

The number, type, and distribution of manganese oxidizing bacteria are also important factors in the removal of Mn²⁺ from aquatic systems. In freshwater systems, manganese-oxidizing heterotrophic bacteria were found to comprise a significant proportion of the bacterial community of Lake Washington (Seattle, WA) and Lake Virginia (Winter Park, FL), yet the percentage of heterotrophic bacterial population that could oxidize manganese varied throughout the year and no consistent seasonal vertical patterns were found in their distribution (Gregory and Staley 1982). Emerson et al. (1982) suggested that manganese may be bound by specific bacteria which are a relatively

small fraction of the total microbial population and manganese removal activity is not simply due to the presence of high numbers of bacteria. Diem and Stumm (1984) demonstrated that Mn^{2+} catalysis increased with the addition of manganese-oxidizing bacteria. Miyajima (1992b) presented a thermodynamic evaluation of manganese oxidation by *Metallogenium sp.* that suggested the distribution of the bacterium was determined by the thermodynamic balances between oxidants (O₂, Mn-oxide) and reductants (Mn²⁺, Fe²⁺) in the redox transition layer of a freshwater lake.

A general description of manganese dynamics for aquatic systems that undergo wetting and drying cycles (e.g., bogs, wetlands, reservoir tailwaters) may be drawn from studies conducted by Ghiorse (1984a) that describe bacterial transformations of manganese in association with the root zones of a floating macrophyte (Lemna sp.) in a swamp. Results from Ghiorse (1984a) demonstrated that the accumulation of particulate manganese and iron at the surface of the swamp reflects mostly ferromanganese oxide in the surface film. Although the system was partially aerobic for most of the year, manganese reduction also occurred at the surface. Circumstantial evidence suggested that Leptothrix cells in the surface films were involved and increases in particulate manganese in the middle layer were probably associated with the shedding of Mn-encrusted Leptothrix sheaths from Lemna roots. Increased concentrations of dissolved manganese in the bottom water corresponded to a decline of Lemna at the surface and probably resulted from chemical reduction of manganese oxides associated with the Lemna roots as they settled to the anaerobic bottom water. Ghiorse (1984b) suggested that Leptothrix sp.: 1) oxidzes manganese during heterotrophic growth (late in the growth curve for

Sphaerotilus discophorus (Hajj and Makemson 1976)), 2) growth is inhibited by manganese (also observed for Sphaerotilus discophorus by Hajj and Makemson (1976)) and, 3) excretes a manganese-oxidizing substance which behaves like a protein with respect to heat and HgCl₂ sensitivity.

An excreted Mn-oxidizing protein associated with *Leptothrix* sheath material, causing manganese oxide accumulation on the exterior of the sheath, has been suggested by van Veen et al. (1978) and Adams and Ghiorse (1988). Interestingly, the sheath forming capacity is an unstable trait of Leptothrix discophora (Emerson and Ghiorse 1992; Ghiorse 1984b) and hence, the presence of Leptothrix discophora alone may not be sufficient to increase manganese oxidation or removal. Manganese deposition on the exterior of Pedomicirobium-like budding bacteria has also been associated with extracelluar polymers (Ghiorse and Hirsch 1979). Ghiorse (1984a) suggested that it is possible that root exudates of Lemna sp. (perhaps organic acids) may participate in manganese reduction by chemically reducing manganese or by stimulating heterotrophic bacteria to produce Mn-reducing end products in the root zone. Klaveness (1977) describes the morphology and distribution of Metallogenium in lakes and suggests that Metallogenium accumulates manganese in its star-shaped coenobia and the encrusted parts are not enclosing living structures. Okazaki et al. (1997) have demonstrated that Pseudomonas fluorescens GB-1 (rod-shaped, gram-negative bacterium) deposits manganese oxide around the cell. Precipitation of MnO₂ onto the sheaths of manganese oxidizing bacteria has also been observed by Hajj and Makemson (1976). While at the time the possible mechanism(s) for the accumulation were controversial (autooxidation or

bacterial metabolic processes), earlier work by Johnson and Stokes (1966) suggested that oxidation of manganous ions by *Sphaerotilus discophorus* was catalyzed by an inducible enzyme(s).

Organisms other than bacteria also contribute to oxidation of Mn^{2+} (see Table 2.1). Shapiro and Glass (1975) provided evidence that manganese and phosphorus limited algal growth in Lake Superior and manganese was the stimulatory agent. Dean and Ghosh (1978) and Dean and Greeson (1979), on the basis of measurements of the distribution of particulate manganese, postulated that phytoplankton were important in Mn²⁺ oxidation in Oneida Lake, New York. Phytoplankton are very efficient at taking up and accumulating Mn^{2+} , which is required as a cofactor in the water-splitting, O₂-evolving enzyme in the photosystem II (Sauer 1980; Sunda and Huntsman 1998a). Studies by Richardson et al. (1988) also support role of phytoplankton in manganese oxidation. Cycling of dissolved and particulate manganese in coastal waters has also been associated with phytoplankton blooms and the successive autotrophic and heterotrophic activities (Schoemann et al. 1998). Retention of manganese during benthic photosynthesis can be dominated by chemical precipitation and reoxidation processes that can occur on a time scale of minutes (Epping et al. 1998). The transport and intracellular accumulation of Mn²⁺ in algae (Sunda and Hunstman 1985) decreases the concentration of biologically available Mn²⁺ and may be a limiting nutrient for primary production in aquatic environments (Paerl 1982). Richardson et al. (1988) demonstrated that the oxidation of Mn²⁺ to particulate, extracellular, manganic oxides can be catalyzed by Chlorella sp. Indirect removal or decrease in the biologically available Mn²⁺ by phytoplankton may also result as

phytoplankton change the pH and Eh of the system. Admiraal et al. (1995) suggested that riverine phytoplankton photosynthesis promotes Mn precipitation.

2.4 Biological Oxidation Rates

Determination of oxidation rates and distinguishing microbial from chemical oxidation may be useful in partitioning chemical and biological oxidation. Manganese oxidation can be measured by using the benzidinium-HCl reagent (Feigl 1958) and the colorimetric method using formaldoxime (Morgan and Stumm 1965; Henriksen 1966) has been generally accepted by major investigators as acceptable for specific measurement of Mn^{2+} . The method, with modification, has been applied to seawater (Brewer and Spencer 1971) and pore water of anoxic estuarine sediments (Armstrong et al. 1979). A spectrophotometric method for determination of oxidized manganese using leuco crystal violet has also been developed by Kessick et al. (1972). La Rock (1969), Tebo (1983), and Rosson et al. (1984) have employed the use of radioactive tracers for measuring biological oxidation. Poisons such as sodium azide, a mixture of sodium azide, penicillin, and tetracycline, and formaldehyde were shown to be appropriate for field use in marine systems to inhibit biological oxidation (Rosson et al. 1984; DeVrind et al. 1986; Mandernack and Tebo 1993). Sodium azide, penicillin, and formaldehyde also showed limited interference when distilled water was substituted for seawater, suggesting applicability to freshwater systems, but tetracycline, mercuric chloride, and the poison mixture exhibited moderate-to-strong inhibition of manganese binding and therefore results cannot be extrapolated to freshwater system without rigorous testing of poisons Rosson et al. (1984). Using poison controls such as sodium azide, well-buffered formalin,

or mercuric chloride to inhibit biological Mn^{2+} removal measures Mn^{2+} binding or removal rate from solution, but not necessarily oxidation. Methods of directly measuring oxidation involve extraction techniques, isotopes, and colorimetric methods specific for Mn^{2+} . For example, CuCl₂ can be used to extract adsorbed Mn^{2+} which allows distinguishing between Mn^{2+} binding and Mn^{2+} oxidation (Chapnick et al. 1982).

Biological effects on the oxidation rates of Mn^{2+} in aquatic systems have been described from numerous studies. Initially, circumstantial evidence of biological mediation in manganese oxidation in freshwater systems (Esthwaite Water and Rostherne Mere, England) was provided by Tipping (1984) with measurements of optimal oxidation rates of Mn^{2+} at temperatures between 15-30 °C and Tipping et al. (1984) based on observed oxidation rates. Studies by Emerson et al. (1982) in a low dissolved oxygen environment indicated that the residence time of Mn^{2+} and removal to a solid phase is on the order of a few days, suggesting higher oxidation rates than would be expected based on kinetics. An average oxidation state between 2.3-2.67 indicated incomplete oxidation and only 25% of the manganese was in Mn^{4+} oxidation state. These values are well below what would be expected for MnO_2 and are consistent with the proposed two-step removal process.

In studies where anoxic water from Lake Mendota was aerated, Delfino and Lee (1968) assumed first order kinetics for manganese oxidation at a pH of 8.5 and a pMn²⁺ of 4.95 (0.6 mg L⁻¹). They calculated a quarter-life value of 10.5 days which agreed well with a value of 7 days obtained from Wilson (1980). Using data from Delfino and Lee (1968), Wilson (1980) suggested quarter-life values for Mn^{2+} , assuming first order kinetics as a function of pH and pMn²⁺, would be 25 to 30 years for a concentration of 2 mg L⁻¹

Mn²⁺ at a pH of 7.0 to be oxidized to a level of 1.5 mg L⁻¹, if only chemical oxidation was considered. Emerson et al. (1979) concluded mean residence time of manganese with respect to oxidation in a fjord was on the order of days, which is too rapid for chemical oxidation (Stumm and Morgan 1981). Sung and Morgan (1981) demonstrated that the presence of milli-molar levels of γ -FeOOH significantly reduced the half-life of Mn(2⁺) in 0.7 M NaCl from hundreds of hours to hours. Surface rate constants for colloidial MnO₂ and γ -FeOOH were comparable. Studies in Saanich Inlet, British Columbia, Canada (Emerson et al. 1982; Rosson et al. 1984; Tebo et al. 1984; Tebo and Emerson 1985); Framvaren Fjord, Norway (Tebo et al. 1984); Oneida Lake, New York (Chapnick et al. 1982); Lake Washington, Washington (Maki et al. 1987) indicated that the biological component was significant at all locations.

Chapnick et al. (1982) demonstrated a relationship between Mn^{2+} removal and substrates, bacteria, and concentration of Mn^{2+} . Binding and oxidation of Mn^{2+} was inhibited in filtered samples when particles > 0.4 µm were removed, and inhibition persisted when the particles were first ethanol treated and then reintroduced into filtered lake water. Within the range of 0-20 µM (0-1.1 mg L⁻¹) Mn^{2+} , rates of Mn^{2+} binding varied with the initial Mn^{2+} concentrations. Binding rates were -0.003 to -0.02 µmol L⁻¹ h⁻¹ at 0-140 hour intervals and natural concentrations of 0.48 and 1.2 µM (0.03 -0.07 mg L⁻¹). The rate of formation of MnO_2 was -0.01 µmol L⁻¹ h⁻¹, half of the initial binding rate (0-10 hours) which was similar to 35-110 interval binding rates and an order of magnitude greater than 12-62 interval binding rates and comparable to rates reported by Sunda and Huntsman (1987) for the Newport River estuary in North Carolina. Rate of Mn^{2+} binding increased logarithmically with increasing concentration until a constant rate (saturation point) was reached at about 15-20 μ M (0.82 - 1.1 mg L⁻¹) Mn^{2+} . A logarithmic fit to the data defines the equation:

(2.19) binding rate =
$$-0.05 - 0.05 \ln{Mn^{2+}}$$
, r²=0.96, n=6

Circumstantial evidence that the removal of manganese was bacterially mediated was evident in observed decreases in soluble Mn²⁺ and the formation of oxidized manganese (MnO₂) in the hypolimnion of Oneida Lake only for summer samples which supported metabolically active Mn-oxidizing bacteria. Mn-oxidizing bacteria were abundant in bottom water (10³ - 10⁵ CFU ml⁻¹) and numbers were temperature dependant with maximum numbers in the summer. Chapnick et al. (1982) concluded that it seems likely that bacterially mediated adsorption of the soluble Mn²⁺ accounts for much of the initial binding of soluble Mn²⁺. Subsequent decreases in Mn²⁺ would then be due to a combination of biologically catalyzed adsorption and oxidation. As MnO₂ is formed, it will enhance the adsorption of Mn²⁺ from solution and add to the observed decreases in soluble Mn²⁺. The adsorbed Mn²⁺ may then be oxidized. Tebo et al. (1984) have since confirmed that manganese was being oxidized and not simply bound.

Additional circumstantial evidence of bacterially mediated manganese removal in lakes is provided with an evaluation of residence times or oxidation rates. Manganese oxidation in Oneida Lake water samples occurred within ½ to 3 days at pH 8.0 (Chapnick et al. 1982), a rate much greater than those observed by Stumm and Morgan (1970). Residence time of Mn²⁺ at the redox gradient in Lake Biwa, Japan was estimated by Miyajima (1992a) to be 2 to 5 days at a pH near 7 and the precipitation of manganese (attributed to biological mediation by *Metallogenium* sp.) was consistent with Michaelis-Menton kinetics. The retention of manganese in Wahnbach reservoir in Germany has also been considered to be dependent upon the presence of manganese oxidizing bacteria, i.e., *Metallogenium personatum* (Herschel and Clasen 1998).

Johnson et al. (1995) assessed the role of biotic and abiotic mechanisms of manganese redox cycle in a freshwater dam over a 12-month period and suggested that enzymatic control of manganese oxidation was taking place with a temperature optimum of approximately 30°C. Manganese oxidation was only significant above about 19°C and oxidation was pseudo-first order and bacterially mediated. Bourg and Bertin (1994) suggested that a threshold temperature of 10°C was necessary to trigger microbially mediated reactions in river and groundwater systems.

Studies relevant to reservoir releases conducted by Gordon (1989) provided removal rate coefficients of 0.021 hr⁻¹ at 1.2 m³ sec⁻¹ (43 ft³ sec⁻¹); 0.026 hr⁻¹ at 3.4 m³ sec⁻¹ (119 ft³ sec⁻¹); and 0.028 hr⁻¹ at 5.1 m³ sec⁻¹ (180 ft³ sec⁻¹) which were useful in model development by Hess et al. (1989) and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman (1995). Quarter-life values were 5.95 hours, 4.79 hours, and 4.53 hours (Gordon et al. 1989) which were considerably less than values of 7 to 10 days observed by Delfino and Lee (1968) but higher than uptake rates of 1-3 hours reported by Harvey and Fuller (1998) suggesting that they were within a range that is influenced by environmental conditions. Possible explanations considered were: 1) biological oxidation, and, 2) sorption on manganese coated surfaces. Mn^{2+} is oxidized as a linear function of time-of-travel at a rate of 0.41 mg L⁻¹ hr⁻¹ at a pH of 7.1 and a temperature of 17 °C (Gordon et al. 1984).

The oxidized Mn precipitate was quickly settled and/or sorbed upon rocks and debris resulting in a linear loss of total Mn with time-of-travel (0.35 mg L^{-1} hour⁻¹ at the above conditions). Of particular interest is the increase in removal rate as flow increases. The relationship between the oxidation rate for manganese and flow at the dam was log-log and could be used to predict the Mn²⁺ oxidation rate at other flows (Gordon et al. 1984).

Small volume batch studies were conducted (Gordon 1989) in which slime was scraped from tailwater rocks and dispersed into solutions to evaluate effects of biological mechanisms. Increased removal of manganese indicated biologically mediated removal on rock surfaces (chert of the Fort Payne Formation) is an important component of the removal processes. A hydraulic loading rate critical to Mn removal efficiency of 1560 m³ hr⁻¹ ha⁻¹ was calculated for a 4 million gallon a day load. Major conclusions from Gordon (1989) were:

1) Removal of manganese is first order with time of travel and reaction rate coefficients are a function of flow. There is no pronounced colloidal form.

2) Rock slime enhanced removal rates.

 Hydraulic loading not mass (concentration) loading was the controlling parameter for efficiency.

2.5 Biological Interactions with Substrates

Several studies have demonstrated a relationship between substrates and bacteria that mediate manganese oxidation. In the water column, substrate size is a factor as indicated by Chapnick et al. (1982) who found that Mn-oxidizing bacteria tended to be associated with particles that are normally removed during filtration (e.g. $> 0.45\mu$ m).

Nealson and Ford (1980) observed little or no manganese oxidation by a marine bacillus (strain SG-1) when it was not attached to surfaces but when it attached to a variety of surfaces (glass, sand, calcite), manganese was rapidly removed from solution indicating that substrate type may not be a factor. However, there was a difference in morphology between cells that were attached and free-swimming and implications of attached bacteria on manganese oxidation are discussed more fully later in this chapter.

Although substrate type is quite often not a factor in bacteria attachment, effects of substrate type on manganese oxidation have been observed. Wilson (1980) conducted studies with varied amounts of different substrates (montmorillonite, kaolinite, goethite, and particulate and soluble organic matter) to determined effects on Mn^{2+} oxidation rates. The study was conducted at a pH near 9.0. Study results indicated surfaces accelerate the reaction, apparently by bonding Mn^{2+} , and soluble organic materials retard the reaction by complexing the oxidizable species. Results are applicable to high concentrations (50-500 mg L⁻¹) of suspended material and the author speculates that no effect would be observed at low concentrations of suspended material. Organics at natural levels are sufficient to retard the reaction. Observations are most applicable in ocean waters and less predictable in lake waters. A suggested order of ability of substrates to accelerate the reaction of Mn^{2+} oxidation is iron hydroxides > particulate *Cyperus esculentus* (a sedge) > montmorillonite > kaolinite.

Hart et al. (1992) suggested that the primary process controlling the concentration of soluble manganese in a riverine system was the rapid adsorption of soluble manganese to existing colloidal fractions, followed by slower transfer of part of this surface-bound

manganese to the interior of the colloid. Rapid manganese removal from mine waste was possible using colloidal and particulate formation associated with concentrations of magnesium and calcium.

Bacteria interactions with substrates in streams have been observed in association with ferric hydroxide deposition with increased concentrations of iron and manganese (Ghiorse 1984a; Wellinitz, et al. 1994). Blooms of sheath-forming, ferromanganesedepositing bacteria, may thrive in iron oxide deposition zones if the iron oxide helps displace periphytic algae which normally out compete the bacteria for space and nutrients (Wellnitz and Sheldon 1995). Diversity and abundance of macroinvertebrates (Wellnitz et al. 1994), diatoms (*Leptothrix ochracea*, Sheldon and Skelly 1990) and epilithic algae (Sode 1983) are typically decreased in the presence of ferromanganese-depositing bacterial blooms. Wellnitz and Sheldon (1995) demonstrated that increased iron, not manganese, concentrations resulted in lower diatom abundance.

In a lotic environment such as a river or reservoir tailwater, the ability of bacteria to attach, and remain attached, to substrate and, the supply of materials (i.e., Mn²⁺) to the bacteria are both major factors in determining the removal rate of Mn²⁺. Marshall (1980) suggested that microbial deposition of manganese occurs mainly at solid surfaces in oligotrophic and mesotrophic waters and involves the adhesion of manganese oxidizing bacteria to the surface. In defining zones of nitrification for small streams and large rivers, Tuffey et al. (1974) noted that a key element is sufficient residence time to develop a bacterial population. Geesey et al. (1978) reported that sessile bacteria in small mountain streams were numerically more important than free-floating bacteria and were

associated with the upper surfaces of submerged rocks. Attached algae provided a surface for bacterial colonization. Costerton et al. (1978) have suggested that bacteria stick to submerged rocks in a fast-moving stream by means of a mass of tangled fibers of polysaccharides, or branching sugar molecules, that extend from the bacterial surface and form feltlike "glcocalyx" surrounding and individual cell or a colony of cells. To generate and maintain a glycocalyx, a bacterial cell must expend energy.

Recent advances in biochemistry have resulted in a technique that is useful in characterizing the microbial community of selected habitats (i.e. streambed substrates). A method developed by Vestal and White (1989) that uses the extraction of cellular lipids provides a quantitative and nonselective method of analysis for all viable microorganisms within complex communities. The technique has been used to evaluate physiological stress and pattern recognition of microbial community structure in periphyton communities of a stream that receives industrial wastes (Guckert et al. 1992). Interpretation of data from this technique has also been used in signature lipid biomarker analysis and provides a quantitative means to measure: 1) viable microbial biomass, 2) microbial community composition, and 3) community nutritional status (White et al. 1997).

The biological community associated with river substrate is described very well using characteristics of biofilms. Biofilms in streams less than 1.5 m deep have been estimated to be comprised of 90 to 99% bacterial biomass (Wuhrmann 1972). Substrate size may also determine the amount of bacterial growth with larger substrates having a greater part of their surface areas in growth than smaller particles (Ledger and Hildrew 1998). Removal rates of leaf leachates (Lock and Hynes 1976), ammonia (Tuffey et al. 1974), total organic carbon (Srinanthakumar and Amirtharajah 1983), and BOD (eg. Harremoës 1982 and Boyle and Scott 1984) have been attributed to biofilms in shallow streams. The importance of biofilms in describing removal processes would be reflected in the vertical structure in biofilms and mass transport associated with changes in velocity and substrate types. Gantzer et al. (1988) suggested that mass transport is faster for upper streambed biofilms than for deeper or lower streambed biofilms and that the ratio between substrate uptake rates for biofilms located at different depths in the streambed can change with stream velocity. For example, the upper portion of a streambed would provide most of the manganese removal from the water column, because the interstitial water velocities are very slow and the flux of manganese from the water column would decrease with depth. As stream velocities increase, the interstitial water velocities also increase and substrate flux into the lower streambed biofilms could approach flux rates observed for the upper streambed biofilms.

Meunier and Williamson (1981) developed a biofilm model that considers two basic processes: (1) diffusion of substrate from the bulk liquid into the biofilm; and (2) transformation of the substrate by bacteria within the biofilm. For the bacteria at depth z the potential reaction rates, r, by the Monod equation (Monod 1942), would be

$$(2.20) r_d = -k_d \frac{S_{cd}}{S_{cd} + K_{sd}} X_c$$

where r_d = the potential reaction rate of d based on concentration of S_{cd} ; k_d = maximum substrate utilization rates for d; K_{rd} = half-velocity coefficients for d; S_{cd} = substrate

concentration at the differential element for d; and $X_c =$ organism concentration within the biofilm. The Monod equation was also proposed by Williamson and McCarty (1976) as a model to describe substrate utilization by bacteria.

The movement of material (flux) into the biofilm in streambeds dominated by gravel was at a lower rate when compared to a streambed dominated by cobble (Gantzer et al. 1988). Short-term changes in water velocity affected rates in both streambeds and Gantzer et al. (1988) proposed a modified transport model to describe the process:

$$(2.21) D_L d^2 \frac{S}{dx^2} - u \frac{ds}{dx} - r_b - r_f = 0$$

in which D_L is the longitudinal dispersion coefficient (cm²h⁻¹), S is the water column concentration of the contaminant (mg cm⁻³), x is the longitudinal distance down the stream channel (cm), u is the average stream velocity (cm hr⁻¹), r_b is the rate at which suspended microorganisms are reducing the contaminant concentrations (mg cm⁻³ hr⁻¹), and r_f is the rate at which attached microorganisms, the streambed biofilms, are reducing water column contaminant concentrations (mg cm⁻³ hr⁻¹).

Harvey and Fuller (1998) evaluated the effect of manganese oxidation in the hyporheic zone at three spatial scales: 1) sediment-grain scale, 2) hyporheic flow-path scale, and 3) stream-reach scale. They calculated a reach-averaged time constant $(1/\lambda_{p})$ for manganese uptake of 1.3 hours for the hyporheic zone and about 20% removal of dissolved manganese in the study reach. Study results indicated that uptake in the hyporheic zone at the stream-reach scale depends on the balance of chemical reaction

rates, hyporheic porewater residence time, and turnover of streamflow through hyporheic flow paths.

As described in several of the above equations, manganese removal in the streambed is directly affected by the advection of dissolved oxygen into the hyporheic zone (Harvey and Fuller 1998), the availability of dissolved organic carbon for metabolism (Findlay et al. 1993; Rutherford et al. 1995; McMahon et al. 1995), the supply of Mn^{2+} (e.g., Tebo et al. 1997), and the presence of active manganese-oxidizing bacteria (Rosson et al. 1984). Subsequent studies by Marble et al. (in press) have indicated that removal of Mn^{2+} is independent of dissolved oxygen concentrations except at very low levels and the biologically mediated process is approximately first-order and inversely proportional to H^+ concentrations.

2.6 Modeling Studies of Manganese Oxidation

One of the first attempts at modeling manganese oxidation in rivers (Hess et al. 1989) uses a one dimensional model calibrated using dissolved oxygen, biochemical oxygen demand, pH, manganese, and hydraulic data collected in the Duck River, TN. Sampling was conducted at 3 flows (1.2, 3.37, 5.15 m³ sec⁻¹ or 43, 119, and 182 ft³ sec⁻¹). The model was applied to Chattahoochee River (Buford Dam, Lake Lanier) and discrepancies between observed and predicted were attributed to inadequate pH data, precipitation of sediment particles, unsteady flow (peaking releases for hydropower generation), inaccurate rate expressions for the low pH conditions, or their combinations. This study did not consider sediment particles and biological activity and did not predict Chattahoochee River concentrations well, probably due to limited data and unsteady flow.

Manganese removal has been successfully modeled in reservoir releases using the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers tailwater model (TWQM) by Dortch et al. (1992) and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman (1995). The model kinetics use a first order removal rate, which is highly variable natural log transformed concentrations, 0.3 to 4.45 day ⁻¹, but is correlated with stream slope. Distinction is made for substrate type (cobble or fine-grained) with presence of cobble increasing removal rates. Biological mechanisms are suggested but not addressed and the question of annual acclimation of biota to increasing tailwater concentrations of manganese was raised. A logical next step to improve model application to reservoir tailwaters is providing information that can be used to better describe/predict variables such as substrate size effects and biological mediation.

2.7 Summary

Manganese is a transition metal that "moves" from oxidized to reduced and back to oxidized states as a function of Eh, pH, dissolved oxygen, manganese concentrations, concentrations of other elements and ligands, and biological activity (and environmental factors that influence biological activity). The cycling of manganese occurs in a wide variety of aquatic systems, involves interactions with substrates, and coprecipitation of contaminants with a potentially high level of efficiency but related to an affinity for coprecipitates.

Much of our understanding of manganese dynamics came from studies on marine concretions and studies that were expanded to freshwater systems. During these studies, it became apparent that chemical equilibria described by thermodynamics was not always observed when kinetics were considered leading to the evaluation of biological effects on

oxidation and reduction of manganese. Not only are a wide variety of organisms capable of mediating manganese oxidation, but many may derive energy from the process in **a** selective fashion. Although the utilization of reduced manganese is still not fully understood, a two-step process for describing the removal, adsorption, or binding of reduced manganese and subsequent oxidation at a later time is generally accepted. This process can be described with a first order exponential decay equation, a pseudo-firs**t** order equation, and/or a general form of a Monod equation or Michaelis-Menton kimetics. Incorporation of substrate interactions and mass transport processes in biofilms can be used to expand these equations for application to reservoir tailwater models.

CHAPTER 3 MANGANESE REMOVAL IN THE TAILWATER

3.1 Introduction

The removal of dissolved manganese in reservoir tailwaters has been described with several models that account for abiotic processes such as adsorption, which is related to chemical equilibrium and exposure to substrate. Combinations of conditions that influence equilibrium (e.g., pH, temperature, concentrations of manganese) and exposure to substrate (e.g., amount and size of substrate and contact area and time of water to substrate (i.e., velocity and discharge)) have been addressed in several studies designed to predict manganese removal in reservoir tailwaters (Gordon et al. 1984; Hess et al. 1989; Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). Manganese removal in these studies was described with first-order equations but removal rates were much faster than predicted by the equilibrium equations for the range of environmental conditions. Major conclusions suggested bacterial mediation, which is well documented for other aquatic systems, and effects of substrate availability. Study recommendations included more detailed assessments of substrate interactions in the removal of manganese and additional evaluation of discharge or releases on manganese removal predictions.

The objectives of these studies were to describe spatial variability and distribution of manganese accumulated on various substrate size fractions and evaluate manganese removal rates at different discharges and in controlled, laboratory studies for comparison to field observations. Manganese removal patterns in reservoir tailwaters as a function of substrate interactions and discharge were assessed with a combination of field and

laboratory studies. Spatial patterns of manganese concentrations on substrate in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake, AR were described for four size fractions of the streambed material. Lateral and longitudinal variability in manganese accumulation on streambed substrate were assessed for size fractions that provided sufficient material for analyses. Field studies were conducted at the tailwater to evaluate manganese dynamics in reservoir releases (discharge) and potential relationships between discharge and removal rates. Removal rates were calculated for two different discharges. Laboratory studies were also conducted in recirculating raceways using substrate collected from the tailwater of Nimrod Lake to describe removal rates at closer time intervals.

3.2 Field Site Description

Nimrod Lake is a reservoir on the Fourche La Fave River in west central Arkansas (Figure 3.1) and is 101 km upstream from the confluence of the Fourche La Fave River with the Arkansas River. The area of the predominantly rugged and wooded drainage basin is about 1760 km². Bedrock in the area is composed of shale, sandstone, and siltstone of the Atoka-Pennsylvanian Age. Soils in the area are characterized mostly as loams over silty clay or clay subsoil.

Nimrod Lake is formed by Nimrod Dam, which is operated primarily for flood control, and typically has a minimal release during stratification to provide for low flow. The centerline of the penstocks, the opening in the dam on the upstream side, is near 7.6 m above the stream bed which provides for the release of mid-depth water. Releases are discharged through two Howell-Bunger valves providing a discharge above the elevation of the tailwater which falls into a stilling basin for energy dissipation (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.1. Vicinity map of Nimrod Dam and Lake and station locations in the tailwater.



Figure 3.2. Discharge from the Howell-Bunger valves.

This type of discharge provides considerable aeration of the release (Figure 3.3) which impacts dissolved oxygen concentrations and dynamics of redox sensitive constituents such as manganese, iron, and hydrogen sulfide.

The lake has a maximum depth of 12 - 14 m and thermally stratifies in the summer with sufficient intensity to develop anoxic conditions below the thermocline, which develops near an elevation of 9 to 10 meters above the streambed. During periods of anoxia, which typically occur from July to September, concentrations of reduced metals, such as iron and manganese, increase in the hypolimnion until destratification, which occurs in late summer or fall. Typical concentrations of total iron and manganese available in the withdrawal zone (area subject to release) range between 2 to 7 mg L⁻¹, for



Figure 3.3. Aerial view of the release from Nimrod Dam and Lake depicting the mechanism of aeration.

iron and 2 mg L^{-1} to 4 mg L^{-1} for manganese. Under anoxic conditions, iron and manganese are in reduced forms. Concentrations in the release are near 3 and 2 mg L^{-1} , for iron and manganese respectively (Nix et al. 1991). Hydrogen sulfide production also occurs leading to occasional observations of noxious odors in the vicinity of the dam. Additional information on water quality is presented in Nix et al. (1991).

The tailwater of Nimrod Lake was selected based on the availability of information from previous studies about channel morphometry, substrate type, travel time of steadystate releases (Nix et al. 1991) and manganese removal rates in the release (Dortch et al. 1992; Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). The site can be characterized as a series of riffles and pools. After the discharge leaves the stilling basin, it flows through a riffle area with large rocks and cobble into a deeper pool with cobble substrate that is mixed with coarse and fine grain sediments. Except for during high flows, the water leaves the pool through a narrow riffle area and then flows through a much longer pool until it reaches another riffle zone that supports emergent aquatic vegetation. The remainder of the study area has no additional riffle zones and is characterized as a pool with a mid-channel depth greater than 1 m. The series of riffles and pools provides reaeration and sedimentation which impact the dynamics of manganese removal in the tailwater.

Station A, which is approximately 100 m downstream from the stilling basin, represents the first riffle area. The area is dominated by large cobble and boulders which results in variable depths between 0.1 and 1 m at low flow. Velocities during releases are sufficient to inhibit accumulation of fine-grain sediments. Station B1, which is located at the boat ramp approximately 800 m downstream, represents the first pool area with depths ranging mostly between 0.1 and 1.5 m during low flow and decreased velocities that allow accumulation of coarse- and fine-grain sediments. At low flow, the release from this pool is primarily through a natural, cobble and boulder outlet that is about 0.5 m deep and 2-m wide. At higher flows, the entire width of the channel conveys the flow. Station B3, which is located at the powerline approximately 2.9 km downstream from the dam, is downstream of a long pool and is a riffle area that extends across the entire width of the channel and has emergent aquatic vegetation. Depths at station B3 range between 0.1

and 0.5 m at low flow. Stations C, D, and E represent downstream pool areas with relatively uniform channel morphometry and are approximately 4.7, 7.8, and 12 km downstream from the dam, respectively. Station C is the deepest area in the study reach with a maximum depth of 3 m at low flow. Depths at station D are near 1 m and near 2.5 m at station E at low flow. Depths at cross sections for selected stations are depicted in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4. Cross sections at major stations in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Substrate Analyses

Substrate samples were collected at stations A. B1, B3, C, and E to assess longitudinal gradients in adsorbed manganese concentrations. Substrate collection was also attempted at laterally spaced locations at several sites to describe lateral variability. Looking downstream, sampling was attempted at approximately 5 meters from the left bank (left bank), between the left bank and mid-channel (near left bank), mid-channel, between mid-channel and right bank (near right bank), and approximately 5 m from the right bank (right bank). Not all sampling yielded sufficient material for analysis. At station A, sampling was limited to collection of large cobble by grab sampling for surface coating analysis since rapid flow precludes accumulation of sand and fine-grained material. Two to four samples were collected at each lateral location at station A to assess lateral variability in surface coatings on the cobble substrate. While sample preparation included some separation of material scraped from the top and bottom of the substrate, data from both surfaces were included in the calculation of mean values by lateral site. Complete substrate sampling with an Ekman dredge was accomplished at stations B1, B3, C, and E. Substrate samples collected with the dredge were subsequently separated into selected size fractions for surface coatings analysis. Size fractions were separated in the field using standard sieves and included cobble, 2.0 mm to 0.5 mm, 0.5 mm to 0.063 mm, and less than 0.063 mm. Longitudinal variability was assessed using values measured for the cobble, 2.0 mm to 0.5 mm, and 0.5 mm to 0.063 mm size fractions.

Temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH, and specific conductance were measured in situ with a Hydrolab[®] multiparameter probe. Individual parameter probes were calibrated prior to use following guidelines in the operation manual (Hydrolab Corp., Houston, TX).

Substrate analyses included measurement of manganese concentrations on digested substrate samples. Samples from the cobble scrapings and each size fraction were ground and dried to a constant weight prior to analysis. Digestion for manganese analysis included block digestion of the samples in aqua regia (3:1 v/v conc HCl:conc HNO₃) and subsequent analysis on a Perkin Elmer Atomic Adsorption Spectrophotometer. Known concentrations of manganese (spikes) were added to some of the samples to estimate recovery. Concentrations were reported as dry weight and cobble scraping concentrations are not comparable to concentrations for other size fractions which incorporated parent material in the dry weight concentrations.

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) was utilized for determination of the relative concentration of manganese in the surface coatings of cobble substrates. SEM analysis consisted of standardless EDX chemical analysis to determine areas relatively enriched in manganese. An Electroscan 2020 ESEM with and EDX windowless detector linked to a SUN SPARCstation 5 with IMIX analysis software (Princeton Gamma-Tech, Princeton, NY). Electron photomicrographs of selected samples were obtained with a lanthanum hexaboride electron source and a gaseous secondary electron detector (GSED). The imaging conditions employed an accelerating voltage of 20 KeV and 1.81 mA and approximately 3 to 8 Torr (400 to 933 Pa) water vapor in the sample chamber. The

environmental gas was vaporized distilled water supplied via a digitally controlled needle valve assembly. Images were collected over a period of 30 seconds.

Cores were collected from cobble samples collected from stations A, B1, B3, and E then sliced below the interface between the coating and parent material for mounting in the scanning electron microscope. A section collected from inside the center of a cobble sample from station A was also analyzed to provide a relative background manganese concentration. A sample of a bryophyte collected at station B3 that was coated was also analyzed with the SEM.

Statistical analyses were conducted using linear regression techniques in SigmaPlot (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and procedures available in the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Lateral and longitudinal variability of substrate size fractions were assessed with SAS procedures using general linear regression analysis (GLM) with station means comparisons conducted using the Tukey procedure (Tukey 1953). A univariate analysis was conducted with SAS procedures on data sets and the Shapiro-Wilkes statistic was used to test for normality of residuals.

Quality assurance was evaluated by examining variability of replicate samples, multiple analyses for manganese determinations associated with standard procedures for atomic adsorption analyses, and the recovery of standards, spiked samples, and concentrations in sample blanks.

3.3.2 Reservoir Release Water Quality Studies

Field studies conducted at Nimrod Lake, AR were used to evaluate manganese dynamics in reservoir releases. These studies consisted of sampling during a constant
release of two different flows to assess removal rates for dissolved manganese. Sampling sites for both studies represented both areas of pooled water and areas with riffles. Sampling design was similar to previous studies conducted by Nix et al. (1991) for comparative purposes. Sampling was conducted in the forebay of the reservoir to describe in-lake conditions, at stations A and B1 to describe conditions in the immediate tailwater, and at station B3 to describe conditions further downstream (Figure 3.1). Initial conditions of low flow (near 0.5 m³ sec⁻¹ or 17 ft³sec⁻¹) were sampled prior to an increase in release to near 1.7 m³ sec⁻¹ or 60 ft³sec⁻¹ (referred to as high flow), which was held near constant for the remainder of the study to allow the re-establishment of steady-state conditions. The increase in release or discharge was initiated at 1500 on August 22, 1995 and held until 1700 on August 23, 1995. The increased discharge was about one third of the discharge of previous studies to provide an additional data set for model evaluation under different release conditions. Discharge records were obtained from the Little Rock District of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, which is responsible for operation of the dam.

Sampling was conducted at each station over a six hour period during the low flow study after a four day period of time for steady-state conditions to establish throughout the study reach. Sampling for the high flow study was conducted during a four hour period, 17 to 21 hours after the increase in release was initiated. Travel times necessary to establish steady-state conditions throughout the study reach for various discharges were determined based on estimates from the Tailwater Quality Model (TWQM) developed by Dortch et al. (1992) (Table 3.1), previous measurements using fluorescent dyes (Nix et al.

Flow (m ³ sec ⁻¹)	Reach	Distance (m)	Velocity (m sec ⁻¹)	Travel Time (Hrs)	Cumulative Travel Time (Hrs)
0.56	A-B1	914.4	0.015	16.7	16.7
	B1-B2	963.2	0.024	11.4	28.1
	B2-B3	1126.5	0.021	13.9	41.9
	ВЗ-С	1609.3	0.015	27.5	69.4
	C-D	2735.9	0.012	69.0	138.4
1.41	A-B1	914.4	0.04	6.7	6.7
	B1-B2	963.2	0.058	4.6	11.2
	B2-B3	1126.5	0.058	5.5	16.8
	В3-С	1609.3	0.04	11	27.8
	C-D	2735.9	0.027	27.6	55.4
4.25	A-B1	914.4	0.115	2.2	2.2
	B1-B2	963.2	0.174	1.5	3.7
	B2-B3	1126.5	0.171	1.8	5.6
	В3-С	1609.3	0.122	3.7	9.3
	C-D	2735.9	0.082	9.2	18.5
5.66	A-B1	914.4	0.152	1.7	1.7
	B1-B2	963.2	0.235	1.1	2.8
	B2-B3	1126.5	0.226	1.4	4.2
	B3-C	1609.3	0.162	2.8	6.9
	C-D	2735.9	0.11	6.9	13.8

Table 3.1. Estimated travel times at various discharges in the tailwater of Nimrod Dam.

1991), and physical observations of neutrally buoyant floats. Temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH, and specific conductivity were monitored with Hydrolab[®] data sondes at each site prior to and during the period of increased release to describe temporal changes. An

in-lake profile of temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH, specific conductivity, and oxidationreduction potential was conducted in the forebay region of the lake during the study to describe vertical gradients. One water sample was collected with a Van Dorn sampler from near the lake bottom for analysis of oxidized and reduced iron and manganese in the hypolimnion. This sample described hypolimnetic concentrations but would not describe initial release concentrations which would vary with discharge during stratification.

General water quality (organic carbon, chloride, nitrate, sulfate, alkalinity, and sulfide) in the tailwater was described with sample collection at each station during the high flow release. Total and dissolved organic carbon samples were collected in 50-ml polyethylene bottles and preserved with two drops of sulfuric acid to a pH of at least 2. Samples for dissolved organic carbon were filtered with 0.45 µm filters prior to acidification. Chloride, nitrate, and sulfate samples were collected in 20-ml acid-washed scintillation vials and kept on ice until analysis. Samples were transferred to the laboratory at the Wetland Biogeochemistry Institute (WBI) at Louisiana State University in Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Alkalinity and sulfide samples were collected in 500-ml amber bottles and analyzed on site. Carbon analyses were conducted using an Ionics Model 1270H analyzer with a detection limit of 1.0 mm. Chloride, nitrate, and sulfate were analyzed using a Dionex Model 2010i Ion Chromatography system with a detection limit of 0.1 ppm. Alkalinity was measured via titration (American Public Health Association 1992). Sulfide analysis consisted of extracting 5 ml of the water sample and transferring it to a 20-ml scintillation vial that contained 5 ml of an antioxidant buffer, which prevents the

oxidation of sulfide. Sulfide concentrations were then determined with a LAZAR Model IS-146 Sulfide Electrode with a detection limit of 0.01 ppm.

Water quality samples for iron and manganese concentrations (total and dissolved) were collected at each tailwater location during the low flow and high flow releases. Samples were collected in acid washed 20-ml scintillation vials. Total and total soluble metal samples (filtered with 0.45 μ m filters in the field) were preserved with 3 drops of nitric acid to reduce the pH to at least 2. The samples were transferred to the WBI for analysis using a Jarrell-Ash Atom Comp Series 800 inductively coupled plasma (ICP) instrument. The detection limit on this instrument for manganese is 0.025 mg L⁻¹. On site measurements of manganous and ferrous concentrations were also conducted during the high flow event. Ferrous iron was determined in both filtered and unfiltered samples colorimetrically using ferrozine reagent. Five milliliters of sample were added to 1.0 ml of ferrozine, diluted to 10 ml of total volume with distilled, deionized water and absorbance was read at 565 nm on a Milton Roy Mini 20 spectrometer. Manganous manganese was also determined in both filtered and unfiltered samples colorimetrically using formaldoxime reagent and concentrations were compared to filtered samples analyzed with the ICP method. Five milliliters of sample were adjusted to a basic pH with 1.5 ml of 5 M NaOH prior to the addition of 0.5 ml of formaldoxime reagent. This was diluted to 10 ml of total volume with distilled, deionized water and absorbance was read at 450 nm on a Milton Roy Mini 20 spectrometer. Sample collection and analyses were provided by Dr. Robert Gambrell, Dr. Stephen Faulkner, Mr. Paul Hintze, and Ms Brenda Smith of the WBL.

Statistical analyses were conducted using linear regression techniques in SigmaPlot (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Linear regression analysis was also conducted on natural log transformed concentration data for comparison of dissolved manganese removal rates between laboratory studies and field investigations. A univariate analysis was conducted with SAS procedures on data sets and the Shapiro-Wilkes statistic was used to test for normality of residuals.

Quality assurance was evaluated by examining variability of replicate samples, multiple analyses for manganese determinations associated with standard procedures for atomic adsorption analyses, and the recovery of standards and concentrations in sample blanks.

3.3.3 Raceway Studies

Laboratory studies to assess removal rates under controlled conditions were conducted in recirculating raceways that contained streambed substrate collected from Station B1 of the tailwater of the field site. Raceway studies included incorporation of whole substrate samples collected in November of 1997 and synthetic reservoir release water to compare results to field studies.

The raceways were filled with approximately 3000 l of deionized water that was amended with approximately 50 l of water from the tailwater. Water circulation was accomplished with submersible pumps located at one end of each raceway. The recirculating raceway system consisted of two fiberglass raceways, each with three compartments, that represent 1) shallow (< than 0.08 m deep) and high velocity, 2) deep

(~ 1 m deep) and low velocity, and 3) intermediate depth (~ 0.5 m deep) and low velocity stream reaches (Figure 3.5). The raceways are configured such that the flow originates in the shallow section, passes through the deepest section then through the intermediate depth section where it is pumped to the second raceway and travels the same route.



Figure 3.5. Schematic of the raceways.

Substrate was added to only one raceway and allowed to acclimate for a four month period prior to the conduct of any uptake studies. After initial water quality samples were taken on November 18, 1997 (prior to the addition of the substrate), substrate material collected from the site was added and aeration hoses were turned on to maintain adequate dissolved oxygen concentrations. The pumps were turned off after 0.5 hours of circulation for several days to allow fine material to settle out. When the water was relatively clear the pumps were turned back on and leaf packs with material collected at the field site were added to the system as a source of nutrients and organic carbon on December 16, 1997. "Unseasoned" limestone gravel was added to the raceway (February 25, 1998) during the period of acclimation for evaluation of microbial colonization. Routine water quality analyses for pH, alkalinity, phosphorus, nitrogen, iron, manganese, and selected cations and anions were conducted to monitor raceway conditions. Water level was maintained in the raceways with the periodic addition of deionized water.

Time of travel in the raceways was established with a dye study using Rhodamine WT. A dilute solution of dye was quickly added to the raceway in the shallow section and samples were collected at 5 minute intervals until well after a steady absorbance was measured on a spectrophotometer (Bausch and Lomb Spec 20). Readings were conducted at a wavelength of 520 nm which had previously determined to be optimal with a weak solution of the dye.

The addition of reduced manganese and iron was conducted on January 31, 1998 and March 1, 1998 as part of the acclimation. Reduced manganese was added as manganous sulfate, $MnSO_4$, or manganous chloride, $MnCl_2$. Reduced iron was initially added as ferrous chloride (FeCl₂) but ferrous ammonium sulfate, which is more soluble than ferrous chloride, was used after the initial study. Concentrated solutions were made for the addition to achieve initial concentrations of near 1 to 2 mg L⁻¹ manganese and 2 to 5 mg L⁻¹ iron which were comparable to concentrations observed in the field studies. Samples were collected daily after the March 1 addition of reduced manganese and iron to determine optimal sampling frequencies for removal studies.

Manganese removal dynamics were conducted in three separate studies (April, July, and August of 1998) in which reduced iron and manganese were added to the raceway to simulate the introduction of reduced metals into an aerating stream (i.e., the tailwater). Removal of reduced manganese was evaluated by replicate measurements of total and dissolved ($< 0.45 \mu m$) concentrations at a time series sufficient to describe concentration changes for approximately 2 days. Temperature, pH, and conductivity were monitored periodically throughout the study.

The raceways were drained and refilled with deionized water in June due to increases in concentrations of dissolved constituents in the routine monitoring samples. Reagent stock solutions of iron and manganese and additional leaf packs were also added. Approximately two weeks after the study conducted in early July, a leaf pack had clogged the opening to one of the sump pumps which caused a malfunction and resulted in a loss of water for most of the system. The raceways were refilled with deionized water and the study was repeated the next day (late July). NaOH was added during the late July study to increase the pH and evaluate the response in dissolved manganese concentrations.

Samples for total and soluble manganese analysis were collected with a clean, acidwashed syringe and held in clean, acid-washed scintillation vials until analysis. Samples were preserved with 3-5 drops of concentrated nitric acid. Soluble samples were filtered through a 0.45 µm membrane filter in an in-line filter holder that attached to the syringe. Approximately 5 to 10 mls of sample were passed through the filters and discarded prior to sample collection. Analysis was conducted on unfiltered samples (total) and filtered samples (dissolved) using a Jarrell-Ash Atom Comp Series 800 ICP.

Microbial biomass and community composition was determined by the analysis of membrane lipids using extraction techniques employing organic solvents (Vestal and White 1989). With this approach, total concentrations of ester-linked phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) are recovered from the sample and used to estimate biomass (Balkwill et al. 1989) and microbial community composition (White et al., 1999). Different functional groups, such as gram-positive and gram-negative organisms, were identified by unique patterns of fatty acids (e.g. saturated, unsaturated, and branched moieties). The fatty acids can then be attributed to specific biosynthetic pathways, which differ among various functional groups of microbes.

Substrate samples were collected from the raceway in April of 1998 to evaluate the PLFA technique and, if applicable, assess community structure in the system at the time of the uptake study. Samples collected included 2 samples of seasoned cobble and 2 cores from seasoned cobble from the shallow, high-velocity area of the raceway and from the mid-depth, low-velocity area of the raceway, 2 samples of the newly seasoned limestone from the shallow, high-velocity area of the raceway, 1 sediment sample from the deep area of the raceway, and 1 sample from the water column. The limestone had been in the raceway for approximately 4 months. Pre-cored samples were also acclimated for a period of approximately 4 months and were sampled to allow assessment of biomass and uptake per unit of surface area if adequate biomass was recovered.

Raceway samples were prepared for lipid extraction as described in White and Ringelberg (1998) and Findlay and Dobbs (1993). Lipids were quantitatively recovered from substrate materials by saturation with 7 ml of organic solvent (CHCl₃:MeOH, 1:2, v:v) once the overlying water was decanted. The lipid extract was then partitioned against water (via the addition of $CH_2Cl_2:H_2O$, 1:1, v:v) and the organic phase aspirated to a prepacked silica column (Burdick and Jackson, Muskegon, MI) from which non-polar and polar lipids were eluted with sequential washes of CH_2Cl_2 , acetone, and methanol. The polar (methanol) eluent was dried under N_2 and then subjected to a single-step transesterfication to form methyl esters of the recovered phospholipid fatty acids. The PLFA were then separated, identified and quantified by capillary gas-chromatography (Hewlett Packard 6890GC) coupled to a quadrapole mass spectrometer (model 5973 mass selective detector). Detection was by electron impact ionization at 70eV.

The PLFA analysis was conducted by Dave Ringelberg and Margaret Richmond at the Environmental Laboratory located at the US Army Engineer Research and Development Center in Vicksburg, MS. Dave Ringelberg provided interpretation of the data, hierarchical cluster analysis of the sample PLFA profiles, and preparation of associated figures.

Statistical analyses were conducted using linear regression techniques in SigmaPlot (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Linear regression analysis was also conducted on natural log transformed concentration data for comparison of dissolved manganese removal rates between laboratory studies and field investigations. A univariate analysis was conducted with SAS procedures on data sets and the Shapiro-Wilkes statistic was used to test for normality of residuals.

Quality assurance was evaluated by examining variability of replicate samples, multiple analyses for manganese determinations associated with standard procedures for atomic adsorption analyses, and the recovery of concentrations in standards and blanks.

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Substrate Analyses

Water quality in the tailwater at the time of substrate conditions were comparable to conditions reported by Nix et al. (1991) with temperatures ranging from 27.6 to 28.7 $^{\circ}$ C, pH values between 6.7 and 6.9 standard units, dissolved oxygen concentrations between 6.8 to 7.7 mg L⁻¹, and conductivity values at 43 µmhos cm⁻¹. Conditions in Nimrod Lake indicated vertical stratification with anoxic conditions below 7 meters.

Cobble yielding sufficient material collected from scrapings was collected at 5 sites at station A to assess lateral variability. Additional cobble samples with sufficient material for analysis were collected at station B1 and station B3 and allowed an assessment of longitudinal variability in the upstream region of the tailwater. Cobble was not collected at station C due to deep water and no cobble near the bank and station D was not sampled. Cobble collected at station E was lightly coated but the material was not removable by scraping without including original rock material.

Distribution of concentrations on the cobble samples are depicted in Figure 3.6. Mean values, standard deviations, and Shapiro Wilkes values (checks for normality of distributions) for cobble scrapings at each site and station are presented in Table 3.2.

Results of univariate analyses indicated that the data were normally distributed. Analysis of material scraped from the surface of cobble suggested lateral variability in total manganese accumulation across the channel at station A (p < 0.05, Table 3.3). Mean concentrations ranged from 102 to 321 mg L⁻¹ with higher concentrations occurring on the right bank to the mid-channel region. Although concentrations were highly



Figure 3.6. Longitudinal and lateral distribution of manganese concentrations on cobble scrapings. Numbers indicate sample size. Arrow indicates direction of flow. Boundaries of boxes indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} percentiles, the solid line within the box is the median and the dotted line is the mean, and whiskers indicate the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. For station A, sites with the same symbol are not significantly different (p < 0.05).

Lateral Site	n	Mean	Std Dev	Shapiro Wilkes Value W:Normal	Pr < W
Station A					
Right Bank Edge	3	321.0	61.0	0.9026	0.39
Right Bank Middle	3	297.3	54.6	0.9781	0.72
Mid-Channel	3	293.3	53.0	0.9451	0.55
Left Bank Middle	4	101.2	33.4	0.9921	0.95
Left Bank Edge	5	101.7	62.5	0.8290	0.13
Station B1					
Right Bank Edge	nd *				
Right Bank Middle	nd				
Mid-Channel	nd				
Left Bank Middle	5	239.3	164.5	0.8594	0.22
Left Bank Edge	3	44.3	53.4	0.7739	0.054
Station B3					
Right Bank Edge	nd				
Right Bank Middle	1	285	n = 1	n = 1	n = 1
Mid-Channel	nđ				
Left Bank Middle	2	287.5	147.8	n = 2	
Left Bank Edge	1	330	n = 1	n = 1	n = 1

Table 3.2. Mean values, standard deviations, and normality values from cobble scrapings for lateral sites.

* Denotes no data.

variable at each site, higher mean concentrations in the region between the right bank and mid-channel were statistically different than mean concentrations in the left bank and left

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	4	185728.57	46432.14	15.89	0.0001
Error	13	37989.62	2922.28		
Corrected Total	17	223718.19			

Table 3.3. GLM test results for lateral variability on cobble scrapings from station A.

Table 3.4. Tukey pairwise comparison test results for cobble scrapings from station A.

Site Comparison	Difference Between Means	Significant Comparison
rbe - rbm	23.67	
rbe - m	27.67	
rbe - lbm	219.83	Yes
rbe - lbe	219.30	Yes
rbm - m	4.00	
rbm - lbm	196.16	Yes
rbm - lbe	195.63	Yes
m - lbm	192.16	Yes
m - lbe	191.63	Yes
lbe - lbm	0.53	

bank to mid-channel region ($\alpha = 0.05$, Table 3.4). The mean concentration for station A was 202.7 mg L⁻¹ (Figure 3.7).

Mean concentrations at station B1 on the left bank and left bank to mid-channel region, were 44 and 240 mg L⁻¹ respectively (Figure 3.6) with a mean value of 166.2 mg/L⁻¹ (Figure 3.7). At station B3, concentrations varied from 183 mg L⁻¹ to 392 mg L⁻¹ (Figure 3.6) with a mean value of 297.5 mg L⁻¹ (Figure 3.7). Mean values at stations A and B1 were highly variable (Figure 3.7) and results of the regression analysis indicated

that mean values for the three stations were not significantly different (p = 0.26, Table 3.5).



Figure 3.7. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations on cobble scrapings. Numbers indicate sample size. Arrow indicates direction of flow. Boundaries of boxes indicate the 25th and 75th percentiles, the solid line within the box is the median and the dotted line is the mean, and whiskers indicate the 10th and 90th percentiles.

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	2	46370.79	23185.39	1.45	0.2526
Error	27	432143.23	16005.30		
Corrected Total	29	478514.01			

Table 3.5. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on cobble scrapings from stations A, B1, and B3.

Substrate in the 2.00 - 0.5 mm, 0.5 to 0.063 mm, and < 0.063 mm size fractions was collected at stations at B1, B3, C, and E. Laterally spaced data for each size fraction were limited for each site and subsequently pooled for assessment of longitudinal gradients by size fraction. Mean values, standard deviations, and Shapiro Wilkes values for all substrate analyses at each station are presented in Table 3.6. In general, the data were normally distributed except at station C for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction and at station B1 for the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fraction.

Mean concentrations of manganese on substrates between 2.00 and 0.50 mm ranged from 2 to 2.9 mg L⁻¹ at stations C and E to near 7 and 8 mg L⁻¹ at stations B1 and B3 (Figure 3.8). Mean concentrations were significantly different (p < 0.05, Table 3.7) and were higher at stations B1 and B3 than at stations C and E ($\alpha = 0.05$, Table 3.8), indicating a decrease with distance.

Mean concentrations of manganese on substrates between 0.50 and 0.063 mm ranged from 0.25 and 0.58 mg L⁻¹ at stations C and E to 2.6 and 3.7 mg L⁻¹ at stations B1 and B3 (Figure 3.9). As observed for the size fraction between 2.00 and 0.50 mm, concentrations were significantly different (p < 0.05, Table 3.9) but significant pairwise comparisons were not identified with the Tukey procedure at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Station	Size Fraction	Mean	n	Std Dev	Shapiro Wilkes	Pr < W
					W:Normal	
A	Cobble	202.7	18	114.7	0.8979	0.053
B1	Cobble	166.2	8	162.6	0.8353	0.069
B3	Cobble	297.5	4	88.0	0.9829	0.89
B1	2.00 - 0.50 mm	6.87	6	2.09	0.9322	0.61
B3	2.00 - 0.50 mm	8.27	2	0.53	1	n=2
С	2.00 - 0.50 mm	2.08	3	0.47	0.7500	0.0001
E	2.00 - 0.50 mm	2.90	3	0.68	0.9663	0.65
B1	0.50 - 0.063 mm	2.60	6	1.72	0.7896	0.045
B3	0.50 - 0.063 mm	3.69	2	0.69	1	n=2
С	0.50 - 0.063 mm	0.25	3	0.06	0.9355	0.51
E	0.50 - 0.063 mm	0.58	3	0.30	0.9542	0.59
B1	< 0.063 mm	30.08	4	3.73	0.7775	0.07
B3	< 0.063 mm	59.97	3	6.23	0.8222	0.17

 Table 3.6. Mean values, standard deviations, and normality values at each station for each size fraction.

Mean concentrations on material less than 0.063 mm were 30.1 mg L⁻¹ and 60.0 mg L⁻¹ at stations B1 and B3, respectively (Figure 3.10). Mean concentrations at station B3 were significantly higher than mean concentrations at station B1 (p < 0.05, Table 3.10). Concentrations and results for all substrate analyses are included in Appendix A. Comparisons between size fractions were not considered to be appropriate since the amount of original rock material used in calculating mass per unit dry weight is a function of the size fraction. Comparisons between size fractions were size fractions were conducted in laboratory studies with uptake studies and are discussed in Chapter 4.



Figure 3.8. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fractions. Numbers indicate sample size. Error bars indicate the standard error. Stations with the same symbol are not significantly different ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Table 3.7. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fractions from stations B1, B3, C, and E.

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	3	80.64	26.88	11.43	0.0014
Error	10	23.52	2.35		
Corrected Total	13	104.16			

Recovery of standard additions in the material scraped from the cobble and digested substrate in the other size fractions was relatively low for manganese (63.4 - 87.1%), but consistent, with most values between 83 and 87% and quite good for iron

(91.1 - 101.9%). In general, lower manganese recoveries were associated with the

material scraped from the cobble which yielded very little mass after digestion.

Station Comparison	Difference Between Means	Significant Comparison
B1 - B3	1.395	
B1 - C	6.185	Yes
B1 - D	5.368	Yes
B3 - C	4.79	Yes
B3 - D	3.973	Yes
C-D	0.817	

Table 3.8. Tukey pairwise comparison test results for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fractions from stations B1, B3, C, and E.



Figure 3.9. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions. Numbers indicate sample size. Error bars indicate the standard error. Stations were not significantly different ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	3	22.56	7.52	4.89	0.0242
Error	10	15.40	1.54		
Corrected Total	13	37.96			

Table 3.9. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions from stations B1, B3, C, and E.



Figure 3.10. Longitudinal distribution of manganese concentrations for the less than 0.063 mm size fractions. Numbers indicate sample size. Error bars indicate the standard error. Stations with the same symbol are not significantly different ($\alpha = 0.05$).

Table 3.10. GLM test results for longitudinal variability on the less than 0.063 mm size fractions from stations B1 and B3.

Source	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Model	1	1531.73	1531.73	64.16	0.0005
Error	5	119.37	23.87		
Corrected Total	6	1651.11			

SEM analysis measured relative changes in composition of surface coatings and original rock material (Figure 3.11). Manganese comprised 43 percent of the surface coating at station A (Figure 3.11 A), near 7 percent at station E (Figure 3.11 B), and was near 0 percent in the parent material (Figure 3.11 C). Manganese in the surface coating at station B1 was slightly higher (near 56 percent) than at station A. At stations B3 and C, the percent of manganese in the surface coating was near 40 and 30 percent, respectively. Although concentration data were not available from the type of analysis conducted, the relative percent contribution of manganese to the surface coating decreased with distance (Figure 3.12).

Observations at several sites and magnifications using the SEM also indicated that, in general, the substrate coating was amorphous or without crystalline structure (Figures 3.13 A, B, C, D). However, there was some evidence of crystal formation in the surface substrate as indicated in Figure 3.13 B. Bacteria were not observed, probably due to lack of preservation and preparation techniques used in the SEM analysis that were not specific for viewing bacteria. Diatoms were present at stations B1 and B3 (Figures 3.13 A and D) as was a surface coating on a sample of a bryophyte collected at station B3 (Figures 3.13 C and D).

3.4.2 Release Studies at the Nimrod Lake Tailwater

Water quality in the release is defined by conditions in the impoundment or lake formed by the dam and the depth and operation of the outlet works. A vertical profile was collected in the forebay (near-dam) region the day prior to tailwater sampling. Temperature measurements described thermal gradients and dissolved oxygen



Figure 3.11. Relative elemental composition of cobble surfaces from Station A (A), station E (B), and the subsurface of the cobble from Station A (C).



Figure 3.12. Relative percent composition of manganese on cobble surfaces as indicated by SEM analysis. (n = 2 for each site)

concentrations indicated anoxic conditions below a depth of 5 m (Figure 3.14A). Temperatures ranged from 31.3 $^{\circ}$ C in the surface to 24.7 $^{\circ}$ C at the bottom with a thermocline approximately 1 meter deep. While dissolved oxygen values were near 5 mg L⁻¹ in the surface waters, concentrations decreased to less than 1 mg L⁻¹ at depths greater than 4 meters (Figure 3.14B). Oxidation-reduction potential values were greater than



A Station B1 (Scale bar = 10 um) B S



B Station B3 (Scale bar = 45 um)



C Station B3 (Scale bar = 250 um)

D Station B3 (Scale bar = 45 um)

Figure 3.13. Scanning electron micrographs of various substrate surfaces from stations in the tailwater of Nimrod Dam. Figures A and B are from cobble samples and figures C and D are from the bryophyte collected at station B3.



Figure 3.14. Water quality in the forebay of Nimrod Lake during the 1995 field study.

+250 mV in the surface waters (indicating oxidizing conditions for oxygen, nitrate, manganese, and iron), were between +100 and +250 mV between depths of 2 to 4 m (values conducive to reduction of nitrate and manganese), and were less than zero, e.g., negative (indicating reducing conditions for manganese and iron) at depths greater than 6 meters (Figure 3.14C). Coincident with negative oxidation reduction potential values, conductivity values increased in the bottom waters (Figure 3.14D) indicating increased concentrations of soluble constituents.

Total and dissolved manganese concentrations measured on a sample collected near the bottom of the reservoir were 7.5 and 6.5 mg L^{-1} , respectively. Total and dissolved iron were near 17 mg L^{-1} . Manganese and iron would be expected to be in reduced forms since dissolved oxygen values were near 0 mg L^{-1} and the oxidation reduction potential was negative.

Discharge indicated that high flow periods occurred in the winter and spring, prior to stratification, with a major high flow event occurring in late June and early July, during stratification (Figure 3.15). Although this major high flow event could have disrupted stratification and resultant chemical gradients, conditions observed in the lake indicated that chemical gradients existed. Releases were held near 1.7 m³ sec⁻¹ from mid-July through mid-August then decreased to near 0.5 m³ sec⁻¹ for a few days for the low flow study. Discharge was then increased to near 1.7 m³ sec⁻¹ for the high flow study. The increased discharge is still relatively low compared with winter and spring hydrographs. Travel times previously established by Nix et al. (1991) indicated that the release periods were sufficient to establish steady-state conditions for the low flow study prior to sample



Figure 3.15. Release hydrograph for 1995 at Nimrod Dam, the arrow depicts the hydrograph for the release study.

collection but may have been insufficient for steady-state conditions to establish when samples were collected for the high flow study (Table 3.1). With the exception of occasional summer storms, typical discharges in the summer, coincident with anoxic conditions in the forebay, fall within the range of discharge observed in this study.

Water quality conditions during the release studies for selected constituents are summarized in Table 3.11. In general, little differences were observed between concentrations during the low flow and high flow discharges. Temperatures were near 27.5 °C and minor diel cycling was observed for temperature (Figure 3.16). Dissolved oxygen concentrations ranged between 5 and 7 mg L⁻¹ (even at station A indicating rapid and efficient aeration). Values for pH were between 6.2 and 7.0 indicating circumneutral conditions. Sulfate concentrations were relatively low (near 0.5 mg L⁻¹). Total alkalinity was also moderately low (between 25 and 30 (mg L⁻¹ as CaCO₃). Organic carbon concentrations, near 8 to 9 mg L⁻¹, would likely not be limiting for primary production.

Table 3.11. General water quality concentrations in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake, AR during the release studies in August of 1995.

Constituent	Approximate Concentration/Value
Temperature (°C)	27.5
Dissolved Oxygen (mg L ⁻¹)	6
Conductivity (µmhos cm ⁻¹)	5-8
Total Alkalinity (mg L ⁻¹ as CaCO ₃)	25-30
Total Organic Carbon (mg L ⁻¹)	8-9
Dissolved Organic Carbon (mg L ⁻¹)	6-7
Nitrate Nitrogen (mg L ⁻¹)	0.25-0.50
Sulfate (mg L ⁻¹)	0.5
Chloride (mg L ⁻¹)	2.8
Sulfide (mg L ⁻¹)	bdl *

* Denotes concentrations below the detection limit.

Concentrations of iron at each station during the low flow and high flow release are depicted in Figure 3.17. Total and soluble (< 0.45 μ m) iron concentrations were considerably less at station A (near 7.5 and 2 mg L⁻¹, respectively) than concentrations near the bottom of the reservoir in the forebay. Lower concentrations in the immediate discharge may be attributed to dilution of bottom water with mid-depth water likely to contain lower concentrations due to the withdrawal zone and depth of the outlet works. In the tailwater, total iron concentrations decreased downstream from station A during the low flow release but remained relatively constant during the high flow release. Concentrations of soluble iron varied with distance during both low and high flow releases and a trend of decreasing concentrations was not apparent. Separate analysis using ferrozine reagent, which is specific for determining ferrous iron, indicated that measurements of soluble iron overestimated ferrous concentrations. Concentrations of ferrous iron on unfiltered samples were near 1.2 mg L^{-1} at station A and 0.5 mg L^{-1} at stations B1 and B3 during the high flow release, indicating a possible trend of decreasing concentrations with distance (Figure 3.18).

Total manganese concentrations decreased with distance during low flow but remained relatively constant during high flow (Figure 3.19). As observed for total iron concentrations, manganese concentrations at station A were less than the concentration measured in the bottom waters in the upstream impoundment indicating dilution associated with the withdrawal zone. Unlike iron, manganese was predominantly in the soluble form, and formaldoxime measurements indicated that the soluble form was indeed the reduced, manganous form. The loss or removal of manganese in the tailwater indicated a first-order removal process during the low flow release (Figure 3.20) and the removal rate was much higher during the low flow release (0.99 day⁻¹) than during the high flow release (0.17 day⁻¹) (Figure 3.21).



Figure 3.16. Temperature, pH, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen during the release studies. The dashed lines indicate the initiation of increased releases. The arrows denote sample collection for the high flow study. The data were collected at station B1.



Figure 3.17. Total (TFe) and dissolved (DFe) iron concentrations in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B) 1995 study (n = 2).



Figure 3.18. Concentrations of ferrous iron in the tailwater during the 1995 high flow release (n = 2).



Figure 3.19. Total (TMn) and dissolved (DMn) manganese concentrations in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (A) 1995 study (n = 2).



Figure 3.20. Dissolved manganese concentrations in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake during the low flow (A) and high flow (B)1995 study (n=1). Travel times were estimated from model output (TWQM).



Figure 3.21. Removal rates of dissolved manganese in the release from Nimrod Dam during the low flow (A) and high flow (B)1995 study (n=1). Travel times were estimated from model output (TWQM).

3.4.3 Raceway Studies of Manganese Removal

Travel time in the raceways was estimated to be between 15 and 30 minutes based on dye study results (Figure 3.22). Base on these two estimates, average velocities would be 0.018 and 0.001 m sec⁻¹ (0.06 and 0.03 ft sec⁻¹), respectively, which would be comparable to discharges of approximately 1 and 0.6 m³ sec⁻¹. The total distance traveled in one day would be between 1.58 and 0.79 km (5,184 and 2,592 feet), respectively.



Figure 3.22. Absorbance during the dye study in the raceways. Time of travel estimated from the time of the dye injection.
Ranges of selected water quality constituent concentrations in the raceways during the period of acclimation are summarized in Table 3.12. Temperatures were between 24 and 26 $^{\circ}$ C, conductivity values remained relatively constant between 53 and 65 µmhos cm⁻¹, and pH values were between 6 and 6.6. Total and dissolved phosphorus, iron, and manganese concentrations increased in association with the addition of reduced iron and manganese stocks then decrease with time. Concentrations following the addition of the stocks in March were monitored daily for a period of several days to determine optimal sampling protocol for removal studies. Concentrations of total and dissolved manganese decreased to very low concentrations within three days with major decreases occurring during the first two days (Figure 3.23).

Constituent	Minimum Concentration	Maximum Concentration
T. Fe (mg L^{-1})	0.05	1.175
D. Fe (mg L^{-1})	bdl *	0.3149
T. Mn (mg L ⁻ⁱ)	bdl	1.035
D. Mn (mg L ⁻¹)	bdl	0.7554
T. Ca (mg L ⁻¹)	0.210	12.38
D. Ca (mg L ⁻¹)	0.210	13.0
T. P (mg L ⁻¹)	bdl	0.2315
D. P (mg L ⁻¹)	bdl	0.2146
pH (std units)	6.0	6.6
Conductivity (µmhos cm ⁻¹)	53	65
Temperature (°C)	24.0	26.0

Table 3.12. Summary of selected water quality constituents in the raceways during the acclimation period.

* Denotes concentrations below the detection limit.



Figure 3.23. Concentrations of phosphorus, iron, and manganese in the raceways during the acclimation period.

Data for all raceway analyses are included in Appendix B and results of analyses on blanks and standards are summarized in Table 3.13. Reagent blanks were below detection limits and recovery of standards was near 100%. When replicate samples were collected, mean values were plotted with error bars representing the standard deviation.

Constituent (Standard)	Blanks 3/19(1)	Blanks 3/19(2)	Blanks 4/13	Stds 3/19(1)	Stds 3/19(2)	Stds 3/19(3)	Stds 4/13
T. Cu (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0012	0.0019	0.0033	10.20	10.75	10.00	9.193
T. Zn (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0115	0.0130	0.1147	9.916	10.07	10.11	9.973
T. Cd (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0031	0.0044	0.0256	9.961	10.06	10.09	9.977
T. Pb (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0102	0.0108	0.121	10.01	10.31	10.09	9.972
T. Ni (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0026	0.0028	0.0189	10.00	10.11	10.07	9.937
T. As (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0172	0.0176	0.1439	10.01	10. 29	10.14	9.984
T. Fe (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0020	0.0020	0.0119	9.863	9.837	10.10	9.925
T. Mn (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0012	0.0012	0.0033	9.814	9.783	10.14	9.957
T. Ca (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0801	0.0835	1.215	9.995	10.23	10.13	9.894
T. Mg (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0027	0.0031	0.0134	9.781	9.761	10.16	9.946
T. Al (10 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0455	0.0467	0.2747	10.07	10.22	10.02	9.964
T. Na (100 mg L ⁻¹)	0.0153	0.0342	0.1016	102.5	105.5	99.62	99.31

Table 3.13. Concentrations in blanks and standards for raceway studies.

In general, replicate analyses indicated very low standard deviations and hence, low error introduced via sampling or chemical analysis.

Based on results of the March preliminary removal study, samples during the April removal study were collected more frequently during a 52-hour period. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations decreased with time in a curvilinear or exponential fashion, indicative of a first order removal process (Figure 3.24). Total and dissolved manganese concentrations were similar during the study. Duplicate analyses indicated minimal sampling and analytical variability. Ranges for other water quality constituents were consistent with those reported in Table 3.12 except for total and dissolved iron which were near 5 mg L⁻¹ immediately following the addition of the reagent stocks.



Figure 3.24. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the April raceway study.

Dissimilar results were observed in total and dissolved manganese concentrations when the raceway study was conducted in July after the raceways had been refilled. Instead of the curvilinear, exponential decrease in concentrations observed in the April study, concentrations of both total and dissolved manganese concentrations increased slightly and then remained relatively constant during the 52 hour period (Figure 3.25A). The study was repeated in late July (after the pump malfunction which resulted in a refilling) with results similar to the early July study. Attempts to increase pH values to 6.5-7.0 standard units (as observed in the April study) were marginally successful with values obtained near 6.5 but pH values were still mostly near 6.0 standard units. Dissolved manganese concentrations actually increased slightly following the addition of the NaOH (Figure 3.25B).

When the last raceway study was conducted in August, total and dissolved manganese concentrations decreased in a pattern similar to the concentration decrease observed in April (Figure 3.26). The pattern of concentration decrease was not quite as curvilinear as observed in April with initial concentrations during the first three hours remaining relatively constant. Following the first three hours, concentrations decreased almost linearly until the last concentration measurement, which was near the detection limit of 0.05 mg L⁻¹. Removal rates were comparable for the April and August raceway studies (Figure 3.27). Observed ranges of selected water quality constituents for each raceway study are depicted in Table 3.14. In general, lower pH values were observed for the July raceway studies and may have limited microbial removal processes during these studies.



Figure 3.25. Total and dissolved manganese cncentrations during the early (A) and late (B) July raceway studies.



Figure 3.26. Total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the August raceway study.



Figure 3.27. Removal rates of total and dissolved manganese concentrations during the April (A) and August (B) raceway studies.

Constituent	April Study	Early July Study	Late July Study	August Study
pH (std units)	6.7 - 7.4	5.4 - 6.4	5.4 - 6.5	6.0 - 6.5
Conductivity (µmhos cm ⁻¹)	150 - 155	129 - 200	210 - 218	not available
T. Phosphorus (mg L ⁻¹)	0.03 - 0.05	0.03 - 0.06	not available	0.04 - 0.05
Chloride (mg L ⁻¹)	7.1 - 10.2	not available	not available	not available
Nitrate (mg L ⁻¹)	0.61 - 0.85	not available	not available	not available
T. Calcium (mg L ⁻¹)	13 - 15	14 - 22	not available	30 - 32

Table 3.14. Concentration ranges for selected water quality constituents during each raceway study.

Assessments of microbial biomass and community structure on samples collected from the raceway following the first manganese uptake study indicated that sufficient material for analysis was available from the cobble samples but not from the surface of the pre-cored samples. Insufficient biomass was available in the sample from the water column as well. Results of the PLFA analysis are presented in Table 3.15. Maximum biomass was obtained from the seasoned- cobble collected from the shallow, high-velocity area of the raceway followed by the seasoned-cobble in the mid-depth, low-velocity area, and then comparable values were observed for the unseasoned, limestone cobble from the shallow, high-velocity area and the sediment from the deep, low-velocity area.

Community composition was evaluated using different fatty acid (PFLA) functional groups (e.g., normal saturate (nsat) which are ubiquitous, terminally branched

saturate (terbsat) which indicate Gram-positive bacteria, monounsaturate (mono) which indicate Gram-negative bacteria, branched monounsatrate (brmono) which also indicate Gram-negative bacteria, mid-chain branched saturate (midbrsat) which indicate actinomycetes, and poly unsaturate (poly) which indicate microeukaryotes) Table 3.15. In general, community compositions of the seasoned cobble in the high and low velocity areas were considered to be closely related and guite distinct from either the unseasoned cobble or the sediment (Figure 3.28). The samples for the two seasoned cobbles displayed a diverse community composition and showed evidence of Gram-negative bacteria, Grampositive bacteria, possible iron-reducing bacteria, and microeukaryotes. The Gramnegative bacterial component was the largest. The unseasoned cobble showed a less diverse community structure, a lesser biomass, and an even greater Gram-negative bacterial presence than for the seasoned cobble. Community composition of the sediment sample also showed a strong Gram-negative bacterial presence but was distinct from both seasoned and unseasoned cobble samples with a very strong actinomycete type input. The geomorphology and hydrology in a stream can be major determinants of interactions between surface and interstitial habitats and would influence the biological community structure (Chafiq et al. 1996). Storey et al. (1999) suggested that the biofilm in interstitial habitats will occupy a variety of microniches, allowing a great diversity of microbial types, and promoting the activity of some otherwise poor competitors. These types of interactions, coupled with a seasonal supply of reduced manganese from the reservoir release, could provide conditions conducive to exploitation by manganese oxidizing bacteria.

Description	Area in Raceway	Biomass (pmole)		Community Composition (PLFA functional group, %)				
		avg (s.d.)	nsat (s.d.)	terbrsat (s.d.)	mono (s.d.)	brmon (s.d.)	midbrsa t (s.d.)	poly (s.d.)
Core	Shallow	90	65.1	5.2	23.8	0.0	5.9	0.0
	High-velocity	(104)	(4.0)	(7.3)	(6.7)	(0.0)	(3.3)	(0.0)
Core	Mid-depth	56	84.8	0.8	13.0	0.0	1.4	0.0
	Low-velocity	(40)	(19.2)	(1.1)	(16.2)	(0.0)	(1.9)	(0.0)
Seasoned	Shallow	36100	32.6	7.9	47.2	1.4	4.5	6.3
Cobble	High-velocity	(26187)	(8.9)	(2.8)	(6.8)	(0.9)	(0.5)	(0.3)
Seasoned	Mid-depth	20284	34.4	6.0	48.4	2.1	5.9	3.3
Cobble	Low-velocity	(14544)	(4.2)	(1.2)	(6.1)	(0.5)	(0.4)	(0.8)
Unseasoned	Shallow	11737	27.9	5.3	56.6	0.0	6.2	4.0
Cobble	High-velocity	(684)	(2.1)	(0.8)	(1.7)	(0.0)	(0.2)	(0.2)
Sediment		12755 (n=1)	24.8	6.8	51.9	1.8	14.7	0.0
Water Column		5 (n=1)	100.0	0.00	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table 3.15. Results of the PLFA analysis conducted on substrate from the raceway.

s.d. Denotes the standard deviation.

nsat = normal saturate mono = monounsaturate poly = polyunsaturate terbsat = terminally branched saturatepoly = polyunsaturate brmono = branched monounsaturate midbrsat = mid-chain branced saturate



Figure 3.28. Hierarchical cluster analyses of PLFA profiles from the raceway samples.

3.5 Summary and Conclusions

The removal of manganese in reservoir tailwaters can initially be described by observations of manganese accumulation on substrate. Observations from the field studies indicated that manganese accumulation occurs on different substrate size fractions and the accumulation varies laterally (at least in the immediate headwater) and decreases with distance. Lateral variability would be expected if accumulation processes are a function of the supply of manganese (concentration, hydraulic loading rate, and exposure time). If the concentrations in the release are well-mixed (as suggested by lateral measurements of other water quality constituents), then exposure time (as a function of velocity or the hydraulic loading rate) would be the primary determinant of accumulation. Different discharges and channel morphometry (including slope) provide heterogeneity to the system and may account, in part, to the highly variable spatial distribution observed for manganese concentrations on substrate in the tailwater.

Longitudinal decreases in concentrations on substrates would be expected since there is removal of manganese from the water column to the bed material as the release moves downstream. This decreases the supply of manganese with distance. Decreased concentrations with distance were most pronounced for relative concentrations as determined by SEM analysis on cobble surfaces and on extractions from intermediate grain sizes (2.0 - 0.50 mm and 0.50 - 0.063 mm). Observations of decreased concentrations on substrate with distance from the dam confirm an earlier hypothesis by Hem (1981) that gradients in accumulation exist with distance from the source. With the exception of the < 0.063 mm size fraction, concentrations tended to be similar for each size fraction in the first 3 km of the

tailwater (station A to station B3) suggesting that there is a defined zone where removal is relatively consistent with time even though discharge would vary as a function of reservoir operations each year. Lower manganese concentrations in the < 0.063 mm size substrate in the upstream region than in the downstream region is likely related to the occurrence of higher flows in the upstream region which would keep the smaller sized material in suspension longer and result in downstream transport until velocities decreased sufficiently to allow settling and accumulation. Observations of increased particulate iron downstream indicated that resuspension occurs which could also allow increased transport of smaller particles (i.e., < 0.063 mm) further downstream.

The supply of manganese in the release increases as concentrations in the hypolimnion of the upstream impoundment increase and varies as a function of reservoir operations that affect the withdrawal zone. Additionally, as discharge increase, velocities tend to increase, reducing exposure time, yet more substrate is exposed to the release water by increased movement into the river bed (hyporheic zone) and an increase in the wetted area of the river bed. An increase in the removal rate of manganese as the net effect of increased discharge has been suggested (Gordon et al. 1984; Dortch et al. 1992) indicating that increased exposure to substrate more than compensates for decreased exposure time associated with increased flow. Gantzer et al. (1988) describes the process with mass transfer equations that account for an increase in the flux (supply) of a selected constituent (e.g., manganese) to deeper substrates (more substrate) as flow increases. Conclusions by Gordon (1989) that the hydraulic loading rate is critical to removal rates and increases in flow result in increases to the substrate also support the concept of increased removal as discharge increases. This

concept is also consistent with Goldberg (1954) who suggested that the longer the solid phase (i.e., substrate) is in contact with the solution, the more effective the uptake. Since flows vary from near immeasurable to very high during all discharge conditions, a tailwater with a sufficient area for low velocities to occur would provide sufficient removal time if enough substrate (and the associated microbial community) were available.

Individual effects of processes such as exposure time and supply on manganese removal are difficult to assess but can be further described from field studies conducted in 1995 that measured manganese removal as a function of time or distance at two separate discharges (0.5 and 1.7 m³ sec⁻¹, referred to as "low" flow and "high" flow respectively) for comparison to previously conducted studies at the same site. Manganese removal measured during the low flow field study indicated a first order removal process occurs but there is a lag period during the first 18 hours. This lag, while possibly a function of limited sampling or imprecise estimates of travel times, was most pronounced during the "high" flow release. The observed removal rate for the low flow study (0.986 day⁻¹) was in agreement with those of Dortch et al. (1992), who report removal rates ranging from 0.70 day⁻¹ for similar flows (0.71 m³ sec⁻¹) to 1.81 day⁻¹ for higher flows (5.66 m³ sec⁻¹). However, the lower rate observed for the "high" flow study (0.17 day⁻¹) and a similar rate calculated for the lag period of the low flow study (0.15 day⁻¹) were considerably lower than those observed by Dortch et al. (1992) suggesting conditions were not conducive for increased kinetics observed during other studies.

Comparability between the two relatively low removal rates observed for the first day of each study suggests that manganese removal in tailwaters follows a pseudo-first order process. Observations by Hem (1981) for water treatment systems also suggest a pseudofirst order process that is a function of substrate availability and supply of reduced manganese. Furthermore, Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman (1995) observed a wide range of removal rates (0.03 to 4.45 day⁻¹) at various reservoir tailwaters, suggesting that site characteristics may also contribute to removal processes. However, first order reactions have been successfully used to describe the manganese removal process in association with substrates in natural waters (Wilson 1980) and reservoir tailwaters (Gordon et al. 1984; Hess et al. 1989; and Dortch et al. 1992) when site characteristics such as stream depth and channel slope are included in estimates of removal rates (Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). These models do not include a mechanism for biological mediation which most likely accounts for the rapid kinetics relative to autocatalytic reactions described thermodynamically for higher pH systems (Morgan 1964).

Manganese removal rates observed in the April and August raceway studies (1.747 day⁻¹ and 1.451 day⁻¹, respectively) were in closer agreement with rates observed by Dortch et al. (1992) for the Nimrod tailwater at a higher flow rate near 5.66 m³ sec⁻¹ than the rates observed in the 1995 field studies. The initial lag period observed in the 1995 field studies was also observed by Dortch et al. (1992), but not in the April and August raceway studies. The lag in removal observed in field studies is not readily explainable but could be the result of sampling techniques that do not match sample collection with the actual time of travel since the lag was most pronounced for sampling conducted in this way. Another possible explanation for the observed lag is the coincident higher velocities in the immediate tailwater and concurrent approximate lag time of 0.8 days at most discharges. Even though

manganese accumulation was observed on the substrate in the immediate tailwater, indicating removal, the exposure time of manganese to substrate is at the lowest for the study reach since this is the region where maximum velocities occur. Lag times of manganese removal in the immediate tailwater were also observed at other sites investigated by Dortch et al. (1992).

Raceway studies conducted in July resulted in no, or limited manganese removal (after pH manipulations) indicating that unsuitable conditions for manganese removal can exist. While exact causes of little to no manganese removal during the July studies were not identified, the major potentially contributing water quality condition was lower pH values observed in the July study. The effect of pH on manganese removal (i.e., oxidation) is well documented but slow rates are attributed to higher pH values. The low rates observed in July under low pH conditions (e.g., < 5.5) may actually be attributed to inactivity of the biological community at the lower pH. Another probable contributor to low removal rates observed in July is the stress on the biological system associated with draining and refilling the raceways and the possible introduction of excessive amounts of chlorinated water. Insufficient acclimation by the biota, as suggested by Gordon and Burr (1989) and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman (1995), may also have contributed to observations of no or limited removal during the July studies.

Microbial community composition was more distinct between seasoned cobble and sediment (i.e., substrate size) than between areas with different velocities, suggesting substrate size has a greater impact on biotic structure than velocities. While the microbial communities from each of the sampling areas indicated potential manganese oxidizers, the greater potential for removal appears to be in the community associated with the larger

substrate. Although microbial populations were observed for all substrate sizes, the greater abundance on larger substrates indicates a potential for substrate size limitation, as observed by Chapnick et al. (1982) for particles less than 0.4 μ m, and/or a substrate size preference, as observed by (Ledger and Hildrew 1998). Substrate influences on microbial populations (both size and distribution) likely have a profound impact on the manganese removal in tailwaters.

Accumulation patterns of manganese on tailwater substrates and observed removal rates support first order removal reactions which allow predictive capabilities for describing downstream concentrations. Observations of accumulation on different size fractions indicates that substrate availability is probably not a limiting factor, however, high removal rates or kinetics, indicate that biological mechanisms (most likely associated with substrates) are important and could vary with substrate. Increased removal rates with increased discharge is likely the result of increased supply of manganese to the substrate and the biological community. Although removal rates have been estimated based on site characteristics such as stream depth, channel slope, and substrate size, results from the raceway studies and varied rates observed at the same field site suggest that other mechanisms (e.g., biological processes) may be used to estimate removal rates and would certainly be related to kinetic mechanisms that may better describe the removal of manganese in reservoir tailwaters.

CHAPTER 4 EFFECTS OF SUBSTRATE SIZE AND MICROBIAL PROCESSES ON MANGANESE REMOVAL

4.1 Introduction

Manganese removal is modeled quite well as a first order removal process (Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). However, removal rate coefficients, developed from field studies and modeled with stream depth, slope, substrate type (cobble versus fines) and water temperature, do not describe contributions of substrate size fractions to manganese removal or biological processes that contribute to kinetics that exceed predictions based on thermodynamics. In addition, biological mediation in manganese oxidation or removal has been described as a two-step process (e.g., Ehrlich 1963; Ehrlich et al. 1972; Emerson et al. 1982; Chapnick et al. 1982; Tebo and Emerson 1985) as a function of "binding" sites. It follows that prediction of removal rates may be more accurately described by incorporating substrate affects and biological processes into equations describing manganese removal. For example, the use of the Michaelis-Menton equation (Michaelis and Menton 1913) to further describe the kinetics and predict removal rates (Sunda and Huntsman 1987; Tebo and Emerson 1985 and 1986; Miyajima 1992a; Tebo et al. 1997) may be possible.

The objectives of this study were to identify the contribution of substrate size fractions and biological processes on manganese removal in reservoir tailwaters. Manganese removal rates associated with substrate size fractions collected from the tailwater of Nimrod Lake, AR were evaluated in poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms.

An assessment of the microbial biomass and community structure was also used to describe biological conditions associated with each substrate size fraction. Study results provided removal rates for each size fraction and allowed the partitioning of abiotic and biotic manganese removal. Results were used in assessing an existing first-order removal model and utilization of a negative hyperbolic function that provided a better fit to the data and allowed the use of a Michaelis-Menton type equation to describe manganese removal.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Microcosm Studies

For microcosm studies, substrate samples were collected with an Ekman dredge at Station B1 in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake, AR (see Figure 3.1), and separated in the laboratory using sieves. Size fractions included cobble and substrate in 3 separate size classes between 2.0 mm to 0.50 mm, 0.50 to 0.063 mm, and less than 0.063 mm. The study was conducted with triplicate experimental units. For the cobble size fraction, three approximately equal size cobbles were used for each microcosm. Approximately equal aliquots of material were used for the other size fractions. Water collected at the site was spiked with MnSO₄ to obtain an initial concentration of reduced manganese near 3.5 mg L⁻¹ and approximately 800 ml was immediately added to pre-cleaned, acid-washed 2 L beakers containing the substrates, or beakers without substrate that represented the water column (referred to as amended tailwater). Half of the experimental units received 1 ml of 1.5 M sodium azide to inhibit microbial uptake of reduced manganese (referred to as poisoned) and half did not receive the sodium azide (referred to as unpoisoned). Sampling

was conducted at selected intervals for the next 66 hours to describe removal rates of reduced manganese. All experimental units were held near 20 °C in a water bath and lightly mixed with air bubbles from an in-house air supply. The experiment was conducted in a room equipped with timers for the lighting system which provided a period of no lights from 2030 to 0600 hours. The pH of each experimental unit was measured at the initiation of the study and periodically throughout the study. The initial pH of the amended tailwater added to each microcosm was 7.1 and the poisoned microcosms remained relatively constant at a pH of 6.9 to 6.8 while the pH of the unpoisoned microcosms remained near 6.4 to 6.5. Although the pH was about a half of a standard unit lower in the unpoisoned microcosms, the pH in both treatments was considered to be within the range that allows microbial processes for removal. Samples for total and soluble manganese analysis were collected with a clean, acid-washed syringe and held in clean, acid-washed scintillation vials until analysis. Samples were filtered through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter in an in-line filter holder that attached to the syringe and the first 5-10 mls were used to rinse the filter and then were discarded. Samples were preserved with 3-5 drops of concentrated nitric acid. Analysis was conducted using a Jarrell-Ash Atom Comp Series 800 ICP. Reagent blanks and standards or standard curves were analyzed for all chemical analyses and results indicated near detection limits for the blank and near 100% recovery for the standards.

4.2.2 Analysis of Microbial Community Structure

Microbial biomass and community composition was determined by the analysis of membrane lipids using extraction techniques employing organic solvents (Vestal and

White 1989). With this approach, total concentrations of ester-linked phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) are recovered from the sample and used to estimate biomass (Balkwill et al., 1989) and microbial community composition (White et al., 1999). Different functional groups, such as gram-positive and gram-negative organisms, were identified by unique patterns of fatty acids (e.g. saturated, unsaturated, and branched moieties). The fatty acids can then be attributed to specific biosynthetic pathways, which differ among various functional groups of microbes.

The analysis of the microbial biomass and community composition in the tailwater of Nimrod Lake was conducted on substrate samples collected at Station B1 (see Figure 3.1) and used in the microcosm study described above. Substrates for each size fraction used in the microcosm uptake study were collected upon completion of the studies. Differential sample processing was conducted to insure maximum recovery of microbial biomass for the analysis. For the 2.00 to 0.50 mm and the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions, the overlying water was decanted and approximately 2 g of wet substrate (1.4 -1.6 g, dry weight) was collected for subsequent processing. Concentrations were reported per gram of dry weight. For the unpoisoned, amended water and the < 0.063 mm substrate, the samples were centrifuged and subsequent analysis was conducted on solids collected by centrifugation. Approximately 30 mL of the amended water and the < 0.063 mm substrate for the poisoned microcosms were collected for extraction in separatory funnels. Approximately 30 mL of water from each microcosm containing cobble was collected for extraction in separatory funnels.

Substrates used in the microcosm studies were prepared for lipid extraction as described in White and Ringelberg (1998) and Findlay and Dobbs (1993). Lipids were quantitatively recovered from substrate materials by saturation with 7 ml of organic solvent (CHCl₃:MeOH, 1:2, v:v) once the overlying water was decanted. The lipid extract was then partitioned against water (via the addition of $CH_2Cl_2:H_2O$, 1:1, v:v) and the organic phase aspirated to a pre-packed silica column (Burdick and Jackson, Muskegon, MI) from which non-polar and polar lipids were eluted with sequential washes of CH_2Cl_2 , acetone, and methanol. The polar (methanol) eluent was taken to dryness under N₂ and then subjected to a single-step trans-esterfication to form methyl esters of the recovered phospholipid fatty acids. The PLFA were then separated, identified and quantified by capillary gas-chromatography (Hewlett Packard 6890GC) coupled to a quadrapole mass spectrometer (model 5973 mass selective detector). Detection was by electron impact ionization at 70eV.

The PLFA analysis was conducted by Dave Ringelberg and Margaret Richmond at the Environmental Laboratory located at the US Army Engineer Research and Development Center in Vicksburg, MS. Dave Ringelberg provided interpretation of the data, hierarchical cluster analysis of the sample PLFA profiles, and preparation of associated figures.

4.2.3 Data Analysis

Statistical analyses of data for selected studies were conducted using linear regression techniques in SigmaPlot (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Univariate analysis was conducted with

SAS procedures on data sets and Shapiro-Wilkes statistics were used to test for normality on residuals. Linear regression analysis (with a no intercept model) and linear contrasts (SAS procedures) were used to compare dissolved manganese removal rates by treatment (nonpoisoned and poisoned) and size fraction. Individual regressions within treatments for each size fraction were also used to compare treatments and removal rates between size fractions with a mixed linear regression model using a SAS procedure with the Tukey adjustment. PLFA patterns were examined by hierarchical cluster analysis (Ward's Method) to determine similarities between samples using Statistica, version 5.1 (Statsoft, Inc., Tulsa, OK). The PLFA data were transformed using an arcsin square root function on mole percentage values. Values were reported in pmol PLFA gram⁻¹ for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm and the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions and in pmol PLFA ml⁻¹ for the extract from the cobble, the < 0.063 mm, and the amended water. These different methods of reporting PLFA results precluded quantitative comparisons between substrate sizes.

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Microcosm Studies

Dissolved manganese concentration responses were quite similar to responses of total manganese concentrations, and, consequently, were used to describe concentration responses for manganese in the microcosm studies. Data are compiled in Appendix C. Regressions are plotted for natural log transformed concentrations and time in days for comparison to raceway and field studies. In general, the residuals were normally distributed (Table 4.1) although the distributions for the < 0.063 mm size fraction in the poisoned microcosms were "marginally" significant (i.e., p < 0.10). Individual regressions

were also significant (p < 0.05) for all of the unpoisoned microcosms and the poisoned microcosms with the 2.00 mm to 0.50 mm and cobble size fractions, indicating slopes greater than zero and removal of dissolved manganese with time (Table 4.1). Regressions for the poisoned microcosms for the 0.50 mm to 0.063 mm, < 0.063 mm, and the amended water were not significant and indicated no removal of manganese with time. Removal rates for dissolved manganese ranged from 1.910 to 0.049 day⁻¹ for the unpoisoned microcosms and from 0.732 to 0.007 for the poisoned microcosms (Table 4.1). Additional discussion of removal rates is included later in this chapter.

Individual regressions for both treatments in the cobble size fraction and the unpoisoned treatments in the 2.00 mm to 0.50 mm and 0.50 mm to 0.063 mm size fractions were significantly different (p < 0.05), Table 4.2, indicating differences in removal rates for the three replicate microcosms in each respective size fraction. Individual regressions within treatments for each substrate size fraction were not significantly different (p < 0.05) for the amended water, the < 0.063 mm size fraction, the poisoned 0.05 mm to 0.063 mm, and the poisoned 2.00 mm to 0.05 mm size fractions (Table 4.2). Regressions that were not significantly different within a treatment indicated that manganese removal rates were not different for that treatment and size fraction.

Differences in poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms were observed and results of regression analyses and linear contrasts indicated significant differences (p < 0.05) between treatments for all size fractions and in the amended water sample (Table 4.3). When each individual regression within each treatment was used (PROC MIXED using SAS procedures) the treatments were still significantly different (p < 0.05) for each size

Size Fraction and Treatment	Shapiro-Wilkes Value Pr < W	Regression Value p < 0.05	Rate day ⁻¹ Natural Log Concentration
Cobble - Unpoisoned	0.9692	0.0001	-1.605
Cobble - Unpoisoned	0.4854	0.0001	-1.478
Cobble - Unpoisoned	0.9355	0.0017	-1.396
Cobble - Poisoned	0.108	0.0002	-0.732
Cobble - Poisoned	0.3845	0.0106	-0.290
Cobble - Poisoned	0.1518	0.01	-0.247
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Unpoisoned	0.9471	0.0016	-0.760
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Unpoisoned	0.0863	0.0001	-1.910
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Unpoisoned	0.8248	0.0008	-1.850
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Poisoned	0.9323	0.0067	-0.203
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Poisoned	0.657	0.0019	-0.087
2.00 - 0.50 mm - Poisoned	0.8241	0.0002	-0.144
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.7243	0.0002	-1.830
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.4637	0.0001	-1.594
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.9284	0.0014	-1.584
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.4651	0.0634	-0.120
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.1365	0.0877	-0.093
0.50 - 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.1825	0.1345	-0.073
< 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.4886	0.0003	-0.340
< 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.4387	0.002	-0.334
< 0.063 mm - Unpoisoned	0.4273	0.0011	-0.310
< 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.0607	0.5244	-0.032
< 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.0251	0.3031	-0.050
< 0.063 mm - Poisoned	0.0567	0.3264	-0.040
Water Column - Unpoisoned	0.2214	0.0002	-0.193
Water Column - Unpoisoned	0.8969	0.0099	-0.049
Water Column - Unpoisoned	0.8229	0.0124	-0.133
Water Column - Poisoned	0.5387	0.6627	-0.007
Water Column - Poisoned	0.976	0.2203	-0.010
Water Column - Poisoned	0.5283	0.1598	-0.023

Table 4.1. Summary of univariate and regression analyses of manganese removal in unpoisoned and poisoned microcosms.

fraction (Table 4.4). Differences between treatments indicated that removal of dissolved manganese is affected by biological processes that can be inhibited with the addition of sodium azide. Furthermore, substrate size (including the amended water) had no effect on differences between treatments.

Contrast	DF	Contrast SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Cobble - Unpoisoned	2	1.2985	0.6493	7.15	0.0024
Cobble - Poisoned	2	1.8257	0.9129	10.05	0.0003
2.00 mm - 0.50 mm Unpoisoned	2	8.8269	4.4135	48.64	0.0001
2.00 mm - 0.50 mm Poisoned	2	0.2239	0.1120	1.23	0.3031
0.50 mm - 0.063 mm Unpoisoned	2	0.8238	0.4119	3.54	0.0396
0.50 mm - 0.063 mm Poisoned	2	0.0309	0.0154	0.13	0.8763
< 0.063 mm Unpoisoned	2	0.0015	0.0007	0.03	0.9749
< 0.063 mm Poisoned	2	0.0010	0.0005	0.02	0.9829
Amended water, no substrate - Unpoisoned	2	0.0214	0.0107	3.17	0.0541
Amended water, no substrate - Poisoned	2	0.0007	0.0003	0.11	0.8965

Table 4.2. Summary of linear contrasts for within treatment regressions for each substrate size.

Contrast	DF	Contrast SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Cobble	1	15.9959	15.9959	176.08	0.0001
2.00 mm -0.50 mm	1	26.3810	26.3810	290.75	0.0001
0.50 mm - 0.063 mm	1	39.4188	39.4188	338.57	0.0001
< 0.063 mm	1	1.400	1.400	47.83	0.0001
Amended water, no substrate	1	0.2676	0.2676	79.21	0.0001

Table 4.3. Summary of linear contrasts between treatments for each size fraction.

Table 4.4. Summary of mixed regression analysis between treatments for each size fraction.

Substrate Size	DF	Difference	Std. Err.	t	Pr > t
Cobble	28	-0.7273	0.1194	-6.09	0.0001
2.00 mm - 0.50 mm	28	-1.0526	0.1906	-5.52	0.0001
0.50 mm - 0.063 mm	28	-1.2490	0.0682	-18.31	0.0001
< 0.063 mm	28	-0.1664	0.0089	-29.88	0.0001
Amended Water	28	-0.1007	0.0132	-7.62	0.0001

Differences between manganese removal rates for the poisoned microcosms between size fractions were significant (p < 0.05) for all comparisons using linear contrasts within each size fraction except for the 2.00 mm to 0.50 mm versus the 0.50 mm to < 0.063 mm, the 2.00 mm to 0.50 mm versus the < 0.063 mm, and the 0.05 mm to < 0.063 mm versus the < 0.063 mm size fractions (Table 4.5). Similar results were observed when regression analysis using the mixed model was applied except that a significant difference was observed for the 0.50 to < 0.063 mm versus the < 0.063 mm size fractions (Table 4.6). Differences in removal rates by size on poisoned substrate indicate that substrate size has an affect on manganese removal with highest rates occurring on the cobble. Lower rates, associated with the 2.00 to 0.05 mm size fraction, were not significantly different than the smaller size fractions and the amended water and likely near zero since the smaller size fractions were not significantly different from zero (see Table 4.1).

Differences between manganese removal rates for the unpoisoned microcosms between size fractions were significant (p < 0.05) using linear contrasts for all comparisons except for the cobble versus the 2.00 mm to 0.50 mm size fractions (Table 4.7). Results of regression analysis using the mixed model indicated that removal rates for the cobble and the 0.5 to 0.063 mm size fraction and the 2.00 to 0.50 mm and the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions were also not significantly different (Table 4.8).

Contrast	DF	Contrast SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Cobble vs 2.00 - 0.50 mm	1	2.600	2.600	106.97	0.0001
Cobble vs 0.50 - 0.063 mm	1	2.447	2.447	100.65	0.0001
Cobble vs < 0.063 mm	1	3.098	3.098	127.46	0.0001
Cobble vs Amended water	1	5.008	5.008	206.05	0.0001
2.00 - 0.50 vs 0.50 - < 0.063 mm	1	0.0023	0.0023	0.10	0.7573
2.00 - 0.50 vs < 0.063 mm	1	0.0218	0.0218	0.90	0.3461
2.00 - 0.50 mm vs Amended water	1	0.3912	0.3912	16.10	0.0001
0.50 - < 0.063 vs < 0.063 mm	1	0.0384	0.0384	1.58	0.2120
0.50 - < 0.063mm vs Amended water	1	0.4540	0.4540	18.68	0.0001
< 0.063 mm vs Amended water	1	0.2283	0.2283	9.39	0.0029

Table 4.5. Summary of linear contrasts between size fractions for poisoned microcosms.

Substrate Size	DF	Difference	Std. Err.	t	Pr > t
Cobble vs 2.00 - 0.50 mm	28	-0.4432	0.0854	-5.19	0.0001*
Cobble vs 0.50 - 0.063 mm	28	-0.3822	0.0800	-4.78	0.0001*
Cobble vs < 0.063 mm	28	-0.4215	0.0793	-5.32	0.0001
Cobble vs Amended water	28	0.5978	0.0793	7.54	0.0001
2.00 - 0.50 vs 0.50 - < 0.063 mm	28	0.0609	0.03397	1.79	0.0835*
2.00 - 0.50 vs < 0.063 mm	28	0.0217	0.0323	0.67	0.5074*
2.00 - 0.50 mm vs Amended water	28	0.1546	0.324	4.78	0.0001*
0.50 - < 0.063 vs < 0.063 mm	28	-0.0393	0.0118	-3.34	0.0024
0.50 - < 0.063mm vs Amended water	28	0.2156	0.0119	18.06	0.0001
< 0.063 mm vs Amended water	28	0.1763	0.0056	31.59	0.0001

Table 4.6. Summary of mixed model comparisons between size fractions for poisoned microcosms.

* Denotes no significant interactions

Table 4.7. Summary of linear contrasts between size fractions for unpoisoned microcosms.

Contrast	DF	Contrast SS	Mean Square	F Value	Pr > F
Cobble vs 2.00 - 0.50 mm	1	0.2263	0.2263	2.10	0.1512
Cobble vs 0.50 - 0.063 mm	1	0.5110	0.5110	4.73	0.0322
Cobble vs < 0.063 mm	1	20.94	20.94	193.99	0.0001
Cobble vs Amended water	1	32.7197	32.7197	303.8	0.0001
2.00 - 0.50 vs 0.50 - < 0.063 mm	1	1.4173	1.4173	13.13	0.0005
2.00 - 0.50 vs < 0.063 mm	1	16.8154	16.8154	155.76	0.0001
2.00 - 0.50 mm vs Amended water	1	27.5041	27.5041	254.77	0.0001
0.50 - < 0.063 vs < 0.063 mm	1	27.9965	27.9965	259.33	0.0001
0.50 - < 0.063mm vs Amended water	1	41.4086	41.4086	383.56	0.0008
< 0.063 mm vs Amended water	1	1.3082	1.3082	12.12	0.0029

Substrate Size	DF	Difference	Std. Err.	t	Pr > t
Cobble vs 2.00 - 0.50 mm	28	-0.1179	0.2080	-0.57	0.5753*
Cobble vs 0.50 - 0.063 mm	28	0.1395	0.1118	1.25	0.2226*
Cobble vs < 0.063 mm	28	-0.8824	0.0897	-9.84	0.0001
Cobble vs Amended water	28	1.2245	0.0902	13.57	0.0001
2.00 - 0.50 vs 0.50 - < 0.063 mm	28	0.2574	0.1995	1.29	0.2076*
2.00 - 0.50 vs < 0.063 mm	28	-0.7645	0.1880	-4.07	0.0004
2.00 - 0.50 mm vs Amended water	28	1.1065	0.1883	5.88	0.0001
0.50 - < 0.063 vs < 0.063 mm	28	-1.0219	0.0678	-15.08	0.0001
0.50 - < 0.063mm vs Amended water	28	1.3639	0.0684	19.93	0.0001
< 0.063 mm vs Amended water	28	0.3421	0.0149	22.92	0.0001

Table 4.8. Summary of mixed model comparisons between size fractions for unpoisoned microcosms.

* Denotes no significant interactions

Dissolved manganese concentrations in the microcosms with cobble size substrate decreased in a curvilinear, exponential pattern (Figure 4.1). Removal rates within and between treatments were different (p < 0.05, Tables 4.2 and 4.3 or 4.4, respectively) and removal rates for the unpoisoned cobble were greater than rates observed for the poisoned cobble. The rate of decrease was similar in both poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms for the first 5 - 10 hours but while concentrations continued to decrease to near the detection limit in the unpoisoned microcosms, concentrations in the poisoned concentrations remained relatively constant well above the detection limit.

Rates for the unpoisoned cobble ranged from -1.4 to -1.6 day⁻¹ (Figure 4.2), which is comparable to rates observed in the raceway and field studies described in Chapter 3. Linear regression analyses of log transformed data accounted for 88 to 99 % of the



Figure 4.1. Manganese concentrations in the microcosms with cobble substrate.



Figure 4.2. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) cobble substrates.

variability. In the poisoned microcosms, removal rates of -0.25 to -0.76 day⁻¹ were lower than those observed for unpoisoned cobble and regression analysis accounted for 76 to 95 % of the variability. Unlike the removal observed for the unpoisoned cobble, concentrations did not decrease to the detection limit and, in general, removal greatly decreased after a period of approximately 10 - 20 hours indicating substrate limitation.

Removal rates for the unpoisoned cobble were not significantly different (p > 0.05) than removal rates for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction (Tables 4.7 and 4.8) or the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fraction (Table 4.8). Removal rates were significantly greater for the cobble than for the remaining, smaller size fractions. In the poisoned microcosms, removal rates for the cobble were significantly greater than removal rates for all other size fractions (Tables 4.5 and 4.6).

Results indicate that, for cobble, manganese removal can occur for about 10-15 hours until all of the oxide coating that is providing sites for manganese binding is utilized. The biological community (when active or uninhibited) likely maintains the removal processes by providing additional substrate as exterior coatings. Removal for cobble only substrate was comparable to size fractions between 2.00 to 0.50 mm and 0.50 mm to 0.063 mm suggesting similar removal rates would be expected in streams with coarse sediments but not cobble.

Results similar to those observed in the cobble microcosms were observed for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction (Figures 4.3 and 4.4) with a greater exponential rate of concentration decrease for the unpoisoned microcosms than for the poisoned microcosms. In the poisoned microcosms, the initial, rapid rate of decrease occurred primarily during



Figure 4.3. Manganese concentrations in microcosms with the 2.00 - 0.50 mm size fraction substrate.



Figure 4.4. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) 2.00 - 0.50 mm size fraction substrate.

the first 5 hours, although decreased concentrations in one microcosm continued until near 20 hours, demonstrating variability between microcosms within treatments. Removal rates in the poisoned microcosms were relatively low ranging from -0.09 to -0.2 day⁻¹. However, regression analysis accounted for 80 to 95 % of the variability. Variability within treatments was also apparent for the unpoisoned microcosms with the occurrence of a lower removal rate (-0.76 day⁻¹) for one microcosm compared to removal rates of -1.91 and -1.85 day⁻¹ for the other two microcosms although the regressions accounted for 88 to 98% of the variability. Removal rates in the unpoisoned microcosms were comparable to rates observed for unpoisoned cobble (Tables 4.7 and 4.8) and the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fraction (Table 4.8). Removal to near detection limit concentrations was observed for the unpoisoned microcosms during the 66 hours of observation.

Concentration decreases observed for the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fractions (Figures 4.5 and 4.6) were less variable and the deviation in concentration decreases between treatments was apparent at about 10 hours after initiation of the experiment. Removal rates for the poisoned microcosms were relatively low, ranging from -0.12 to -0.07 and not significantly different from 0 suggesting no removal (p > 0.05, Table 4.1). Regression analysis accounted for only 39 to 53 % of the variability indicating a different model may be more appropriate. Removal rates observed for the unpoisoned microcosms (1.8 to 1.6 day⁻¹) were significantly higher (p < 0.05) than rates observed for poisoned microcosms, comparable to rates observed for the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fractions (Table 4.8), and regression analysis explained 89 to 95 % of the variability. Removal to near detection



Figure 4.5. Manganese concentrations in microcosms with the 0.50 - 0.063 mm size fraction substrate.



Figure 4.6. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) 0.50 - 0.063 mm size fraction substrate.

limit concentrations was observed for the unpoisoned microcosms during the 66 hours of observation.

Manganese removal in the < 0.063 mm size fraction microcosms was similar to observations of other size fractions with a rapid decrease in both poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms in the first 5 hours followed by a much lower rate of decrease for the unpoisoned microcosms and essentially no decrease occurred after this time in the poisoned microcosms (Figures 4.7 and 4.8). Although concentrations continued to decrease in the unpoisoned microcosms, concentrations did not decrease to the detection limit as observed for larger substrate size fractions. Incomplete removal of manganese in the poisoned microcosms indicates substrate limitation, which may also be limited in the unpoisoned microcosms by "decreased" biological processes (although continued observations may have demonstrated complete removal after an extended period of time). Removal rates in the poisoned microcosms were not significantly different (p > 0.05, Table 4.1) from 0, indicating no removal, and regression analysis explained only 9 to 19 % of the variability indicating that another model may be more appropriate. Although removal rates were relatively low (-0.34 to -0.31 day⁻¹) for the unpoisoned microcosms, they were significantly different from 0 (p < 0.05, Table 4.1), indicating removal but at a lower rate than the rate observed for cobble, yet comparable to the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction (Table 4.8).

In the microcosms with the amended water (representing release water), decreases in dissolved manganese concentrations occurred primarily in the first five hours and then remained relatively constant until 40 hours when concentrations in the unpoisoned


Figure 4.7. Manganese concentrations in microcosms with the < 0.063 mm size fraction substrate.



Figure 4.8. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) < 0.063 mm size fraction substrate.

microcosms decreased by about 30% over the duration of the study (Figures 4.9 and 4.10). After an initial decrease during the first five hours, dissolved manganese concentrations in the poisoned microcosms remained relatively constant and the regressions for both treatments were not significantly different from 0 (p > 0.05, Table 4.1). As observed for smaller size fractions, regression analysis explained only 4 to 35 % of the variability for the unpoisoned microcosms indicating a different model may be more appropriate. However regression analysis for the unpoisoned microcosms for the larger size fractions explained 49 to 95 % of the variability.

Daily removal rates were calculated with an exponential decay function of the regression slope for day 1 and day 2 using the maximum and minimum regression for each size fraction and treatment class that were significantly different from 0 (p < 0.05, Table 4.1) and results are presented in Table 4.9. For the larger size fractions (cobble, 2.00 to 0.50 mm, and 0.50 to 0.063 mm), removal on the first day was between 53 and 85 % with mostly greater that 95 % removal occurring by the second day. These removal rates are comparable to observations of others (Gordon 1989; Hem 1981; Hess et al. 1989; and Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995) and half-lifes of 1-7 days (Lewis 1976) and quarter-life values near 0.2 and 0.25 days (Gordon et al. 1989). A higher rate of manganese removal (93 % in the initial 10 minutes) has been observed by Kepkay (1985). Manganese removal in the < 0.063 mm size fraction (fines) was at a rate about half of that observed for larger size fractions (near 27 % for day 1 and 48 % for day 2, Table 4.9). Removal rates in the poisoned microcosms with the cobble and the 2.00 to 0.50 mm substrates ranged from 22 - 52 % and 8 - 18 %, respectively, for the first day and from 39 - 77 % and 16 to 34 %,



Figure 4.9. Manganese concentrations in microcosms with only amended water from the Nimrod Lake tailwater.



Figure 4.10. Linear regressions (no intercept) for the poisoned (dashed line) and unpoisoned (solid line) amended water from the Nimrod Lake tailwater.

Microcosm	Rate	% Removed Day 1	% Removed Day 2
Unpoisoned Cobble	-1.396	75.24	93.87
	-1.605	79.91	95.96
Unpoisoned 2.00 - 0.50 mm	-0.76	53.23	78.13
	-1.91	85.19	97.81
Unpoisoned 0.50 - 0.063 mm	-1.584	79.48	95.79
	-1.83	83.96	97.43
Unpoisoned < 0.063 mm	-0.31	26.66	46.21
	-0.34	28.82	49.34
Unpoisoned Amended Water	-0.049	4.78	9.34
	-0.193	17.55	32.02
Poisoned Cobble	-0.247	21.89	38.98
	-0.732	51.91	76.87
Poisoned 2.00 - 0.05 mm	-0.087	8.33	15.97
	-0.203	18.37	3.37

Table 4.9. Maximum and minimum removal rates of manganese for microcosms.

respectively, for the second day, indicating substantial removal in the absence of biological processes if sufficient substrate exists.

Nonlinear regression analyses indicated that a hyperbolic decay function with 3 coefficients would provide a better fit for both the unpoisoned and poisoned data. The following equation was used to describe each regression for the microcosms:

(4.1)
$$f = y0 + ((a*b)/(b+x))$$

where: f = concentration, x = time, and y0, a, and b are coefficients calculated with input of concentration and time. This equation, with the coefficients calculated for each microcosm, improved the fit of the model to the data for nearly all of the microcosms (Table 4.10). This model did not provide an improved fit for 2 of the regressions in the poisoned microcosms with the < 0.063 mm size substrate and 1 regression in the poisoned microcosm with amended water only. Examples of the curves fit are depicted in Figure 4.11.

4.3.2 Microbial Community Analysis

Differences in community structure were observed between the four size fractions of cobble used in the microcosm uptake studies (Figure 4.12). The three size fractions representing substrate of <0.063 mm diameter to 2 mm in diameter contained unique and distinct microbial communities from those observed in the tailwater (referred to as a control in Figure 4.12) and cobble samples. This differentiation likely represents a difference between adhered and bulk phase populations since the aqueous portion of the cobble was analyzed and not the rock. PLFA profiles for the other three size fractions are illustrated in Figure 4.13. The upper two size fractions, 2.0 - 0.5mm and 0.5 - 0.063mm, showed showed a greater abundance of the 18 carbon PLFA monounsaturate 18:1w7c, compared to the < 0.063 fraction which showed a greater relative percentage of the 16 carbon moiety, 16:1w7c. This is a clear taxonomic difference, but unfortunately one difficult to describe due to the ubiquitous distribution of both of these acids among Gramnegative bacteria. The presence of either PLFA is conducive to the presence of



Figure 4.11. Examples of hyperbolic decay model (Equation 4.1) fit to data from unpoisoned and poisoned microsms.

Microcosm	r ² for Exponential Decay	r ² for Hyperbolic Decay
Amended Water (Unpoisoned)	0.945	0.9729
Amended Water (Unpoisoned)	0.488	0.8843
Amended Water (Unpoisoned)	0.745	0.8682
Amended Water (Poisoned)	0.041	0.2095
Amended Water (Poisoned)	0.283	0.7938
Amended Water (Poisoned)	0.353	0.6866
< 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.940	0.9380
< 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.780	0.9160
< 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.902	0.9506
< 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.086	0.0972
< 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.211	0.1459
< 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.192	0.9761
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.950	0.9917
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.992	0.9967
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.889	0.9815
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.532	0.9898
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.474	0.9943
0.50 - 0.063 mm (Poisoned)	0.390	0.9825
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.883	0.9859
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.980	0.9951
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Unpoisoned)	0.913	0.9968
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Poisoned)	0.799	0.9929
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Poisoned)	0.876	0.8619
0.50 - 2.00 mm (Poisoned)	0.954	0.9434
Cobble (Unpoisoned)	0.994	0.9961
Cobble (Unpoisoned)	0.983	0.9962
Cobble (Unpoisoned)	0.882	0.9969
Cobble (Poisoned)	0.954	0.9994
Cobble (Poisoned)	0.760	0.9980
Cobble (Poisoned)	0.766	0.9967

Table 4.10. Comparison of exponential decay model and hyperbolic decay model for each microcosm.



Figure 4.12. Hierarchical cluster analyses for the different size fractions used in the microcosm study.

manganese oxidation, in that both are predominant in the cell membranes of bacteria such as *Pseudomonas fluorescense* and *Leptothrix discophora* (manganese oxidizing bacteria).

The 2.0 - 0.5 mm size fraction showed additional unique characteristics. The relative percentages of 16:0 and 18:0, palmitic and stearic acids, were depleted whereas cyclopropyl PLFA (cy17:0 and cy19:0) and methyl branched PLFA (10me16:0) were enhanced. This taxonomic difference is interesting since the conversion of 16:0 to 10me16:0, 16:1w7c to cy17:0 and 18:1w7c to cy19:0 all involve the presence of a transmethylation enzyme suggesting a predominance of a single genera of bacteria. The taxonomic differences described above indicate that the different size fractions support different microbial communities.



Figure 4.13. Microbial community composition associated with selected size fractions in the microcosm study.

The presence of sodium azide had no effect on total PLFA concentration (Figure 4.14). Microbial biomass in the poisoned samples equaled and often exceeded that observed in the corresponding un-poisoned samples. Consequently, it was not possible to normalize manganese removal rates with biomass. Sodium azide inhibits the transfer of e⁻⁴s to oxygen during cellular respiration and, as a result, should inhibit cell growth as well. However, sodium azide may also interfere with enzyme activity (it is often used as a medicine preservative) and it may not result in cell lysis. If phospholipase activity is hindered and/or cell membranes retain their integrity, then membrane phospholipids will remain intact and the assay will record a biomass for a viable but non-metabolically active population. This may well be the situation encountered in this study. If so, then the

recorded biomass at the end of the study (66 hours) indicates that there was little to no growth in the extant (un-poisoned microbial populations). Although the use of sodium azide appears to have hindered the use of the PLFA assay in relating microbial biomass to manganese removal, it does not interfere with taxonomic descriptions.



Figure 4.14. Viable biomass estimates after completion of the microcosm study. * Denotes concentration per ml for volumetric extractions.

137

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

4.4 Summary and Conclusions

Separation of substrate by size fractions and measuring manganese removal in poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms allowed assessment of the contribution of different size fractions and biological processes. Results indicated that if there is sufficient substrate and an active biological community, near complete removal of manganese (at an intial concentration representative of reservoir tailwaters) can occur in about 2 days. The removal can be modeled with an exponential decay equation which accounts for greater than 90% of the variability. Although the removal is described with a first-order reaction, inhibition of biological removal processes demonstrated a two-step process was occurring. Initial removal (within approximately 10 hours) was comparable in both poisoned and unpoisoned microcosms (step one) and then only maintained at the same exponential rate with biological processes (step two). A two-step removal process has been described with adsorption and subsequent oxidation reactions by several investigators (e.g., Morgan 1964; Crerar and Barnes 1974, Hess et al. 1989) and Hem (1981) who includes a secondorder term that accounts for substrate precipitation. The two-step model has also been described with biological processes of "binding" and development of exterior coatings on bacteria followed by oxidation of the reduced manganese for cell metabolism (e.g., Ehrlich 1977; Emerson et al. 1982; Tebo and Emerson 1985; Hastings and Emerson 1986; Mandernack et al. 1995a).

Greater removal rates observed for the cobble and larger substrate size fractions and much higher biomass associated with the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction and the 0.50 to 0.063 mm size fraction than with the < 0.063 mm size fraction supports the conceptual

model of removal dependency on substrate size and the microbial community. Although it was not possible to measure or estimate the surface area of all size fractions, Ledger and Hildrew (1998) demonstrated that biomass distribution was a function of substrate size with greater populations occurring on larger substrate sizes and this may account for similar observations in this study. PLFA extraction methods used on the cobble and small size fractions (< 0.063 mm and amended tailwater) precluded assessment of biomass contributions at higher and smaller size fractions.

Removal rates, generally observed for substrates greater than 0.063 to 0.50 mm, were comparable to those of field studies (e.g., Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). There were observations of lower removal rates (near -0.7 day⁻¹) in these size classes for both the poisoned cobble size fraction and the unpoisoned 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction that still accounted for greater than 75% of the manganese removal within 2 days. These rates were comparable to those observed in field studies at Nimrod Lake conducted in 1995 and described in Chapter 3.

The use of a hyperbolic decay equation to describe manganese removal provided an even better fit for most of the data, especially for the poisoned microcosms. This type of equation resembles the Michaelis-Menton equation and uses coefficients that could be used to represent microbial activity or uptake, or, increasing substrate area, which are likely mechanisms that account for the observed patterns in manganese removal. Conditions with very limited substrate availability and/or microbial mediation, (e.g., small size fractions (< 0.063 mm and the amended water) and microbial inhibition (poisoned))

were not described very well with the hyperbolic decay equation unless there was an initial removal (most likely attributed to some substrate availability).

Microbial community analysis and biomass estimation with the PLFA extractions indicated a high potential for the presence of Gram-negative bacteria with characteristics of species capable of oxidizing reduced manganese. There was evidence that a single genera was dominant on the 2.00 to 0.50 mm size fraction. Biomass estimates were variable between size fractions, yet similar removal rates observed for the larger size fractions suggests that sufficient biomass was present and removal was not limited under conditions of the study. In a different approach using addition of substrate to established larger microbial populations, LaRock (1969) demonstrated that manganese uptake increases linearly as the inoculum increased. Similar uptake rates observed for the larger size fractions with greatly different microbial biomass suggests that there is a point in which some factor other than microbial biomass limits the rate of manganese removal. In other words, as long as there is a sufficient microbial population, manganese removal will occur at the rates observed in the microcosm study. Additional studies are required to determine the maximum rate of manganese removal and what factors (e.g., environmental conditions, microbial community structure and size) contribute to maximum removal rates.

Results indicated that manganese removal is comparable for size fractions greater than 0.063 mm that support an active microbial community. Chapnick et al. (1982) reported limited manganese uptake on substrates less than 0.45 μ m so there is likely a relationship between size and microbial preference for size as described by Ledger and Hildrew (1998) that could be used to further differentiate. However, since most reservoir

tailwaters will have substrate of various sizes and will likely contain material greater than 0.063 mm, substrate limitation for abiotic removal will probably not be the limiting factor and biological processes will indeed be important. Additional studies to describe biological rates of manganese removal and the associated increased in manganese oxide coatings should be conducted for incorporation into the hyperbolic decay equation.

CHAPTER 5 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The objectives of this study were to describe the fate of manganese in reservoir releases and determine the contribution of abiotic and biological processes to the removal of manganese in the tailwater. Spatial and temporal patterns in the distribution of manganese during selected releases and on different substrate sizes were measured in a reservoir tailwater (Nimrod Lake), and manganese removal rates were assessed in raceway and microcosm studies. Study results were then incorporated into an assessment of existing models used to predict the fate of manganese in tailwaters and compared to predictions from a hyperbolic decay model that functions like a Michaelis-Menton equation and can be used to account for biological processes in manganese removal.

The removal of manganese from reservoir tailwaters is a combination of abiotic adsorption and biological processes that are related to substrate availability and environmental conditions that affect the biological processes. Biological mediation accounts for kinetic removal rates in excess of predictions based on thermodynamics and stoichiometric reactions. Removal rates can be described with first-order reactions, but the actual removal process is described by a two-step process that includes an initial binding of manganese to existing substrate that may actually be a chemical (i.e., abiotic) process and continued binding to biologically produced substrates (e.g., ferromanganese coatings on selected bacteria). Several investigations have documented the abiotic removal (step one) as function of environmental conditions such as manganese

concentrations, dissolved oxygen concentrations, oxidation-reduction potentials, and pH (e.g., Morgan 1964; Stumm and Morgan 1981). Early chemical investigations often focused on oxidation states and mineral formation (e.g., Bricker 1965) and often described the actual process as a two-step process (e.g., Morgan 1964). In general, the second step has also been described to occur in two steps, initial binding by bacteria and subsequent oxidation at a later time (e.g., Ehrlich 1975; Tebo and Emerson 1985; and Hastings and Emerson 1986). The distinction is oxidation versus removal where removal does not describe oxidation state, but merely removal or a decrease in concentration from the water column. These processes result in temporal and spatial removal of manganese from reservoir tailwaters.

Efforts to predict manganese removal in rivers and reservoir tailwaters have focused on first order (Gordon 1989; Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995) and pseudo-first order reactions (Hem 1981) that have incorporated various environmental conditions (concentration, pH, dissolved oxygen concentrations) and tailwater conditions such as slope, substrate type, and discharge. While some early models were applied with less success at sites (Hess et al. 1989), recent modifications to early first order models have been applied at other sites with more success when site characteristics are incorporated into removal rate coefficients (Dortch and Hamlin-Tillman 1995). However, these modifications did not include removal affected by biological processes which is often the major mechanism of removal if substrate for adsorption is limited. In other words, application of first order removal equations may be appropriate, but the mechanism(s) that result in the first order removal have not been adequately considered or incorporated into

model development. Since conditions in rivers and reservoir tailwaters are conducive to development of microbial populations (i.e., sufficient nutrient supply, appropriate pH, and adequate substrate), observations of manganese removal in the field may be attributed to biologically mediated processes, yet described with simple, first order reactions. Agreement for half-life (1-7 days, Lewis 1976) and quarter-life (4-6 days) removal of manganese compared to years in abiotic settings also supports the concept of biological mediation. Furthermore, comparability between sites also suggests that a range of environmental conditions, common to rivers and tailwaters, results in comparable removal rates and allows simplification of descriptive reactions and models.

Evaluation of manganese concentration distributions on substrate from the tailwater of Nimrod Dam and Lake on the Fourche La Fave River in Arkansas indicated lateral variability in adsorption onto cobble size substrate in the region immediately downstream from the dam, an extended area of accumulation for approximately 3 kilometers, and a general tendency for a linear decrease with distance from the dam. Manganese accumulation was observed on selected substrate size fractions that include cobble, 2.00 to 0.50 mm, 0.50 mm to 0.063 mm, and less than 0.063 mm substrates. Limited sampling of each substrate size for all downstream sites indicated that manganese removal was not limited by substrate size. Studies of removal rates for selected sizes of substrate indicated that removal rates were greater for larger substrate size fractions with minimal removal for substrate sizes between 0.50 and 0.063 mm and less than 0.063 mm. Therefore, the null hypothesis (Ho1: Manganese removal rates do not vary with size) is rejected and substrate size does influence manganese removal. However, given the

comparability of removal rates for cobble and the larger size fractions, implications of substrate influences on manganese removal in reservoir tailwaters may be important for tailwaters that have mixed substrate sizes and less important for tailwaters that are dominated by fine material (e.g., mud or silt). These results are also consistent with Chapnick et al. (1982) in which removal of manganese was minimal at sizes less than 0.45 μ m.

Greater removal rates in unpoisoned microcosms than in poisoned microcosms indicated that Ho2 (Microbial populations are not a major mechanism of manganese removal.) is false and, indeed, microbial populations are major contributors to manganese removal. While this conclusion is not surprising, given the body of literature that describes biologically mediated manganese removal, only a limited number of studies have been conducted to differentiate the contribution of microbial processes on manganese removal, and even fewer studies have attempted to incorporate measurements of biological processes into manganese removal process in reservoir tailwaters.

Bacterial removal of manganese is accomplished with binding of the aqueous manganese via proposed mechanisms such as the production of enzymes (Arcuri and Ehrlich 1980) and proteins (Van Veen et al. 1978; Adams and Ghiorse 1988) and alteration of conditions such as Eh and pH in a microhabitat (Marshall 1979). The binding of the manganese (and iron and other heavy metals sequestered in the process) results in extracellular formation of ferromanganese oxides on sheaths and other structures which are amorphous and have a large surface area that provides additional substrate for continued binding in an autocatalytic fashion.

Detailed studies in the microcosms provided evidence that manganese oxidizing bacteria were present on the tailwater substrate, particularly for the intermediate sized substrates and that biomass was not critical for efficient manganese removal as long as sufficient biomass was present. Attempts to culture manganese oxidizing bacteria were conducted with samples collected from the field an a first generation of bacteria were produced, confirming the presence of manganese oxidizing bacteria associated with the substrate. The bacteria are mostly all attached to substrate in highly structured assemblages that often consist of microcolonies of single bacterial taxa (Costerton and Lappin-Scott 1995). Ledger and Hildrew (1998) have observed an increase in biofilm quantities as substrate size increases, suggesting habitat preferences exist. As suggested by Rosson et al. (1984) and Emerson et al. (1982), large populations or a high percentage of active biota are not necessarily indicative of a high potential for removal. LaRock (1969) however demonstrated that removal increased linearly with an increase in biota. These concepts support the use of a Michaelis-Menton equation in the description of manganese removal which could account for biological production of substrate to continue the removal.

A conceptual model for manganese removal can be developed from the literature and results of the studies described in previous chapters. First, a two-step removal process is clear both from the literature and assessment of regressions of manganese removal in poisoned microcosms that indicated a definite divergence from the exponential removal was observed for unpoisoned microcosms. The removal process can be expressed as a first-order reaction since the deposition of manganese oxide coatings on the

exterior of the bacteria provides a source of substrate for continued adsorption (step two). The presence of manganese oxidizing bacteria on cobble and substrates > 0.063 mm combined with sufficient exposure time (varied flow) provides sufficient contact time (as hypothesized by Goldberg (1954)) for efficient removal. Expanding the pseudo-first order reaction by using a Michaelis-Menton equation to describe the production of additional manganese oxide for continued manganese removal would allow a more accurate method for describing the removal process in tailwaters.

As recipients of usually oxygenated inflows that can have elevated concentrations of reduced manganese (from the upstream impoundment), reservoir tailwaters would be ideally suited for manganese removal since water quality conditions typically meet conditions conducive to biological mediation of the removal. For example, dissolved oxygen is not usually limiting, pH, while too low for autooxidation, is appropriate for microbial habitat, and contact time with the biological community is often sufficient in enough areas of the tailwater at various discharge rates to accomplish efficient removal.

The hyperbolic decay equation that fit the microcosm data was used with manganese concentrations observed in the Nimrod Lake tailwater region in 1995 (Figure 5.1). Two different removal rates were observed with the greater removal rate (1.054 day⁻¹) observed for the lower discharge. While the equation fit for manganese removal at the lower discharge was quite good ($r^2 = 0.953$), the fit for the higher discharge accounted for only 57% of the variability. The data for these studies were limited and additional studies with more robust sample collection should be conducted to evaluate application of the model. Data from the raceway studies were also used to evaluate the

hyperbolic decay equation and r^2 values of 0.998 and 0.995 indicated a very good fit. Initial concentrations, removal rates, and half-lifes were substituted into the hyperbolic model for the coefficients (a, y0, and b, respectively) and were able to described the observed data for the raceway studies (Figure 5.2) reasonably well but failed to predict complete removal.



Figure 5.1. Hyperbolic decay model fit of manganese removal to the 1995 tailwater study at Nimrod Lake and the raceway studies using substrate from the tailwater of Nimrod Lake.



Figure 5.2. Observed manganese concentrations and predicted values using the hyperbolic decay model and coefficients derived from the raceway studies.

Additional research should be conducted to develop methods that would allow determination of microbial activity and increased production of oxide coatings associated with manganese removal. Recent work by Dong et al. (2000), has indicated that measurements of increased substrate availability can be accomplished and a Langmuir adsorption isotherm, which is very much like a Michaelis-Menton equation since it uses terms for adsorption on a per unit quantity of material basis, can be used to describe the sequestering of heavy metals associated with manganese removal if the surface area of the substrate is measured. This approach could be used to calculate or estimate coefficients in the hyperbolic decay equation, particularly those estimates of "binding" or removal rates and half-lifes, thus improving applications of the model.

Variability at a site or between sites has not been completely evaluated but study results indicate that site characteristics such as exposure to biota and substrate (affected by discharge features such as velocity) are likely contributors as uncertainties about how and why bacteria adsorb the manganese from the water column. It seems likely that utilization of enzymes and proteins and/or the manipulation of microhabitats to facilitate the adsorption and subsequent oxidation of Mn^{2+} as an alternative energy source is a reasonable explanation that is also worthy of further investigation since manganese removal is widespread in nature, used in the water treatment industry, and is applicable for heavy metal sequestering.

REFERENCES

Adams, L.F. and Ghiorse, W.C. 1988. Oxidation state of Mn in the Mn oxide produced by Leptothrix discophora SS-1, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 52:2073-2076.

Admiraal, W., Tubbing, G.M.J., and Breebaart, L. 1995. Effects of phytoplankton on metal partitioning in the lower River Rhine, *Water Research*, 29(3):941-946.

Ali, S.H. and Stokes, J.L. 1971. Stimulation of heterotrophic and autotrophic growth of *Sphaerotilus discophorus* by manganous ions, *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek Journal of Microbiology*, 37:519-528.

American Public Health Association. 1992. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 18th Edition, American Public Health Association, Washington, D.C.

Arcuri, E.J. and Ehrlich, H.L. 1980. Electron transfer coupled to Mn(II) oxidation in two deep-sea Pacific Ocean isolates, in Biogeochemistry of ancient and modern environments, Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry (ISEB) and, Conference on Biogeochemistry in Relation to the Mining Industry and Environmental Pollution (Leaching Conference), Trudinger, P.A., Walker, M.R., and Ralph, B.J. eds., pp 339-344.

Armstrong, P.B., Lyons, W.B., and Gaudette, H.E. 1979. Application of formaldoxime colorimetric method for the determination of manganese in the pore water of anoxic estuarine sediments, *Estuaries*, 2(3):198-201.

Ashby, S.L. Kennedy, R.H., Carroll, J.C., and Hains, J.J. 1994. Water Quality Studies: Richard B. Russell and J. Strom Thurmond Lakes, Summary Report, Miscellaneous Paper EL-94-6, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

Balistrieri, L.S. and Murray, J.W. 1982. The surface chemistry of δ MnO2 in major ion seawater, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 46,1041-1052.

Balkwill, D.L., Leach, F.R., Wilson, J.T., McNabb, J.F., and White, D.C. 1988. Equivalence of microbial biomass measures based on membrane lipid and cell wall components, adenosine triphosphate, and direct counts in subsurface sediments, *Microbial Ecology*, 16:73-84.

Bender, J., Gould, J.P., Vatcharapijarn, Y., Young, J.S., and Phillips, P. 1994. Removal of zinc and manganese from contaminated water with cyanobacteria mats, *Water Environment Research*, 66(5):679-683.

151

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Bender, M.L. 1971. Does upward diffusion supply the excess manganese in pelagic sediments? *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 76(18):4212-4215.

Bourg, A.C.M. and Bertin, C. 1994. Seasonal and spatial trends in manganese solubility in an alluvial aquifer, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 28:868-876.

Boyle, J.D. and Scott, J.A. 1984. The role of benthic films in the oxygen balance in an East Devon river, *Water Research*, 18(9):1089-1099.

Brewer, P.G. and Spencer, D.W. 1971. Colorimetric determination of manganese in anoxic waters, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 16(1):107-110.

Bricker, O.P. 1965. Some stability relations in the system $Mn-O_2-H_2O$ at 25 °C and one atmosphere total pressure, *The American Mineralogist*, 50:1296-1354.

Bromfield, S.M. 1956. Oxidation of manganese by soil microorganisms, Australian Journal of Biological Sciences, 9:238-252.

Bromfield, S.M. 1958. The properties of a biologically formed manganese oxide, its availability t oats and its solution by root washings, *Plant and Soil Science*, IX(4):325-337.

Bromfield, S.M. and David, D.J. 1976. Sorption and oxidation of manganous ions and reduction of manganese oxide by cell suspensions of a manganese oxidizing bacterium, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 8:37-43.

Burnett, B.R. and Nealson, K.H. 1981. Organic films and microorganisms associated with manganese nodules, *Deep-Sea Research*, 28A(6):637-645.

Burns, R.E. and Burns, V.M. 1975. Mechanisms for nucleation and growth of manganese nodules, *Nature*, 225(5503):130-131.

Caldwell, D.E. and Caldwell, S.J. 1980. Fine structure of in situ microbial iron deposits, *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 2(1):39-53.

Chafiq, M., Gilbert, J., and Claret, C. 1999. Interactions among sediments, organic matter, and microbial activity in the hyporheic zone of an intermittent stream, *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 56:487-495.

Chapnick, S.D., Moore, W.S., and Nealson, K.H. 1982. Microbially mediated manganese oxidation in a freshwater lake. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 27(6):1004-1014.

Chen, R.L., Gunnison, D., and Brannon, J.M. 1983. Characterization of Aerobic Chemical Processes in Reservoirs: Problem Description and Model Formulation, Technical Report E-83-16, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

Coffey, B.M., Gallagher, D.L., and Knocke, W.R. 1993. Modeling soluble manganese removal by oxide-coated filter media, *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 119(4):679-694.

Collins, J.F. and Buol, S.W. 1970. Patterns of iron and manganese precipitation under specified Eh-pH conditions, *Soil Science*, 110, 157-162.

Costerton, J.W., Geesey, G.C., and Cheng, K.-J. 1978. How bacteria stick, Scientific American, 238(1):86-95.

Costerton, J.W. and Lappin-Scott, H. 1995. Introduction to microbial biofilms, In: Microbial Biofilms, (eds. H. Lappin-Scott and J.W. Costerton), pp. 1-11, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, MA.

Crerar, D.A., Knox, G.W., and Means, J.L. 1979. Biogeochemistry of bog iron in the New Jersey Pine Barrens, *Chemical Geology*, 24:111-135.

Crerar, D.A. and Barnes, H.L. 1974. Deposition of deep-sea manganese nodules, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 38:279-300.

Crerar, D.A., Cormick, R.K., and Barnes, H.L. 1972. Organic controls of the sedimentary geochemistry of manganese, Acta Mineralogica-Petrographica, Szeged, XX/2:217-226.

Cronan, D.S. and Tooms, J.S. 1969. The geochemistry of manganese nodules and associated pelagic deposits from the Pacific and Indian Oceans, *Deep-Sea Research*, 16:335-359.

Cronan, T. 1972. Geochemistry of ferromanganese oxide concretions and associated deposits in Lake Ontario, *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 83:1493-1502.

De Vrind, J.P.M., De Vrind-De Jong, E.W., De Voogt, J.-W. H., Westbroek, P., Boogerd, F.C., and Rosson, R.A. 1986. Manganese oxidation by spores and spore coats of a marine *Bacillus* species, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 52(5):1096-1100.

Dean, W.E. and Greeson, P. 1979. Influences of algae on the formation of freshwater ferromanganese nodules, Oneida Lake, New York, Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie, 86:181-192.

Dean, W.E. and Gosh, S.K. 1978. Factors contributing to the formation of ferromanganese nodules in Oneida Lake, New York, *Journal of Research*. United States Geological Survey, 6(2):231-240.

Delfino, J.J. and Lee, G.F. 1968. Chemistry of manganese in Lake Mendota, Wisconsin. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 2(12):1094-1100.

Delfino, J.J. and Lee, G.F. 1971. Variation of manganese, dissolved oxygen and related chemical parameters in the bottom waters of Lake Mendota, Wisconsin. *Water Research*, 5:1207-1217.

Diem, D. and Stumm, W. 1984. Is dissolved Mn^{2+} being oxidized by O_2 in absence of Mn-bacteria or surface catalysts?, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 48:1571-1573.

Dong, D., Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Shuler, M.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. 2000. Adsorption of Pb and Cd onto metal oxides and organic material in natural surface coatings as determined by selective extractions: New evidence for the importance of Mn and Fe Oxides, *Water Research*, 34(2):427-436.

Dorn, R.I. and Oberlander, T.M. 1981. Microbial origin of desert varnish. Science, 213:1245-1247.

Dortch, M.S., Tillman, D.H., and Bunch, B.W. 1992. Modeling water quality of reservoir tailwaters, Technical Report W-92-1, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

Dortch, M.S. and Hamlin-Tillman, D.E. 1995. Disappearance of reduced manganese in reservoir tailwaters, Journal of Environmental Engineering, 121(4):287-297.

Douka, C.E. 1977. Study of bacteria from manganese concretions. Precipitation of manganese by whole cells and cell-free extracts of isolated bacteria, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 9:89-97.

Duinker, J.C., Wollast, R., and Billen, G. 1979. Behaviour of manganese in the Rhine and Scheldt Estuaries: II. Geochemical cycling. *Estuarine and Coastal Marine Science*, 9(6):727-738.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1963. Bacteriology of manganese nodules I. Bacterial action on manganese in nodule enrichments, *Applied Microbiology*, 11:15-19.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1966. Reactions with manganese by bacteria from manganese marine ferromanganese nodules, *Developments in Industrial Microbiology*, 7:279-286.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1968. Bacteriology of manganese nodules. II. Manganese oxidation by cell-free extract from a manganese nodule bacterium, *Applied Microbiology*, 16:197-202.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1975. The formation of ores in the sedimentary environment of the deep sea with microbial participation: the case for ferromanganese concretions. *Soil Science* 119(1):36-41.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1976. Manganese as an energy source for bacteria, in Environmental Biogeochemistry, Vol. 2, Metals transfer and ecological mass balance, J.O. Nriagu, Ed. (Ann Arbor, Michigan: Ann Arbor Science Publishers, Inc.), pp. 633-644.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1977. Conditions for bacterial participation in the initiation of manganese deposition around marine sediment particles. Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. editor, Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 839-845.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1978. Inorganic energy sources for chemolithotrophic and mixotrophic bacteria, *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 1(1):65-83.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1980. Different forms of microbial manganese oxidation and reduction and their environmental significance, in Biogeochemistry of ancient and modern environments, Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry (ISEB) and, Conference on Biogeochemistry in Relation to the Mining Industry and Environmental Pollution (Leaching Conference), Trudinger, P.A., Walker, M.R., and Ralph, B.J. eds., pp 327-332.

Ehrlich, H.L. 1981. Geomicrobiology, pp. 165-259. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York. 393 pp.

Ehrlich, H.L., Ghiorse, W.C., and Johnson II, G.L. 1972. Distribution of microbes in manganese nodules from the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, *Developments in Industrial Microbiology*, 13:57-65.

Ehrlich, H.L., Yang, S.H., and Mainwaring, J.D. 1973. Bacteriology of manganese nodules. VI. Fate of copper, nickel, cobalt, and iron during bacterial and chemical reduction of the manganese (IV), *Zeitschrift fuer Allgemeine Mikrobiologie*, 13:39-48.

Emerson, D. and Ghiorse, W.C. 1992. Isolation, cultural maintenance, and taxonomy of a sheath-forming strain of *Leptothrix discophora* and characterization of manganese-oxidizing activity associated with the sheath, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 58(12):4001-4010.

Emerson, S., Cranston, R.E., and Liss, P.S. 1979. Redox species in a reducing fjord: equilibrium and kinetic considerations, *Deep-Sea Research*, 26A:859-878.

Emerson, S., Kalhorn, S., Jacobs, L., Tebo, B.M., Nealson, K.H., and Rosson, R.A. 1982. Environmental oxidation rate of manganese (II): bacterial catalysis, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 46:1073-1079.

Epping, E.H.G., Schoemann, V., and de Heij, H. 1998. Manganese and iron oxidation during benthic oxygenic photosynthesis, *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 47:753-767.

Feigl, F. 1958. Spot tests in inorganic analysis, Elsevier, New York, pp. 173-177.

Findlay, R.H. and Dobbs, F.C. 1993. Quantitative description of microbial communities using lipid analysis. In: Handbook of Methods in Aquatic Microbial Ecology (P.F. Kemp, B.F. Sherr, E.B. Sherr, and J.J. Cole, eds.), Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL., pp. 271-284.

Findlay, S. and Howe, K. 1993. Bacterial-algal relationships in streams of the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, *Ecology*, 74(8):2326-2336.

Gambrell, R.P. 1996. Manganese, Chapter 24 in Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 3. Chemical Methods - SSSA Book Series no. 5., Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI.

Gantzer, C.J., Rittman, B.E., and Herricks, E.E. 1988. Mass transport to streambed biofilms, *Water Research*, 22(6):709-722.

Geesey, G.C., Mutch, R., Costerton, J.W., and Green, R.B. 1978. Sessile bacteria: An important component of the microbial population in small mountain streams, *Limnology* and Oceanography, 23(6):1214-1223.

Ghiorse, W.C. 1980. Electron microscopic analysis of metal-depositing microorganisms in surface layers of Baltic Sea ferromanganese concretions, in Biogeochemistry of ancient and modern environments, Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry (ISEB) and, Conference on Biogeochemistry in Relation to the Mining Industry and Environmental Pollution (Leaching Conference), Trudinger, P.A., Walker, M.R., and Ralph, B.J. eds., pp 345-354.

Ghiorse, W.C. 1984a. Bacterial transformations of manganese in wetland environments., Current Perspectives in Microbial Ecology, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Microbial Ecology, Klug, M.J. and Reddy, C.A., eds., American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C. pp. 615-622.

156

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Ghirose, W.C. 1984b. Biology of iron- and manganese-depositing bacteria, Annual Review of Microbiology, 38:515-550.

Ghiorse, W.C. and Chapnick, S.D. 1983. Metal-depositing bacteria and the distribution of manganese and iron in swamp waters, In R. Hallberg (ed.), Environmental biogeochemistry. *Ecological Bulletins*, (Stockholm), 35:367-376.

Ghiorse, W.C. and Hirsch, P. 1977. Iron and manganese deposition by budding bacteria, Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. editor, Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 897-909.

Ghiorse, W.C. and Hirsch, P. 1979. An ultrastructural study of iron and manganese deposition associated with extracellular polymers of *Pediomicrobium*-like budding bacteria, *Archives of Microbiology*, 123:213-226.

Ghiorse, W.C. and Hirsch, P. 1982. Isolation and properties of ferromanganesedepositing budding bacteria from Baltic Sea ferromanganese concretions, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 43:1464-1472.

Glasby, G.P., Tooms, J.S., and Cann, J.R. 1971. The geochemistry of manganese encrustations from the Gulf of Aden, *Deep-Sea Research*, 18:1179-1187.

Goldberg, E.D. 1954. Marine geochemistry 1. Chemical scavengers of the sea, Journal of Geology, 62:249-265.

Goldberg, E.D. and Arrhenius, G.O.S. 1958. Chemistry of Pacific pelagic sediments. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 13:153-212.

Gordon, J.A. 1989. Manganese oxidation related to the releases from reservoirs. *Water Resources Bulletin*, 25(1):187-192.

Gordon, J.A., Bonner, W.P., and Milligan, J.D. 1984. Iron, manganese, and sulfide transformations downstream from Normandy Dam. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 58-62.

Gordon, J.A. and Burr, J.L. 1989. Treatment of manganese from mining seep using packed columns, *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 115(2):386-394.

Gotoh, S. and Patrick, Jr., W.H. 1972. Transformations of manganese in a waterlogged soil as affected by redox potential and pH, in Proceedings from the Soil Science Society of America, 36(5):737-742.

Graham, J.W. 1959. Metabolically induced precipitation of trace elements from sea water, *Science*, 129:1428-1429.

Graham, W.F., Bender, M.L., and Klinkhammer, G.P. 1976. Manganese in Narragansett Bay, Limnology and Oceanography, 21(5):665-673.

Gregory, E. and Staley, J.T. 1982. Widespread distribution of ability to oxidze manganese among freshwater bacteria, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 44(2):509-511.

Greene, A.C. and Madgwick, J.C. 1991. Microbial formation of manganese oxides, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57(4):1114-1120.

Griffin, A.E. 1960. Significance and removal of manganese in water supplies, Journal. American Water Works Association, 52(10):1326-1334.

Guckert, J.B., Nold, S.C., Boston, H.L., and White, D.C. 1992. Periphyton response in an industrial receiving stream: lipid-based physiological stress analysis and pattern recognition of microbial community structure, *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 49:2579-2587.

Gunnison, D. and Brannon J.M. 1981. Characterization of Anaerobic Chemical Processes in Reservoirs: Problem Description and Conceptual Model Formulation, Technical Report E-81-6, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg MS.

Hajj, J. and Makemson, J. 1976. Determination of growth of Sphaerotilus discophorus in the presence of manganese, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 32:699-702.

Harremoës, P. 1982. Immediate and delayed oxygen depletion in rivers, Water Research, 16:1093-1098.

Harris, R.C. and Troup, A.G. 1970. Chemistry and origin of freshwater ferromanganese concretions, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 15:702-712.

Hart, B.T., Noller, B.N., Legras, C., and Currey, N. 1992. Manganese speciation in Magela Creek, Northern Australia, Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 43:421-441.

Harvey, J.W. and Fuller, C.C. 1998. Effect of enhanced manganese oxidation in the hyporheic zone on basin-scale geochemical mass balance, *Water Resources Research*, 34(4):623-636.

Hastings, D. and Emerson, S. 1986. Oxidation of manganese by spores of a marine bacillus:Kinetic and thermodynamic considerations, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 50:1819-1824.

Heldal, M. and Tumyr, O. 1983. *Gallionella* from metalimnion in an eutrophic lake: morphology and X-ray energy-dispersive microanalysis of apical cells and stalks, *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 29:303-308.

Hem, J.D. 1963. Chemical equilibria and rates of manganese oxidation, Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1667-A, 64pp.

Hem, J.D. 1964. Deposition and solution of manganese oxides, Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1667-B, 42pp.

Hem, J.D. 1981. Rates of manganese oxidation in aqueous systems. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 45:1369-1374.

Hem. J.D., Roberson, C.E., and Fournier, R.B. 1982. Stability of β MnOOH and manganese oxide deposition from springwater, *Water Resources Research*, 18(3):563-570.

Hem, J.D. and Lind, C.J. 1983. Nonequilibrium models for predicting forms of precipitated manganese oxides, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 47:2037-2046.

Henriksen, A. 1966. An automatic, modified formaldoxime method for determining low concentrations of manganese in water containing iron, *Analyst*, 91:647-651.

Herschel, A. and Clasen, J. 1998. The importance of the manganese-oxidizing microorganisms *Metallogenium personatum* for the retention of manganese in the Wahnbach Reservoir, Internat. Rev. Hydrobiol., 83(1):19-30.

Hess, G.W., Kim, B.R., and Roberts, P.J.W. 1989. A manganese oxidation model for rivers. *Water Resources Bulletin*, 25(2):359-365.

Jaquet, J.-M., Nembrini, G., Garcia, J., and Vernet, J.-P. 1982. The manganese cycle in Lac Léman, Switzerland: the role of *Metallogenium*, *Hydrobiologia*, 91:323-340.

Jenkins, S.R. 1973. Effect of selected cation concentration on coagulation and adhesion to silica surfaces of δ -MnO₂, Environmental Science and Technology, 7(1):43-47.

Johnson, A. H. and Stokes, J.L. 1966. Manganese oxidation by Sphaerotilus discophorus, Journal of Bacteriology, 91(4):1543-1547.

Johnson, D., Chiswell, B., and O'Halloran, K. 1995. Micro-organisms and manganese cycling in a seasonally stratified freshwater dam, *Water Research*, 29(12):2739-2745.

Jung, W.K. and Schweisfurth, R. 1979. Manganese oxidation by an intracellar protein of a *Pseudomonas* species, *Zeitschrift fuer Allgemeine Mikrobiologie*, 19:107-115.

Kepkay, P.E. 1985. Kinetics of microbial manganese oxidation and trace metal binding in sediments: Results from an in situ dialysis technique, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 30(4):713-726.

Kepkay, P.E., Burdige, D.J., and Nealson, K.H. 1984. Kinetics of bacterial manganese binding and oxidation in the chemostat, *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 3(3):245-262.

Kessick, M.A. and Morgan, J.J. 1975. Mechanisms of autoxidation of manganese in aqueous solutions, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 9(2):157-159.

Kessick, M.A., Vuceta, J., and Morgan, J.J. 1972. Spectrophotometric determination of oxidized manganese with leuco crystal violet, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 6(7):642-644.

Klaveness, D. 1977. Morphology, distribution and significance of the manganeseaccumulating microorganism *Metallogenium* in Lakes, *Hydrobiologia*, 56:25-33.

Knocke, W.R., Hamon, J.R., and Thompson, C.P. 1988. Soluble manganese removal on oxide-coated filter media. *Journal. American Water Works Association* :65-70.

Knocke, W.R., Occiano, S.C., and Hungate, R. 1991. Removal of soluble manganese by oxide-coated filter media: sorption rate and removal mechanism issues. *Journal. American Water Works Association* :64-69.

Krauskopf, K.B. 1956. Factors controlling the concentrations of thirteen rare metals in sea-water, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 9:1-32B.

Krauskopf, K.B. 1957. Separation of manganese from iron in sedimentary processes, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 12:61-84.

Krumbein, W.E. and Jens, K. 1981. Biogenic rock varnishes of the Negev Desert (Israel) an ecological study of iron and manganese transformation by cyanobacteria and fungi, *Oecologia*, 50:25-38.

LaRock, P.A. 1969. The bacterial oxidation of manganese in a freshwater lake. Ph.D. Dissertation, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Troy, NY. 242p.

Ledger, M.E. and Hildrew, A.G. 1998. Temporal and spatial variation in the epilithic biofilm of an acid stream, *Freshwater Biology*, 40:655-670.

Lewis, D.M. 1976. The geochemistry of manganese, iron, uranium, lead 210, and major ions in the Susquehanna River, Ph.D. Dissertation, Yale Univ.

Li, Y.H., Bischoff, J., and Mathieu, G. 1969. The migration of manganese in the Arctic Basin sediment, Earth and *Planetary Science Letters*, 7:265-270.

Lion, L.W., Altmann, R.S., and Leckle, J.O. 1982. Trace-metal adsorption characteristics of estuarine particulate mater: Evaluation of contributions of Fe/Mn oxide and organic surface coatings, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 16(10):660-666.

Lock, M.A. and Hynes, H.B.N. 1976. The fate of "dissolved" organic carbon derived from autumn-shed maple leaves (*Acer saccharum*) in a temperate hard-water stream, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 21(3):436-443.

Loganathan, P. and Burau, R.G. 1973. Sorption of heavy metal ions by a hydrous manganese oxide, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 37:1277-1293.

Maki, J.S., Tebo, B.M., Palmer, F.E., Nealson, K.H., and Staley, J.T. 1987. The abundance and biological activity of manganese-oxidizing bacteria and *Metallogenium*-like morphotypes in Lake Washington, USA, *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 45:21-29.

Mandernack, K.W., Fogel, M.L., Tebo, B.M., and Usui, A. 1995b. Oxygen isotope analyses of chemically and microbially produced manganese oxides and manganates, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 59(21):4409-4425.

Mandernack, K.W., Post, J., and Tebo, B.M. 1995a. Manganese mineral formation by bacterial spores of the marine *Bacillus*, strain SG-1:Evidence for the direct oxidation of Mn(II) to Mn(IV), *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 59(21):4393-4408.

Mandernack, K.W. and Tebo, B.M. 1993. Manganese scavenging and oxidation at hydrothermal vents and in vent plumes, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 57:3907-3923.

Marble, J.C., Corley, T.L., Conklin, M.H., and Fuller, C.C. In Press. Environmental factors affecting oxidation of manganese in Pinal Creek, Arizona, In: (Morganwalp, D.W. and Buxton, H.T., eds.) U.S. Geological Survey Toxic Substances Hydrology Program Proceedings of the Technical Meeting, Charleston, S.C., March 8-12, 1999, Volume 1, Contamination from Hard Rock Mining: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 99-4018A.

Marshall, K.C. 1979. Biogeochemistry of manganese minerals, in Biogeochemical cycling of mineral-forming elements, P.A. Trudinger and D.J. Swaine (eds.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 253-291.

Marshall, K.C. 1980. The role of surface attachment in manganese oxidation by freshwater hyphomicrobia, in Biogeochemistry of ancient and modern environments, Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry (ISEB) and, Conference on Biogeochemistry in Relation to the Mining Industry and Environmental Pollution (Leaching Conference), Trudinger, P.A., Walker, M.R., and Ralph, B.J. eds., pp 333-337.

McMahon, P.B., Tindall, J.A., Collins, J.A., Lull, K.J., and Nuttle, J.R. 1995. Hydrologic and geochemical effects on oxygen uptake in bottom sediments of an effluent-dominated river, *Water Resources Research*, 31(10):2561-2569.

Meunier, A.D. and Williamson, A.M. 1981. Packed bed biofilm reactors: simplified models, *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 107(EE2):307-317.

Michaelis, L. and Menton, M.L. 1913. Die Kinetic der Inverteinwirkung, Biochemische Zeitschrift, 49:333-369.

Michard, G. 1969. Kinetics of manganese oxidation on the sea floor, *Transactions.* American Geophysical Union, 50, 349.

Miyajima, T. 1992a. Biological manganese oxidation in a lake, I: Occurrence and distribution of *Metallogenium* sp. and its kinetic properties, *Archive fuer Hydrobiologie*, 124(3):317-335.

Miyajima, T. 1992b. Biological manganese oxidation in a lake, II: A theromodynamic consideration of the habitat utilization of *Metallogenium* sp., *Archive fuer Hydrobiologie*, 124(4):411-426.

Monod, J. 1942. Recherches sur la croissance des cultures bacteriennes, Herman et Cie, Paris.

Morgan, J.J. 1964. Chemistry of aqueous manganese II and IV, Ph.D. Thesis, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA.

Morgan, J.J. 1967. Applications and limitations of chemical thermodynamics in water systems. In Equilibrium Concepts in Natural Water Systems, Gould, R.F. (ed.), Amer. Chem. Soc., Washington, pp.1-29.

Morgan, J.J. 1992. Chemical equilibria and kinetic properties of manganese in natural waters. In Principles and Applications of Water Chemistry, Faust, S.D. and Hunter, J.V. (eds.), Wiley. pp561-624.

Morgan, J.J. and Stumm, W. 1964. Colloid-chemical properties of manganese dioxide. *Journal of Colloid Science*, 19:347-359.

Morgan, J.J. and Stumm, W. 1965. Analytical chemistry of aqueous manganese, *Journal. American Water Works Association*: January, 107-119.

Morgenstein, M. and Felsher, M. 1971. The origin of manganese nodules: A combined theory with special reference to palagonization. *Pacific Science*, 25:301-307.

Mortimer, C.H. 1941. The exchange of dissolved substances between mud and water in lakes. *Journal of Ecology*, 29:280-29

Mortimer, C.H. 1942. The exchange of dissolved substances between mud and water in lakes. *Journal of Ecology*, 30:147-201.

Mouchet, P. 1992. From conventional to biological removal of iron and manganese in France, *Journal. American Water Works Association*, April:158-167.

Murray, J.W. 1975. The interaction of metal ions at the manganese dioxide-solution interface, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 39:505-519.

Mustoe, G.E. 1981. Bacterial oxidation of manganese and iron in a modern cold spring, Geological Society of America Bulletin, Part 1, 92(3):147-153.

Nealson, K.H. 1977. The isolation and characterization of marine bacteria which catalyze manganese oxidation. Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. editor, Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 847-858.

Nealson, K.H. 1983. The microbial manganese cycle, In: (Krumbein, W., ed.), Microbial Geochemistry, Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, pp. 191-222.

Nealson, K.H. and Ford, J. 1980. Surface enhancement of bacterial manganese oxidation: Implications for aquatic environments, *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 2(1):21-37.

Nealson, K.H., Tebo, B.M., and Rosson, R.A. 1989. Occurrence and mechanisms of microbial oxidation of manganese. *Advances in Applied Microbiology*, 33:279-318.
Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Ghiorse, W.C., and Shuler, M.L. 1999. Production of biogenic Mn oxides by *Leptothrix discophora* SS-1 in a chemically defined growth medium and evaluation of their Pb adsorption Characteristics, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(1):175-180.

Nishri, A. and Nissenbaum, A. 1993. Formation of manganese oxyhydroxides on the Dead Sea coast by alteration of Mn-enriched carbonates, *Hydrobiologia*, 267:61-73.

Nix, J., Hamlin-Tillman, D.E., Ashby, S.L., and Dortch, M.S. 1991. Water Quality of Selected Tailwaters, Technical Report W-91-2, US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

Okazaki, M., Sugita, T., Shimizu, M., Ohode, Y., Iwamoto, K., De Vrind-De Jong, E.W., DeVrind, J.P.M., and Corstjens, P.L.A.M. 1997. Partial purification and characterization of manganese-oxidizing factors of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* GB-1, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(12):4793-4799.

Ottow, J.C.G. 1977. Mechanisms of ferromanganese nodule formation in the sedimentwater interface of the deep sea. Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. editor, Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 879-885.

Paerl, H.W. 1982. Factors limiting productivity of freshwater ecosystems, Advances in Microbial Ecology, 6:75-110.

Palmer, F.E., Staley, J.T., Murray, R.G.E., Counsell, T., Adams, J.B. 1986. Identification of manganese-oxidizing bacteria from desert varnish, *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 4(4):343-360.

Pankow, J.F. and Morgan, J.J. 1981a. Kinetics for the aquatic environment, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 15(11):1155-1164.

Pankow, J.F. and Morgan, J.J. 1981b. Kinetics for the aquatic environment, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 15(11):1306-1313.

Presley, B.J., Brooks, R.R., and Kaplan, I.R. 1967. Manganese and related elements in the interstitial water of marine sediments, *Science*, 158(3803):906-910.

Rankama, K. and Sahama, T.G. 1950. Geochemistry, Chicago University, Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.

Richardson, L.L., Aguilar, C., and Nealson, K.H. 1988. Manganese oxidation in pH and O₂ microenvironments produced by phytoplankton, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 33(3):352-363.

Ridgway, H.F., Means, E.G., and Olson, B.H. 1981. Iron bacteria in drinking-water distribution systems: Elemental analysis of *Gallionella* stalks, using X-ray energy-dispersive microanalysis, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 41:288-297.

Ridgway, H.F. and Olson, B.H. 1981. Scanning electron microscope evidence for bacterial colonization of a drinking-water distribution system, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 41:247-287.

Robbins, E.I. 1998. New roles for and old resource, Geotimes, 43(5):14-17.

Rosson, R.A. and Nealson K.H. 1982. Manganese binding and oxidation by spores of a marine bacillus, *Journal of Bacteriology*, 151(2):1027-1034.

Rosson, R.A., Tebo, B.M., and Nealson, K.H. 1984. Use of poisons in determination of microbial manganese binding rates in seawater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 47(4):740-745.

Rutherford, J.C., Boyle, J.D., Elliott, A.H., Hatherell, T.V.J., and Chiu, T.W. 1995. Modeling benthic oxygen uptake by pumping, *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 121(1):84-95.

Sauer, K. 1980. A role for manganese in oxygen evolution in photosynthesis, Accounts of Chemical Research, 13:249-256.

Schmidt, J.M., Sharp, W.P., Starr, M.P. 1982. Metallic-oxide encrustations of the Nonprosthecate stalks of naturally occurring populations of *Planctomyces bekefii*, *Current Microbiology*, 7:389-394.

Schoemann, V., de Baar, H.J.W., de Jong, J.T.M., and Lancelot, C. 1998. Effects of phytoplankton blooms on the cycling of manganese and iron in coastal waters, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43(7):1427-1441.

Schutt, C. and Ottow, J.C.G. 1977. Distribution and identification of manganeseprecipitating bacteria from noncontaminated ferromanganese nodules. Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. editor, Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 869-878. Schweisfurth, R., Eleftheriadis, D., Gundlach, H., Jacobs, M., and Jung, W. 1977. Microbiology of the precipitation of manganese, Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. ed., Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 923-928.

Shapiro, J. and Glass, G.E. 1975. Synergistic effects of phosphate and manganese on growth of Lake Superior algae, *Verhandlungen der Internationalen Vereinigung fuer Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie*, 19:395-404.

Sheldon, S.P. and Skelly, D.K. 1990. Differential colonization and growth of algae and ferromanganese-depositing bacteria in a mountain stream, *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 5:475-485.

Sode, A. 1983. Effect of ferric hydroxide on algae and oxygen consumption by sediment in a Danish stream, *Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie*, Supplement, 65:134-162.

Srinanthakumar, S. and Amirtharajah, A. 1983. Organic carbon decay in stream with biofilm kinetics, *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 109(1):102-119.

Stauffer, R.E. 1986. Cycling of manganese and iron in Lake Mendota, Wisconsin, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 20(5):449-457.

Stiles, J.F., III. 1979. Survey of the iron and manganese problems in the USA. Proceeding of the 1979 American Water Works Association Conference, Denver, CO.

Storey, R.G., Fulthorpe, R.R., and Williams, D.D. 1999. Perspectives and predictions on the microbial ecology of the hyporheic zone, *Freshwater Biology*, 41:119-130.

Stumm, W., Huang, C.P., and Jenkins, S.R. 1970. Specific chemical interaction affecting the stability of dispersed systems, *Croatica Chemica Acta*, 42:223-245.

Stumm, W. and Morgan, J. J. 1981. Aquatic Chemistry (second edition). Wiley-Interscience, New York. 780 pp.

Sunda, W.G. and Huntsman, S.A. 1985. Regulation of cellular manganese and manganese transport rates in the unicellular alga *Chlamydomonas*, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 30:71-80.

Sunda, W.G. and Huntsman, S.A. 1987. Microbial oxidation of manganese in a North Carolina estuary, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 32(3):552-564.

Sunda, W.G. and Huntsman, S.A. 1998. Interactions among Cu^{3+} , Zn^{2+} , and Mn^{2+} in controlling cellular Mn, Zn, and growth rate in the coastal alga *Chlamydomonas*, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43(6):1055-1064.

Sunda, W.G. and Huntsman, S.A. 1998. Interactive effects of external manganese, the toxic metals copper and zinc, and light in controlling cellular manganese and growth in a coastal diatom. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43(7):1467-1475.

Sung, W. and Morgan, J.J. 1981. Oxidative removal of Mn(II) from solution catalysed by the γ -FeOOH (lepidocrocite) surface, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 45:2377-2383.

Taylor-George, S., Palmer, F., Staley, J.T., Borns, D.J., Curtiss, B. and Adams, J.B. 1983. Fungi and bacteria involved in desert varnish formation, *Microbial Ecology*, 9:227-245.

Tebo, B.M. 1983. Ecology and ultrastructure of manganese oxidizing bacteria, Ph.D. thesis, Univ. of Calif, San Diego.

Tebo, B.M., Nealson, K.H., Emerson, S., and Jacobs, L. 1984. Microbial mediation of Mn(II) and Co(II) precipitation at the O_2/H_2S interfaces in two anoxic fjords, *Limnology* and Oceanography, 29(6):1247-1258.

Tebo, B.M. and Emerson, S. 1985. Effect of oxygen tension, Mn(II) concentration, and temperature on the microbially catalyzed Mn(II) oxidation rate in a marine fjord, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 50(5):1268-1273.

Tebo, B.M. and Emerson, S. 1986. Microbial manganese(II) oxidation in the marine environment: a quantitative study, *Biogeochemistry*, 2:149-161.

Tebo, B.M., Ghiorse, W.C., van Waasbergen, L.G., Siering, P.L., and Caspi, R. 1997. Bacterially mediated mineral formation: Insights into manganese (II) oxidation from molecular genetic and biochemical studies, in Banfield, J.F. and Nealson, K.H. (Eds.), Geomicrobiology: Interactions between microbes and minerals, *Reviews in Mineralogy*, 35:225-266.

Tessier, A., Fortin, D., Belzile, N. DeVitre, R.R., and Leppard, G.G. 1996. Metal sorption to diagenetic iron and manganese oxyhydroxides and associated organic matter: Narrowing the gap between field and laboratory measurements, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 60(3):387-404.

Thiel. G.A. 1925. Manganese precipitated by microorganisms, *Economic Geology*, 20:301-310.

Thiel, H. 1977. The faunal environment of manganese nodules and aspects of deep sea time scales, Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology, Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment, Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry, Krumbein, W.E. ed., Ann Arbor Science Pub. Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, pp 887-896.

Tipping, E. 1984. Temperature dependence of Mn(II) oxidation in lakewaters: a test of biological involvement, *Geochima et Cosmochimica Acta*, 48:1353-1356.

Tipping, E., Thompson, D.W., and Davison, W. 1984. Oxidation products of Mn(II) in lake waters, *Chemical Geology*, 44:359-383.

Tuffey, T.J., Hunter, J.V., and Matulewich, V.A. 1974. Zones of nitrification, *Water Resources Bulletin*, 10(3):555-564.

Tukey, J.W. 1953. "The Problem of Multiple Comparisons." Unpublished Notes, Princeton University.

Tyler, P.A. 1970. Hyphomicrobia and the oxidation of manganese in aquatic ecosystems, *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek Journal of Microbiology*, 36:567-578.

Tyler, P.A. and Marshall, K.C. 1967. Hyphomicroba - A significant factor in manganese problems, *Journal. American Water Works Association*, 59(8):1043-1048.

Uren, N.C. and Leeper, G.W. 1978. Microbial oxidation of divalent manganese, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 10:85-87.

van Veen, W.L. 1972. Factors affecting the oxidation of manganese by Sphaerotilus discophorus, Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek Journal of Microbiology, 38:623-626.

van Veen, W.L. 1973. Biological oxidation of manganese in soils, Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek Journal of Microbiology, 39:657-662.

van Veen, W.L., Mulder, E.G., and Deinema, M.H. 1978. The Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix group of bacteria, *Microbiological Reviews*, 42:329-356.

Varentsov, I.M. and Pronina, N.V. 1973. On the study of mechanisms of iron-manganese ore formation in recent basins: the experimental data on nickel and cobalt. *Mineralium Deposita*, 8:161-178.

Vestal, J.R. and White, D.C. 1989. Lipid analysis in microbial ecology, *Bioscience*, 39:535-541.

Vuceta, J. and Morgan. J.J. 1978. Chemical modeling of trace metals in fresh waters: Role of complexation and adsorption, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 12(12):1302-1309.

Wellnitz, T.A., Grief, K.A., and Sheldon, S.P. 1994. Response of macroinvertebrates to blooms of iron-depositing bacteria, *Hydrobiologia*, 281:1-17.

Wellnitz, T.A. and Sheldon, S.P. 1995. The effects of iron and manganese on diatom colonization in a Vermont stream, *Freshwater Biology*, 34:465-470.

Weng, C. Hoven, D.L., and Schwartz, B.J. 1986. Ozonation: An economic choice for water treatment, *Journal. American Water Works Association*, 78(1):83-89.

White, D.C. and Ringelberg, D.B. 1998. Signature lipid biomarker analysis. In: Techniques in microbial ecology (R.S. Burlage, R. Atlas, D. Stahl, G. Geesey, and G. Sayler, eds.), Oxford University Press, Inc., New York. pp. 255-272.

White, D.C., Ringelberg, D.B., Macnaughton, S.J., Alugupalli, S. and Schram, D. 1997. Signature lipid biomarker analysis for quantitative assessment in situ of environmental microbial ecology, Chapter 2, in Eganhouse, R.P., Ed. Molecular Markers in Environmental Geochemistry, ACS Symposium Series 671, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC.

Wilczak, A., Knocke, W.R., Hubel, R.E., and Aieta, E.M. 1993. Manganese control during ozonation of water containing organic compounds, *Journal. American Water Works Association*, October:98-104.

Williamson, K. and McCarty, P.L. 1976. Verification studies of the biofilm model for bacterial substrate utilization, *Journal. Water Pollution Control Federation*, 48(2):281-296.

Wilson, D.E. 1980. Surface and complexation effects on the rate of Mn(II) oxidation in natural waters. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 44:1311-1317.

Wuhrmann, K. 1972. Stream Purification, In: Water Pollution Microbiology, (R. Mitchell, ed.), Wiley-Interscience, New York, pp.119-151.

Wollast, R., Billen, G., and Duinker, J.C. 1979. Behaviour of manganese in the Rhine and Scheldt Estuaries: I. Physico-chemical aspects. *Estuarine and Coastal Marine Sciences* 9(2):161-169.

Zavarzin, G.A. 1968. Bacteria in relation to manganese metabolism, p. 612-623. In T.R. Gray and D. Parkinson (ed.), The ecology of soil bacteria. Liverpool University Press, Liverpool.

Zaw, M. and Chiswell, B. 1999. Iron and manganese dynamics in lake water, *Water Research*, 33(8):1900-1910.

.

Substrate Type	Station	Lateral Site	Conc (mg/kg)	Mean (Lateral Site)	Mean (Station)
Cobble	A	lbe	74	101.7	202.6777778
		lbe	44.2		
		lbe	87.9		
		lbe	94.4		
		lbe	208		
		lbm	95.8	101.175	
		lbm	111		
		lbm	58.9		
		lbm	139		
		m	249	293.3333333	
		m	352		
		m	279		
		rbm	248	297.3333333	
		rbm	288		
		rbm	356		
		rbe	343	321	
		rbe	368		
		rbe	252		
	B1	lbe	106	44.33333333	166.175
		lbe	12		
		lbe	15		
		lbm	212	239.28	
		lbm	96.2		
		lbm	69.2		
		lbm	417		
		lbm	402		
	B3	lbe	330		297.5
	<u> </u>	lbm	183	287.5	
		lbm	392		·
	ļ	rbm	285		
0.00 0.50		11h -	0.00	5.40	
2.00 - 0.50 mm	B1	ibe	6.08	5.18	6.87
		lbe	4.69		
		IDe	4.70	0.50	
	_ <u></u>	IDM	7.4	8.50	
		mai	8.3		
		IDM	9.99		
	- D0	lhm	7 90		9.005
	B3		1.09		8.∠65
		maı	0.04		
	+	lho	2.25		2.00
	<u> </u>		2.33		2.08
	+	IDe Ibe	1.34		
	1	i ide	2.33		

APPENDIX A: CONCENTRATIONS OF MANGANESE ON SUBSTRATES IN THE TAILWATER OF NIMROD LAKE

And the second s				
2.00 - 0.50 mm	E	lbm	3.04	2.896666667
		m	3.49	
		rbm	2.16	
		rbm		
0.50-0.063 mm	B1	lbe	1.44	2.596666667
		lbe	1.31	
		ibe	1.11	
		lbm	2.2	
		lbm	4.84	
		lbm	4.68	
	B3	lbm	4.18	3.69
		rbm	3.2	
	C	lbe	0.27	0.253333333
		lbe	0.19	
		lbe	0.3	
	E	lbm	0.91	0.583333333
		m	0.51	
		rbm	0.33	
< 0.063 mm	B1	lbe	26.7	30.075
	<u> </u>	lbe	27	
		lbm	33.5	
	<u> </u>	lbm	33.1	
		lbm	52.8	 50 06666667
		rhm	64.1	 19.9000007
	+	rbm	62	
L			03	

172

•

		<u></u>	
Date	Description	Total Mn	Dissolved Mn
11/19/1007	Initial Paceway Quality Refore Substrate Added	0.003	(119/1) 6/1 *
12/10/1997	After Substrate Was Added	0.003	bdi bdi
12/19/1997	Alter Substrate Was Added	0.019	DU
01/07/1990	Aiter Leaves Were Added	0.004	bdl
01/25/1998	During Accimation		
01/31/1998	After Initial Addition of Pe and Win	1.035	0.4320
02/06/1998	During Acclimation		
03/01/1998	Before Addition of Fe and Min on 3/1/98		DOI
03/01/1998	2 Hours After Addition of Fe and Mn on 3/1/98	0.9969	0.7544
03/03/1998	Followup to 3/1/98 Addition of Fe and Mn	0.1378	0.1002
03/04/1998	Followup to 3/1/98 Addition of Fe and Mn	Ibdi	0.0188
03/05/1998	Followup to 3/1/98 Addition of Fe and Mn	bdi	0.0125
04/08/1998	Followup to 3/1/98 Addition of Fe and Mn	0.0484	0.009
04/22/1998	First Removal Study		
	Before Addition of Mn Rep 1	0.006	bd
	Before Addition of Mn Rep 2	0.005	bd
	15 Minutes Rep 1	1.517	1.449
	15 Minutes Rep 2	1.515	1.384
	30 Minutes Rep 1	1.517	1.432
	30 Minutes Rep 2	1.519	1.306
	1 Hour Rep 1	1.423	1.385
	1 Hour Rep 2	1.429	1.369
	3 Hours Rep 1	1.18	1.127
	3 Hours Rep 2	1.19	1.022
	7 Hours Rep 1	0.904	0.828
	7 Hours Rep 2	0.905	0.819
	12 Hours Rep 1	0.653	0.525
	12 Hours Rep 2	0.651	0.541
	20 Hours Rep 1	0.393	0.323
	20 Hours Rep 2	0.391	0.311
 	32 Hours Rep 1	0 196	0.311
	32 Hours Ren 2	0.197	0.174
	52 Hours Rep 1	0.033	0.100
	52 Hours Ren 2	0.035	0.02
arly July	Before Addition of Mn Rep 1	0.02	
	Refore Addition of Mn Ren 2	0.02	bdi
	15 Minutes Pen 1	1.58	
		1.50	1.09
	15 Withutes Rep 2	1.30	1.59
		1.0	1.61
	30 Minutes Rep 2	1.59	1.6
	1 Hour Rep 1	1.02	1.62
	1 Hour Rep 2	1.65	1.68
	3 Hours Rep 1	1.74	1.76
	3 Hours Rep 2	1.72	1.74
	7 Hours Rep 1	1.81	1.85
	7 Hours Rep 2	1.82	1.82

APPENDIX B: TOTAL AND DISSOLVED MANGANESE CONCENTRATIONS FROM THE RACEWAY STUDIES

[12 Hours Rep 1	1.82	1.89
	12 Hours Rep 2	1.82	1.85
	20 Hours Rep 1	1.82	1.84
	20 Hours Rep 2	1.84	1.86
	32 Hours Rep 1	1.76	1.75
	32 Hours Rep 2	1.76	1.75
	52 Hours Rep 1	1.61	1.59
	52 Hours Rep 2	1.75	1.61
Late July	Before Addition of Mn Rep 1	0.0809	bdl
	Before Addition of Mn Rep 2	0.0344	bdl
	15 Minutes Rep 1	1.518	1.462
	15 Minutes Rep 2	1.525	1.502
	30 Minutes Rep 1	1.509	1.494
	30 Minutes Rep 2	1.536	1.541
	1 Hour Rep 1	1.545	1.539
	1 Hour Rep 2	1.506	1.51
ļ	3 Hours Rep 1	1.497	1.497
	3 Hours Rep 2	1.474	1.469
	7 Hours Rep 1	1.477	1.484
	/ Hours Rep 2	1.491	1.568
	12 Hours Rep 1	1.464	1.464
·	12 Hours Rep 2	1.453	1.457
	20 Hours Rep 1	1.37	1.425
	20 Hours Rep 2	1.395	1.469
	22.5 Hours (after addition of NaOH) Rep 1	1.4/3	1.49
	22.5 Hours (after addition of NaOH) Rep 2	1.483	1.459
	22.75 Hours Rep 1	1.42	1.397
	22.75 Hours Rep 2	1.390	1.423
	23 Hours Rep 1	1.392	1.393
	23 Hours Rep 2	1.402	1.413
 	23.5 Hours Rep 1	1.313	1.249
}	23.3 Hours Rep 2	1.335	1.25
	29 Hours Pep 2	1.210	1.100
	40 Hours Rep 1	1.230	1.193
	40 Hours Rep 2	1.171	1.122
	52 Hours Rep 1	1.097	1.002
	52 Hours Rep 2	1 132	1.011
	60 Hours Rep 1	1.019	0 998
	60 Hours Rep 2	1.04	0.9979
August	Before Addition of Mn Rep 1	0.0021	bdl
	Before Addition of Mn Rep 2	0.0041	bd
	15 Minutes Rep 1	1.351	1.381
	15 Minutes Rep 2	1.385	1.39
	30 Minutes Rep 1	1.361	1.348
	30 Minutes Rep 2	1.348	1.402
	1 Hour Rep 1	1.428	1.38
	1 Hour Rep 2	1.369	1.399
	3 Hours Rep 1	1.255	1.282

3 Hours Rep 2	1.272	1.318
7 Hours Rep 1	1.001	1.008
7 Hours Rep 2	1.033	1.004
12 Hours Rep 1	0.8126	0.8184
12 Hours Rep 2	0.8425	0.8101
20 Hours Rep 1	0.5486	0.5329
20 Hours Rep 2	0.5535	0.5172
32 Hours Rep 1	0.2376	0.2376
32 Hours Rep 2	0.2385	0.2357
45 Hours Rep 1	0.0571	0.0514
45 Hours Rep 2	0.0608	0.0552
	3 Hours Rep 2 7 Hours Rep 1 7 Hours Rep 2 12 Hours Rep 1 12 Hours Rep 1 20 Hours Rep 2 20 Hours Rep 1 20 Hours Rep 1 32 Hours Rep 1 32 Hours Rep 2 45 Hours Rep 2	3 Hours Rep 2 1.272 7 Hours Rep 1 1.001 7 Hours Rep 2 1.033 12 Hours Rep 1 0.8126 12 Hours Rep 2 0.8425 20 Hours Rep 1 0.5486 20 Hours Rep 2 0.5535 32 Hours Rep 1 0.2376 32 Hours Rep 2 0.2385 45 Hours Rep 1 0.0571 45 Hours Rep 2 0.0608

Number	Description	rep#	round #	TFe	TMn	DFe	DMn
10	Amended Water	1	1	3.664	3.384	2.35	3.172
10			1			2.316	3.144
10			2	3.507	3.271	2.278	3.055
10			3	3.483	3.309	2.255	3.061
10			4	3.668	3.302	2.253	2.956
10			5	3.337	2.916	1.852	2.349
10			6	3.147	2.192	2.272	1.965
24	Amended Water	2	1	3.555	3.306	2.254	3.075
24			2	3.403	3.221	2.262	3.084
24			3	3.435	3.27	2.247	3.055
24			4	3.32	3.176	2.275	3.06
24			5	3.402	3.229	2.333	2.984
24	* late analysis for diss	solved	6	3.165	2.234	2.51	2.08
15	Amended Water	3	1	3.547	3.276	2.307	3.163
15			2	3.597	3.379	2.336	2.992
15			3	3.55	3.382	2.289	2.976
15			4	3.534	3.34	2.283	3.053
15			5	3.583	3.319	2.399	3.029
15			6	3.147	2.281	2.357	2.121
23	Amen. Water (Poisoned)	1	1	3.575	3.33	2.28	3.217
23			2	3.492	3.319	2.273	3.118
23			3	3.478	3.306	2.294	3.143
23			4	3.394	3.272	2.288	3.126
23			5	3.403	3.336	2.361	3.26
23			6	3.346	3.294	2.296	3.201
17	Amen. Water (Poisoned)	2	1	3.54	3.289	2.34	3.23
17			2	3.528	3.347	2.38	3.09
17			3	3.461	3.328	2.331	3.122
17			4	3.377	3.296	2.378	3.231
17			5	3.316	3.254	2.261	3.097
17			6	3.318	3.287	2.238	3.122
1	Amen. Water (Poisoned)	3	1	3.559	3.252	2.371	3.238
1			2	3.621	3.412	2.44	3.253
1			3	3.446	3.284	2.266	3.112
1			4	4.087	3.363	2.312	3.072
1			5	3.441	3.356	2.342	3.253
1	[6	3.251	3.207	2.223	3.093
8	Cobble	1	1	3.551	2.696	2.381	2.44
8			1	3.635	2.748	2.402	2.455
8			2	3.502	2.02	2.351	1.766
8			3	3.349	1.315	2.313	1.173
8			4	3.338	0.7418	2.309	0.6051
8			5	3.109	0.2592	2.285	0.1684
8			6	2.94	0.0439	2.267	0.0031
26	Cobble	2	1	3.538	2.718	2.297	2.491
26			2	3.543	2.187	2.358	2.024
26			3	3.36	1.51	2.315	1.338

APPENDIX C: DATA FOR THE MICROCOSM STUDY

176

÷

26 5 3.172 0.34 2.234 0.230 26 6 2.954 0.0071 2.235 14 Cobble 3 1 3.656 3.097 2.327 2.95 14 2 3.584 2.715 2.36 2.41 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.3285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517
26 6 2.954 0.0071 2.235 14 Cobble 3 1 3.656 3.097 2.327 2.95 14 2 3.584 2.715 2.36 2.41 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517
14 Cobble 3 1 3.656 3.097 2.327 2.95 14 2 3.584 2.715 2.36 2.41 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231
14 2 3.584 2.715 2.36 2.41 14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 </td
14 3 3.416 2.218 2.369 2.00 14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.321 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.321 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.3327 1 895 2.241 1.76 </td
14 3 3.398 2.181 2.32 1.94 14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.321 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 2
14 4 3.389 1.726 2.248 1.51 14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 2 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
14 5 3.207 1.102 2.275 0.885 14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 2 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
14 6 2.982 0.1447 2.201 0.051 6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 Poisoned Cobble 1 1 3.494 2.635 2.375 2.53 6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 2 3.391 1.983 2.349 1.83 6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 3 3.285 1.46 2.331 1.37 6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 4 3.32 1.068 2.288 0.995 6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 5 3.231 0.7517 2.197 0.667 6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
6 6 3.097 0.4953 2.216 0.432 25 Poisoned Cobble 2 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
25 Poisoned Cobble 1 3.423 2.636 2.242 2.49 25 2 3.358 2.206 2.202 2.07 25 3 3.327 1.895 2.241 1.76
27 Poisoned Cobble 3 1 3.618 2.83 2.385 2.77
7 2.05 mm ² 1 2.592 2.706 2.395 2.60
7 5 3 137 0 2532 2 184 0 107
7 6 2 999 0 0698 2 18
13 2-0.5 mm 3 1 3 648 2 949 2 266 2 66
13 3 3.377 1.77 2.278 1.55
13 5 3.14 0.5906 2.206 0.433
13 6 2.932 0.1057 2.148 0.014
4 Poisoned 2-0.5 mm 1 1 3.765 3.125 2.41 2.9
4 2 3.803 2.832 2.481 2.54
4 3 3.485 2.391 2.285 2.17

•

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

4		Γ	4	3.45	2.203	2.346	2.156
4			5	3.332	2.097	2.329	1.988
4			6	3.144	1.872	2.173	1.818
16	Poisoned 2-0.5 mm	2	1	3.626	3.296	2.316	3.137
16			2	3.577	3.343	2.265	3.034
16			3	3.435	3.245	2.298	3.093
16		[4	3.379	3.183	2.333	3.095
16			5	3.465	3.031	2.363	2.823
16		<u> </u>	6	3.346	2.726	2.248	2.552
18	Poisoned 2-0.5 mm	3	1	3.641	3.311	2.338	3.082
18			2	3.583	3.306	2.322	3.101
18			3	3.611	3.273	2.318	3.093
18			4	3.467	2.98	2.312	2.859
18			5	3.378	2.662	2.286	2.511
18			6	3.163	2.275	2.285	2.242
21	0.5-0.063 mm	1	1	3.781	3.01	2.225	2.647
21			2	3.522	2.567	2.247	2.289
21			3	3.5	1.766	2.272	1.457
21			4	3.351	1.09	2.255	0.8546
21			5	3.242	0.4954	2.205	0.3286
21			6	3.047	0.1046	2.217	0.0174
19	0.5-0.063 mm	2	1	4.045	2.832	2.26	2.286
19			2	3.84	2.052	2.237	1.581
19			3	3.777	1.405	2.287	1.078
19			4	3.448	0.8304	2.27	0.5745
19			5	3.45	0.381	2.268	0.1831
19			6	3.14	0.133	2.217	0.0174
5	0.5-0.063 mm	3	1	3.985	2.68	2.373	2.408
5			2	3.762	2.332	2.409	2.067
5			2	3.48	2.126	2.242	1.919
5			3	3.498	1.807	2.266	1.516
5			4	3.383	1.358	2.236	1.132
5			5	3.307	0.8189	2.312	0.6632
5			6	3.094	0.1126	2.333	0.0265
12	Poisoned 0.5-0.063 mm	1	1	3.939	3.054	2.422	2.693
12			2	3.82	2.753	2.288	2.346
12			3	3.556	2.499	2.3	2.33
12			4	3.608	2.443	2.301	2.258
12	-		5	3.54	2.457	2.329	2.267
12			6	3.382	2.329	2.227	2.131
22	Poisoned 0.5-0.063 mm	2	1	3.859	3.09	2.325	2.738
22			2	3.643	2.8	2.245	2.503
22			3	3.567	2.68	2.359	2.504
22			4	3.478	2.581	2.283	2.378
22			5	3.451	2.549	2.266	2.372
22	* late analysis for totals		6	3.72	2.57	2.231	2.363
20	Poisoned 0.5-0.063 mm	3	1	3.739	3.105	2.369	2.856
20			2	3.613	2.872	2.273	2.598
20			3	3.647	2.845	2.322	2.573

•

20			4	3.526	2.706	2.279	2.455
20			5	3.42	2.595	2.286	2.502
20		1	6	3.398	2.58	2.357	2.544
2	<0.063 mm	1	1	4.134	3.054	2.291	2.583
2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		2	3.985	2.826	2.261	2.28
2			3	3.853	2.505	2.261	2.124
2		[4	3.573	2.218	2.292	2.002
2		1	5	3.6	1.993	2.227	1.598
2			6	3.35	1.415	2.117	1.152
9	<0.063 mm	2	1	4.144	3.06	2.38	2.402
9			2	3.719	2,596	2.267	2.131
9			3	3.745	2.49	2.302	2.191
9			4	3.64	2.255	2.234	1.877
9		<u> </u>	5	3.614	2.002	2.271	1.639
9			6	3.557	1.48	2 299	1.255
28	<0.063 mm	3	1	4 003	3 009	2 302	2 569
28		<u> </u>	2	3 918	2 687	2 289	2 251
28			3	3 666	2 409	2 26	2 01
28			4	3 577	2 169	2 249	1 9
28			5	3 659	1 959	2.36	1 735
28	* late analysis for totals		6	4 04	1.51	2 283	1 205
11	Poisoned $< 0.063 \text{ mm}$	1	1	4 068	3 066	2 316	2 544
11			2	3.82	2 875	2 361	2 535
11			3	3 799	2 822	2.32	2 584
11			4	3 573	2 756	2 303	2 558
11		 	5	3 696	2 87	2 374	2 629
11			6	3 596	2 803	2 379	2 672
29	Poisoned <0.063 mm	2	1	4.052	3.078	2.34	2.624
29			2	3,909	2.94	2 294	2.621
29			3	3,746	2.838	2.281	2.512
29			4	3.58	2.747	2 316	2.543
29			5	3 739	2 881	2 321	2 502
29			6	3.533	2,739	2 278	2.622
30	Poisoned <0.063 mm	3	1	4.094	3,108	2.316	2.56
30			2	3.844	2.895	2 292	2.634
30			3	3.815	2.864	2,292	2,596
30			4	3.631	2,746	2.219	2,497
30			5	3,723	2.852	2,294	2.529
30			6	3.547	2.728	2.264	2.621
N.063				5.248	4.47	2.241	2.78
N-F-D-1						2.15	1.81
N-F-D-2					·	2.18	1.881
N-F-D-3						2.203	1.962
N-F-T-1				3.074	2.076		
N-F-T-2				2.978	2.109		
N-F-T-3		l		3.046	2.205		
N-I	······································			3.818	3.414	2.317	3.409
NIM 1				3.787	2.34	2.402	2.311

•

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

VITA

Steven Lane Ashby was born December 24, 1955, in Denver, Colorado. He attended Harrison Central High School in Lyman, Mississippi, and graduated in 1974. He completed an Associate Degree at the Jefferson Davis Campus of the Mississippi Gulf Coast Community College in 1976. He attended the University of Southern Mississippi in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, where he received an undergraduate degree in environmental science in 1979.

Upon completion of his undergraduate degree, he accepted a position as a physical scientist with the Waterways Experiment Station, a research laboratory for the Corps of Engineers located in Vicksburg, Mississippi. After being married in 1979, he and his wife moved to Wisconsin to establish a field station for water quality research on reservoirs. In 1983, he and his wife and daughter relocated to Elberton, Georgia, to establish a second research facility at a reservoir on the Savannah River. He completed his master of science degree in zoology in 1987 studying sediment chemistry in reservoirs under Dr. Jim Schindler. He and his wife and two daughters returned to Vicksburg, Mississippi, in 1987 where he has remained employed as a research hydrologist for the Environmental Laboratory of the U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center. He will receive the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the Department of Oceanography and Coastal Sciences in December of 2000.

DOCTORAL EXAMINATION AND DISSERTATION REPORT

Candidate:

Steven Ashby

Major Field: Oceanography and Coastal Sciences

Title of Dissertation: Removal of Manganese in Reservoir Tailwaters As a Function of Reservoir Operations and River Substrate

Approved:

Graduate School hè

EXAMINING COMMITTEE:

Date of Examination:

<u>October 2, 2000</u>